
Democratic Services
Lewis House, Manvers Street, Bath, BA1 1JG
Telephone: (01225) 477000 main switchboard
Direct Lines - Tel: 01225 394414 Date: 23 December 2016
Web-site - http://www.bathnes.gov.uk E-mail: Democratic_Services@bathnes.gov.uk

To: All Members of the Development Management Committee

Councillors:- Sally Davis, Rob Appleyard, Jasper Becker, Paul Crossley, Matthew Davies, 
Eleanor Jackson, Les Kew, Bryan Organ, Caroline Roberts and David Veale
Permanent Substitutes:- Councillors: Neil Butters, Ian Gilchrist, Liz Hardman, 
Vic Pritchard, Dine Romero, Martin Veal and Karen Warrington

Chief Executive and other appropriate officers
Press and Public

Dear Member

Development Management Committee: Wednesday, 11th January, 2017 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Development Management Committee, to be held 
on Wednesday, 11th January, 2017 at 2.00 pm in the Brunswick Room - Guildhall, Bath

The Chair’s Briefing Meeting will be held at 10.00am on Tuesday 10 January 2017 in the 
Meeting Room, Lewis House, Bath.

The rooms will be available for the meetings of political groups. 

The agenda is set out overleaf.

Yours sincerely

Marie Todd
for Chief Executive

If you need to access this agenda or any of the supporting reports in an alternative 
accessible format please contact Democratic Services or the relevant report author 
whose details are listed at the end of each report.

This Agenda and all accompanying reports are printed on recycled paper

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/


NOTES:

1. Inspection of Papers: Any person wishing to inspect minutes, reports, or a list of the 
background papers relating to any item on this Agenda should contact Marie Todd who is 
available by telephoning Bath 01225 394414 or by calling at the Guildhall Bath (during 
normal office hours).

2. Public Speaking at Meetings: The Council has a scheme to encourage the public to 
make their views known at meetings. They may make a statement relevant to what the 
meeting has power to do.  They may also present a petition or a deputation on behalf of a 
group.  Advance notice is required not less than two full working days before the meeting 
(this means that for meetings held on Wednesdays notice must be received in Democratic 
Services by 4.30pm the previous Friday) 

The public may also ask a question to which a written answer will be given. Questions 
must be submitted in writing to Democratic Services at least two full working days in 
advance of the meeting (this means that for meetings held on Wednesdays, notice must 
be received in Democratic Services by 4.30pm the previous Friday). If an answer cannot 
be prepared in time for the meeting it will be sent out within five days afterwards. Further 
details of the scheme can be obtained by contacting Marie Todd as above.

3. Details of Decisions taken at this meeting can be found in the minutes which will be 
published as soon as possible after the meeting, and also circulated with the agenda for 
the next meeting.  In the meantime details can be obtained by contacting Marie Todd as 
above.

Appendices to reports are available for inspection as follows:-

Public Access points - Reception: Civic Centre - Keynsham, Guildhall - Bath, The Hollies 
- Midsomer Norton. Bath Central and Midsomer Norton public libraries.

For Councillors and Officers papers may be inspected via Political Group Research 
Assistants and Group Rooms/Members' Rooms.

4. Recording at Meetings:-

The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 now allows filming and 
recording by anyone attending a meeting. This is not within the Council’s control.

Some of our meetings are webcast.  At the start of the meeting, the Chair will confirm if all 
or part of the meeting is to be filmed.  If you would prefer not to be filmed for the webcast, 
please make yourself known to the camera operators.

To comply with the Data Protection Act 1998, we require the consent of parents or 
guardians before filming children or young people. For more information, please speak to 
the camera operator

The Council will broadcast the images and sound live via the internet 
www.bathnes.gov.uk/webcast An archived recording of the proceedings will also be 
available for viewing after the meeting. The Council may also use the images/sound 
recordings on its social media site or share with other organisations, such as broadcasters.

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/webcast


5. Attendance Register: Members should sign the Register which will be circulated at the 
meeting.

6. THE APPENDED SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS ARE IDENTIFIED BY AGENDA ITEM 
NUMBER.

7. Emergency Evacuation Procedure

When the continuous alarm sounds, you must evacuate the building by one of the 
designated exits and proceed to the named assembly point.  The designated exits are 
sign-posted.

Arrangements are in place for the safe evacuation of disabled people.



Development Management Committee - Wednesday, 11th January, 2017

at 2.00 pm in the Brunswick Room - Guildhall, Bath

A G E N D A

1.  EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 

The Chairman will ask the Committee Administrator to draw attention to the 
emergency evacuation procedure as set out under Note 7

2.  ELECTION OF VICE CHAIRMAN (IF DESIRED) 

3.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS 

4.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

At this point in the meeting declarations of interest are received from Members in any 
of the agenda items under consideration at the meeting. Members are asked to 
indicate:

(a) The agenda item number and site in which they have an interest to declare.

(b) The nature of their interest.

(c) Whether their interest is a disclosable pecuniary interest or an other interest,   
(as defined in Part 2, A and B of the Code of Conduct and Rules for Registration of 
Interests)

Any Member who needs to clarify any matters relating to the declaration of interests is 
recommended to seek advice from the Council’s Monitoring Officer before the meeting 
to expedite dealing with the item during the meeting.

5.  TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIRMAN 

6.  ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC - TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS, STATEMENTS, 
PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS 

(1) At the time of publication, no items had been submitted.

(2) To note that, regarding planning applications to be considered, members of the 
public who have given the requisite notice to the Committee Administrator will be able 
to make a statement to the Committee immediately before their respective applications 
are considered. There will be a time limit of 3 minutes for each proposal, ie 3 minutes 
for the Parish and Town Councils, 3 minutes for the objectors to the proposal and 3 
minutes for the applicant, agent and supporters. This allows a maximum of 9 minutes 
per proposal.

7.  ITEMS FROM COUNCILLORS AND CO-OPTED MEMBERS 

To deal with any petitions or questions from Councillors and where appropriate Co-



opted Members

8.  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (PAGES 9 - 34)

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 14 December 2016.

9.  SITE VISIT LIST - APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION ETC FOR 
DETERMINATION BY THE COMMITTEE (PAGES 35 - 66)

10.  MAIN PLANS LIST - APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION ETC FOR 
DETERMINATION BY THE COMMITTEE (PAGES 67 - 164)

11.  NEW PLANNING APPEALS LODGED, DECISIONS RECEIVED AND DATES OF 
FORTHCOMING HEARINGS/INQUIRIES (PAGES 165 - 168)

To note the report

The Committee Administrator for this meeting is Marie Todd who can be contacted on 
01225 394414.

Delegated List Web Link: http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-
control/view-and-comment-planning-applications/delegated-report

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/view-and-comment-planning-applications/delegated-report
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-control/view-and-comment-planning-applications/delegated-report


Member and Officer Conduct/Roles Protocol*

Development Management Committee

(*NB This is a brief supplementary guidance note not intended to replace or otherwise in any way 
contradict the Constitution or the Code of Conduct for Members and Co-Opted Members adopted by the 
Council on 19th July 2012 to which full reference should be made as appropriate).

1. Declarations of Interest (Disclosable Pecuniary or Other Interest)

These are to take place when the agenda item relating to declarations of interest is reached. It is 
best for Officers’ advice (which can only be informal) to be sought and given prior to or outside 
the Meeting.  In all cases, the final decision is that of the individual Member. 

2. Local Planning Code of Conduct 

This document, as approved by Full Council and previously noted by the Committee, 
supplements the above. Should any Member wish to state/declare that further to the 
provisions of the Code (although not a personal or prejudicial interest) they will not vote 
on any particular issue(s), they should do so after (1) above. 

3. Site Visits

Under the Council’s own Local Code, such visits should only take place when the 
expected benefit is substantial eg where difficult to visualize from a plan or from written 
or oral submissions or the proposal is particularly contentious. The reasons for a site 
visit should be given and recorded. The attached note sets out the procedure.

4. Voting & Chair’s Casting Vote

By law, the Chair has a second or “casting” vote. It is recognised and confirmed by Convention 
within the Authority that the Chair’s casting vote will not normally be exercised. A positive 
decision on all agenda items is, however, highly desirable in the planning context, although 
exercise of the Chair’s casting vote to achieve this remains at the Chair’s discretion.

Chairs and Members of the Committee should be mindful of the fact that the Authority 
has a statutory duty to determine planning applications. A tied vote leaves a planning 
decision undecided.  This leaves the Authority at risk of appeal against non-
determination and/or leaving the matter in abeyance with no clearly recorded decision on 
a matter of public concern/interest.

The consequences of this could include (in an appeal against “non-determination” case) 
the need for a report to be brought back before the Committee for an indication of what 
decision the Committee would have come to if it had been empowered to determine the 
application.



5. Protocol for Decision-Making

When making decisions, the Committee must ensure that it has regard only to relevant 
considerations and disregards those that are not material. The Committee must ensure 
that it bears in mind the following legal duties when making its decisions:

Equalities considerations
Risk Management considerations
Crime and Disorder considerations
Sustainability considerations
Natural Environment considerations
Planning Act 2008 considerations
Human Rights Act 1998 considerations
Children Act 2004 considerations
Public Health & Inequalities considerations

Whilst it is the responsibility of the report author and the Council’s Monitoring Officer and 
Chief Financial Officer to assess the applicability of the legal requirements, decision 
makers should ensure that they are satisfied that the information presented to them is 
consistent with and takes due regard of them.

6. Officer Advice

Officers will advise the meeting as a whole (either of their own initiative or when called 
upon to do so) where appropriate to clarify issues of fact, law or policy. It is accepted 
practice that all comments will be addressed through the Chair and any subsequent 
Member queries addressed likewise. 

7. Decisions Contrary to  Policy and Officer Advice 

There is a power (not a duty) for Officers to refer any such decision to a subsequent 
meeting of the Committee. This renders a decision of no effect until it is reconsidered by 
the Committee at a subsequent meeting when it can make such decision as it sees fit.

8. Officer Contact/Advice

If Members have any conduct or legal queries prior to the meeting, then they can contact the 
following Legal Officers for guidance/assistance as appropriate (bearing in mind that informal 
officer advice is best sought or given prior to or outside the meeting) namely:-

1. Simon Barnes, Principal Solicitor and Deputy Monitoring Officer
 Tel. No. 01225 39 5176

2. Simon Elias, Senior Legal Adviser
 Tel. No. 01225 39 5178

General Member queries relating to the agenda (including public speaking arrangements 
for example) should continue to be addressed to Marie Todd Democratic Services 
Officer Tel No. 01225 39 4414

 Planning and Environmental Law Manager, Development Manager,
 Democratic Services Manager, Monitoring Officer to the Council



Site Visit Procedure

(1) Any Member of the Development Management or local Member(s) may request at a meeting the 

deferral of any application (reported to Committee) for the purpose of holding a site visit.

(2) The attendance at the site inspection is confined to Members of the Development 

Management Committee and the relevant affected local Member(s).

(3) The purpose of the site visit is to view the proposal and enhance Members’ knowledge of 

the site and its surroundings.  Members will be professionally advised by Officers on site 

but no debate shall take place.

(4) There are no formal votes or recommendations made.

(5) There is no allowance for representation from the applicants or third parties on the site.

(6) The application is reported back for decision at the next meeting of the Development 

Management Committee.

(7) In relation to applications of a controversial nature, a site visit could take place before the 

application comes to Committee, if Officers feel this is necessary.



Bath and North East
Somerset Council

1

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Minutes of the Meeting held
Wednesday, 14th December, 2016, 2.00 pm

Councillors: Sally Davis (Chair), Rob Appleyard, Jasper Becker, Neil Butters (Reserve) (in 
place of Paul Crossley), Matthew Davies, Eleanor Jackson, Les Kew, Bryan Organ, 
Caroline Roberts and David Veale

80  EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE

The Democratic Services Officer read out the emergency evacuation procedure.

81  ELECTION OF VICE CHAIRMAN (IF DESIRED)

A Vice Chairman was not required on this occasion.

82  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Paul Crossley who was 
substituted by Councillor Neil Butters.

83  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Councillor Eleanor Jackson stated that she thought she may know the applicant for 
application number 16/04549/FUL.  If this were the case (when she saw the 
applicant who would be speaking at this meeting) then she would leave the meeting 
for the consideration of this item.

84  TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIRMAN

There was no urgent business. 

85  ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC - TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS, STATEMENTS, 
PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS

The Democratic Services Officer informed the meeting that there were a number of 
people wishing to make statements on planning applications and that they would be 
able to do so when these items were discussed.

86  ITEMS FROM COUNCILLORS AND CO-OPTED MEMBERS

There were no items from Councillors or Co-Opted Members.

87  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING

The minutes of the meeting held on 16 November 2016 were confirmed and signed 
as a correct record.

Page 9

Agenda Item 8



2

88  MAIN PLANS LIST - APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION ETC FOR 
DETERMINATION BY THE COMMITTEE

The Committee considered:

 A report by the Group Manager (Development Management) on various 
planning applications.

 An update report by the Group Manager (Development Management) on 
items 1, 2, 6 and 8 attached as Appendix 1 to these minutes.

 Oral statements by members of the public and representatives.  A copy of the 
speakers’ list is attached as Appendix 2 to these minutes.

RESOLVED that in accordance with the delegated powers, the applications be 
determined as set out in the decisions list attached as Appendix 3 to these minutes.

Item No. 1
Application No. 16/00850/OUT
Site Location: Land Parcel 7200, Bath Road, Keynsham – Residential and 
related development comprising approximately 250 dwellings, new Primary 
School with associated outdoor playing facilities, means of access thereto, 
associated open space, landscaping, access roads, footways/cycleways and 
infrastructure works (Revised Plans)

The Case Officer reported on the application and her recommendation to delegate to 
permit the application.  She updated the Committee regarding an additional condition 
stating that no more than 250 dwellings shall be approved under the reserved 
matters application.  The proposed conditions would also be amended where 
relevant to include additional wording to allow for phasing of the development.  
Additional wording would also be added to condition 9 to ensure that this was 
implemented in accordance with approved details under this condition.

The registered speakers spoke for and against the application.

Councillor Emma Dixon, local member for the adjoining ward, spoke against the 
application.

Councillor Organ, local ward member, spoke against the application.  He stated that 
the drainage on the site was unsatisfactory; the traffic congestion in this area was 
already appalling; air quality was poor; the proposal to cut the access to Teviot Road 
and the school site would isolate the community; although a new primary school 
would be built there were no additional places available in the local secondary 
schools.  He felt that a great deal more detailed information was required about the 
development, particularly regarding the highways issues.

The Group Manager (Development Management) explained that this was an outline 
application and that it was entirely appropriate for detail to be supplied at a later 
stage.  Lack of full details on an outline application would not be a valid reason for 
refusal.  He also clarified that the junction of the development would be a priority 

Page 10



3

junction and not a signalised one.

Councillor Jackson asked what provision would be made for pedestrians and 
cyclists.  The Highways Officer explained that there would be a signalised pelican 
crossing on the East side of the junction.  Cycle links would run through the site to 
Teviot Road and links on the Chandag Estate would be improved in the future.  He 
also stated that it was likely that a large number of vehicles would choose to turn left 
out of the site as it would be quicker than making a right turn onto the A4.

The Case Officer explained that the site was outside of the air quality management 
area.  The Council’s air quality officer did not object to the application provided that 
the appropriate measures were in place and that these would be secured by 
condition.

Councillor Kew asked why the entrance to the site was not located at the 
Broadmead roundabout.  The Group Manager (Development Management) 
explained that the Committee had to consider the proposal in front of it as the current 
layout had passed a safety assessment.  He also pointed out that the location has 
already been allocated as a housing site in the Core Strategy and that direct access 
onto the roundabout would also cross an area vulnerable to flooding which was 
required for the SUDs related to the development.

Councillor Jackson stated that she would like to refuse the application due to the 
junction, pedestrian crossing and air pollution.  However, she did not feel that the 
Council could win an appeal on this basis and therefore she moved that the 
application be delegated to officers to permit.

Councillor Becker asked how the traffic modelling had been carried out.  The 
Highways Officer confirmed that the standard modelling tools approved by the 
Department of Transport had been used.  He then gave details of the traffic flows as 
measured at peak hours.

Councillor Roberts then seconded the motion.  She also suggested that other modes 
of transport be considered for this area such as the existing local bus service which 
was excellent in the vicinity of the site.

Councillor Kew stated that on balance he felt that the Committee had no option but 
to approve the application.  He was disappointed that the access was not on the 
roundabout.  He stressed that the detailed proposals must come back to the 
Committee for consideration and that it would be important at that stage to obtain the 
best development possible for the site.

The motion was then put to the vote and it was RESOLVED by 8 votes in favour and 
2 votes against to DELEGATE TO PERMIT subject to conditions.

Item No. 2
Application No. 16/03306/OUT
Site Location: Milland House, Rock Road, Keynsham – Erection of a building 
comprising a convenience store, 15 flats and 1 maisonette following 
demolition of the existing office building and detached dwelling house 
(REVISED PLANS)

Page 11



4

The Case Officer reported on the application and her recommendation to approve 
the application.

The registered speakers spoke for and against the application.

Councillor Charles Gerrish, local ward member, spoke against the application and 
also read out a statement on behalf of Councillor Alan Hale, local ward member, 
against the application.

Councillor Jackson asked how many car parking spaces were required for the 
development.  The Highways officer stated that the standards required a maximum 
of one space per flat.  Councillor Jackson then moved that planning permission be 
refused due to inadequate parking and access leading to concerns regarding loading 
and unloading.  The motion was seconded by Councillor Organ.

The Group Manager (Development Management) explained that the Committee had 
previously refused planning permission on highway grounds which had been 
overturned by the Planning Inspector.  Therefore the Council would be very unlikely 
to win any subsequent appeal against refusal on that basis.  He explained that the 
design was a material consideration along with the history of the site to which 
members needed to have regard.

Councillor Kew stated that in some ways he was unhappy with the application but 
noted that decisions must be made in accordance with planning legislation.  There 
was a demand for housing within the area and the design was an improvement on 
the previous application.  On balance he felt that there was no option other than to 
permit the application.

The motion was then put to the vote and there were 2 votes in favour and 8 votes 
against.  The motion was therefore LOST.

Councillor Kew then moved that planning permission be granted subject to 
conditions plus an additional condition that hours of operation for the convenience 
store to be from 8am to 8pm.

Councillor Appleyard queried the reality of a convenience store closing at 8pm and 
proposed that it should close at 10pm.   Councillor Kew accepted this amendment to 
his motion and Councillor Appleyard then seconded the motion.

The motion was put to the vote and it was RESOLVED by 8 votes in favour, 1 
against and 1 abstention to APPROVE the application subject to the conditions 
outlined in the report and an additional condition to require hours of operation of the 
convenience store to be from 8am to 10pm.

Item No. 3
Application No. 16/04512/FUL
Site Location: Church Farm, Church Lane, Stanton Drew – Change of use to 
convert farm building to provide a farm dwelling

The Case Officer reported on the application and her recommendation to permit the 
application.  In response to a question she confirmed that there was a condition to tie 
the property to be for the use only of people employed or last employed within the 

Page 12



5

agricultural unit at Church Farm or their dependents.

The registered speaker spoke in favour of the application.

Councillor Kew supported the application as it was adjacent to the housing 
development boundary, was a good use of the building and complied with the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  He moved that planning permission be 
granted.  This was seconded by Councillor Butters.

The motion was put to the vote and it was RESOLVED by 9 votes for and 1 
abstention to PERMIT the application subject to the conditions set out in the report 
as amended.

Item No. 4
Application No. 15/03650/OUT
Site Location: New Kingdom Hall, Charlton Road, Keynsham – Erection of a 
three storey block comprising 8 residential apartments following demolition of 
the existing buildings (access and layout to be determined with all other 
matters reserved)

The Case Officer reported on the application and her recommendation to approve.  
She explained that there had been a change to the National Planning Practice 
Guidance relating to the requirement to provide affordable housing in developments 
of fewer than 10 dwellings.  When members originally resolved to permit, the 
development would have included a contribution towards affordable housing.  
However, in light of the change in national policy, it was now being recommended for 
approval with no affordable housing.  The application was therefore being referred 
back to the Committee to be considered again.

Councillor Charles Gerrish, local ward member, spoke against the application.

Councillor Organ queried whether rights of way have been preserved.  The Case 
Officer confirmed that the public right of way which runs to the rear of the site would 
be retained along with vehicular access to the rear of the funeral parlour and the 
Conservative Club.

Councillor Appleyard then moved that the application be approved subject to 
conditions.  This was seconded by Councillor Kew.

The motion was put to the vote and it was RESOLVED unanimously to APPROVE 
the application subject to conditions.

Item No. 5
Application No. 16/04885/FUL
Site Location: The Grove, Langridge Lane, Swainswick, Bath – Demolition of 
existing garage and erection of a replacement building for use as an annex 
providing ancillary residential accommodation

The Case Officer reported on the application and her recommendation to refuse 
planning permission.

The registered speakers spoke for the application.

Page 13



6

Councillor Geoff Ward, local ward member, spoke in favour of the application.

Councillor Jackson noted that the increase in volume of the cumulative development 
on site would rise to 52.7% over the 1948 volume as a result of this application.  She 
recognised the reasons for the development as being to provide accommodation for 
the applicant’s parents.  She queried how much weight should be given to these 
reasons balanced against the weight given to development in the greenbelt.  

The Group Manager (Development Management) explained that the application 
must be considered in accordance with the relevant policies and plans.  He advised 
the members that they needed to consider whether this was an annexe or not 
because the officer view was that this was a new dwelling in the green belt.  If 
members decided it was an annexe then they needed to consider whether it was an 
extension to the property.  If they concluded that it was they then needed to consider 
whether the extension was disproportionate and whether it would impact on 
openness.  If they concluded that it was inappropriate development or harmful to 
openness then they would need to decide whether very special circumstances 
existed which clearly outweighed the harm to the green belt and any other harm.  He 
went on to advise that personal circumstances will rarely constitute very special 
circumstances. He informed the Committee that planning permission to extend the 
existing dwelling had been granted in 2006 and had not been implemented.  This 
application comprised a separate dwelling which was located on the opposite side of 
the road.

Councillor Kew stated that the principle of greenbelt development was clear but 
noted the amount of local support for the application.  He found some parts of the 
report complicated and therefore moved that consideration of the application be 
deferred pending a site visit to view the impact of the proposed development on the 
greenbelt.  This was seconded by Councillor Jackson.

The motion was put to the vote and it was RESOLVED unanimously to DEFER 
consideration of the application pending a site visit.

Item No. 6
Application No. 16/04250/FUL
Site Location: Land East of Alma Cottage, Charlcombe Lane, Charlcombe, 
Bath – Erection of one dwelling following the demolition of existing stables

The Case Officer reported on the application and her recommendation to grant 
planning permission.  She updated the committee on an additional representation 
which raised concerns about the safety of the access and the previous use of the 
site.

The registered speakers spoke for and against the application.

Councillor Geoff Ward, local ward member, spoke against the application and also 
read out a statement from Councillor Martin Veal, local ward member, against the 
application.

Councillor Jackson queried whether there was planning permission for the existing 
stables.  Officers confirmed that the stables would be considered as a lawful 

Page 14



7

development because they had clearly been in existence for over four years.

Councillor Organ moved that consideration of the application be deferred pending a 
site visit to view the access and scale of the site.  This was seconded by Councillor 
Kew.

The motion was put to the vote and it was RESOLVED unanimously to DEFER 
consideration of the application pending a site visit.

Item No. 7
Application No. 16/04549/FUL
Site Location: 186 The Hollow, Southdown, Bath – Installation of a dormer 
window (resubmission)

The Case Officer reported on the application and her recommendation for refusal.  

The registered speakers spoke in favour of the application.

Councillors Crossley and Romero, local ward councillors, spoke in favour of the 
application.

Councillor Kew noted the history of the application and that similar applications had 
been approved in the area, including the neighbouring property.  He had no 
concerns about this development and noted that the window was on a side 
elevation.  He moved that planning permission be granted.  This was seconded by 
Councillor Appleyard.  The Group Manager explained that members needed to be 
satisfied that the previous reason for refusal upheld on appeal had been overcome if 
they were to overturn the officer recommendation.

Councillor Jackson felt that the development added interest to the street and stated 
that the houses in this road were all different.  She felt that the dormer window was 
unobtrusive.  She noted that the scheme had now been reduced in height which had 
made a difference.

The Case Officer explained that the application originally submitted for 188 The 
Hollow included a side dormer window.  However the plans were subsequently 
revised and the application that was permitted was for a two storey rear extension 
with no dormer.

Councillor Butters supported the application as he felt it was unobtrusive, not 
detrimental to the street scene and was not in a conservation area.

The motion was put to the vote and it was RESOLVED unanimously to PERMIT the 
application as it is unobtrusive and not detrimental to the street scene.

Item No. 8
Application No. 16/03885/LBA
Site Visit: Great Dell, Drive Through Royal Victoria Park, Lower Weston, Bath – 
External alterations for the cleaning and re-lettering of the Shakespeare 
Monument

This application was withdrawn by the applicant.

Page 15



8

Item No. 9
Application No. 16/04668/FUL
Site Location: 13 Horsecombe Brow, Combe Down, Bath

The Case Officer reported on the application and her recommendation to permit the 
application.  

The registered speaker spoke in favour of the application.

The motion was put to the vote and it was RESOLVED unanimously to PERMIT the 
application subject to the conditions set out in the report.

 

89  NEW PLANNING APPEALS LODGED, DECISIONS RECEIVED AND DATES OF 
FORTHCOMING HEARINGS/INQUIRIES

The Committee considered the appeals report.

The Group Manager (Development Management) informed the Committee that the 
Rough Ground and Buildings, Queen Charlton Lane appeal had been successful.  
This meant that the land could now be used for residential purposes and there was 
no breach of planning control.  Therefore the injunction proceedings agreed at the 
last meeting on 16 November 2016 would now be withdrawn as officers advised they 
would be in the event of an allowed appeal in the November Committee report.

RESOLVED to NOTE the report.

The meeting ended at 5.00 pm

Chair

Date Confirmed and Signed

Prepared by Democratic Services

Page 16



BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET COUNCIL

Development Management Committee

Date 14th December 2016

OBSERVATIONS RECEIVED SINCE THE PREPARATION OF THE MAIN 
AGENDA

ITEMS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION

ITEM 

Item No. Application No. Address

1 16/00850/OUT Land Parcel 7200
Bath Road, Keynsham

Relevant planning history

A screening opinion was submitted prior to the application and it was 
confirmed that it was not considered that the development would constitute 
EIA development. 

14/05417/SCREEN - Request for screening opinion in relation to proposed 
residential and associated development for circa 250 dwellings, including 
provision of a new primary school, on approximately 12.7 hectares on land at 
East Keynsham.  15/12/204 – Not EIA development

Ecological issues

The committee report confirms that the scheme is ecologically acceptable 
subject to S106 requirements and planning conditions.  For clarity, it is 
confirmed that the likelihood of a significant effect on the SAC has been 
excluded pursuant to the Habitats Regulations. 

Representations

One further representation has been received from the planning consultant 
acting on behalf of the owner of the parcel of land noted as ‘retained 
vegetation’. This requests that a condition is included on any outline planning 
permission to ensure that the reserved matters application comers forward 
with an access as illustrated on the concept plan to allow for the future 
development of this site.

This is not however considered necessary and an additional condition has not 
been included. Any reserved matters application will be considered alongside 
the placemaking principles of the Core Strategy and the Master Plan which 

Page 17



are considered as robust mechanisms to ensure that the any development 
relates appropriate to the surrounding land and development. 

Item No. Application No. Address

2 16/03306/OUT Milland House, Rock Road
Keynsham

Conditions 8 and 9 relate to hard and soft landscaping details. As this will be 
covered by any reserved matters application, these are considered 
unnecessary. It is therefore recommended that they are not attached to any 
outline planning permission.

Plans

Addition of plan to plans list as this was erroneously omitted from the 
committee report;

- Proposed First and Second Floor Plans -  502 K

Item No. Application No. Address
         
6 16/04250/FUL Land East of Alma Cottage, 

Charlcombe Lane, 
Charlcombe, Bath 

A further objection has been received via email (no postal address given), the 
content of which is summarised below:

-  Reiterates highway safety concerns in regards to the access. 
- The equestrian use of the site has not been proven. The field was used for 
keeping ponies over 10 years ago. Subsequent to the pony use the buildings 
were used for storage.
- Road safety considerations should not be subordinated because of a 
dubious belief regarding the status of the access.
- The access is merely an access into a field which has only ever been rarely 
and irregularly used.  
- There has been virtually no usage of the access for over ten years.
- The Highways Officer’s comments suggest he has concerns in regards to 
highway safety but does not voice them because of the believed status of the 
access.
- Officers should provide members with a full analysis of the road safety 
consequences should this development be permitted.
- Members should visit the site to view the access before making a final 
decision. 

Page 18



The Highways Officer has provided the following additional comments; these 
do not supersede the formal highway consultation response that was 
previously provided: 

Charlcombe Lane is a single track lane, with passing spaces. The 
speed limit at this section of the lane is 20mph, and speeds are 
reduced due to the constrained width and geometry. Traffic flows have 
been observed to be light, although the route is busier in the typical 
peak travel periods. Forward visibility approaching the access location 
is considered to be adequate; however, the visibility when emerging 
from the access is limited due to the presence of walls either side. A 
motorist would have to slowly emerge from the access to ensure that 
there is no potential for a collision to occur. There are several other 
access points within the immediate vicinity of the site that have visibility 
constrained to a similar level, and a review of the local road traffic 
accident history has shown that there is no significant evidence of this 
type of access resulting in personal injury accidents. 

It is acknowledged that the existing access is not ideal. However, there is no 
evidence to suggest that there is a high risk of an accident occurring and it is 
considered that, much as at similarly constrained access points in the vicinity, 
a careful motorist would be able to use the access safely. 

It is clear that this is an established access into the field which would also 
have been used to access the application site when it was last in use. This is 
a material consideration. Neither the Local Planning Authority nor the Local 
Highway Authority can preclude the access from being used in association 
with the use of the application site and the adjoining field. There is also 
evidence to suggest that there is an extant equestrian use which could 
resume at any time. Taking these factors into account it is considered that, on 
balance, the access is acceptable. 

The applicant has provided photographic evidence to demonstrate that the 
site was used for keeping horses. Whilst these photos are undated, they do 
not appear recent and may well have been taken some time ago. No evidence 
has come forward demonstrating that the site was not in equestrian use nor 
that a change of use has occurred since the applicant ceased keeping horses 
in the stables. It would therefore appear from the available evidence that the 
previous use was equestrian and this is a material consideration. 

Item No. Application No. Address
         
8 16/03885/LBA Shakespeare Monument, 

Great Dell, Royal Victoria
Park, Bath

 

Page 19



Following advice received from Historic England and observations about best 
conservation practice, the applicant has chosen to withdraw the above listed 
building application. 

Page 20



BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET COUNCIL

MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC AND REPRESENTATIVES WISHING TO MAKE A 
STATEMENT AT THE MEETING OF THE DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 
COMMITTEE ON WEDNESDAY 14 DECEMBER 2016

A. MAIN PLANS LIST

ITEM 
NO.

SITE NAME SPEAKER FOR/AGAINST

Kathleen Hovland Against

Tom Rocke (Agent) For

1 Land Parcel 7200, Bath 
Road, Keynsham

Cllr Emma Dixon Against

Jim Tarzy (Agent) For2 Milland House, Rock 
Road, Keynsham

Cllr Charles Gerrish Against

3 Church Farm, Church 
Lane, Stanton Drew

James Young (Applicant) For

4 New Kingdom Hall, 
Charlton Road, 
Keynsham

Cllr Charles Gerrish Against

Alastair MacKichan 
(Charlcombe Parish Council)

For

John Rippin (Applicant) For

5 The Grove, Langridge 
Lane, Swainswick, Bath

Councillor Geoff Ward For

Alastair MacKichan 
(Charlcombe Parish Council)

Against

Richard Frewer Against

Huw Thomas For

6 Land East of Alma 
Cottage, Charlcombe 
Lane, Bath

Councillor Geoff Ward Against

Page 21



Wayne Sykes (Applicant) For

Councillor Dine Romero For

7 186 The Hollow, 
Southdown, Bath

Councillor Paul Crossley For

9 13 Horsecombe Brow, 
Combe Down, Bath

George Klepp (Agent) For

Page 22



 

BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET COUNCIL 

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

14th December 2016 

DECISIONS 

 

Item No:   01 

Application No: 16/00850/OUT 

Site Location: Land Parcel 7200, Bath Road, Keynsham,  

Ward: Keynsham East  Parish: Keynsham Town Council  LB Grade: N/A 

Application Type: Outline Application 

Proposal: Residential and related development comprising approximately 250 
dwellings, new Primary School with associated outdoor playing 
facilities, means of access thereto, associated open space, 
landscaping, access roads, footways/cycleways and infrastructure 
works (Revised Plans) 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Forest of Avon, 
Greenbelt, Housing Development Boundary, Strategic Site 
Allocations, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Macktaggart And Mickel Homes Ltd 

Expiry Date:  17th December 2016 

Case Officer: Tessa Hampden 

 

Delegate to PERMIT – subject to the signing of a S106 Agreement 
 
 
 

Item No:   02 

Application No: 16/03306/OUT 

Site Location: Milland House, Rock Road, Keynsham, Bristol 

Ward: Keynsham North  Parish: Keynsham Town Council  LB Grade: N/A 

Application Type: Outline Application 

Proposal: Erection of a building comprising a convenience store, 15 no. flats 
and 1 no. maisonette following demolition of the existing office 
building and detached dwelling house. (REVISED PLANS) 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Centres and Retailing, 
Contaminated Land, Forest of Avon, Housing Development 
Boundary, LLFA - Flood Risk Management, SSSI - Impact Risk 
Zones,  

Applicant:  Milands Properties LLP 

Expiry Date:  15th December 2016 

Case Officer: Tessa Hampden 

 

DECISION APPROVE 

Page 23



 
 
 1 Outline Time Limit (Compliance) 
The development hereby approved shall be begun either before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission, or before the expiration of two years from the date 
of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved whichever is the latest. 
 
Reason: As required by Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act (as amended), 
and to avoid the accumulation of unimplemented planning permissions. 
 
 2 Reserved Matters Time Limit (Compliance) 
Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning 
Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: As required by Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) and to avoid the accumulation of unimplemented planning permissions. 
 
 3 Flood Risk and Drainage - Infiltration Testing (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall commence, except ground investigations and remediation, until 
infiltration testing and soakaway design in accordance with Building regulations Part H, 
section 3 (3.30) have been undertaken to verify that soakaways will be suitable for the 
development. If the infiltration test results demonstrate that soakaways are not 
appropriate, an alternative method of surface water drainage, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and installed prior to the occupation of 
the development. 
 
Reason: To ensure that an appropriate method of surface water drainage is installed and 
in the interests of flood risk management in accordance with Policy CP5 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Core Strategy. This is a condition precedent because it is necessary 
to understand whether soakaways are appropriate prior to any initial construction works 
which may prejudice the surface water drainage strategy. 
 
 4 Highways - Construction Management Plan (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall commence until a Construction Management Plan has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and shall include 
details of deliveries (including storage arrangements and timings), contractor parking, 
traffic management, working hours, site opening times, wheel wash facilities and site 
compound arrangements. The development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance 
with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure that safe operation of the highway and in the interests of protecting 
residential amenity in accordance with Policies T.24 and D.2 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Local Plan. This is a condition precedent because any initial construction or 
demolition works could have a detrimental impact upon highways safety and/or residential 
amenity. 
 
 5 Highways - Residents Welcome Pack (Pre-occupation) 
No occupation of the approved development shall commence until a new resident's 
welcome pack has been issued to the first occupier/purchaser of each residential unit of 
accommodation.  The new resident's welcome pack shall have previously been submitted 

Page 24



to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and shall include information of 
bus and train timetable information, information giving examples of fares/ticket options, 
information on cycle routes, a copy of the Travel Smarter publication, car share, car club 
information etc., to encourage residents to try public transport. 
 
Reason: To encourage the use of public transport in the interests of sustainable 
development in accordance with Policy T.1 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local 
Plan 
 
 6 Site management plan -  (Pre-occupation) 
 
Prior to the occupation of the retail development, a Site Management Plan for the retail 
unit shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and 
shall include details of waste disposal, and deliveries (including times).  The development 
shall be carried out in accordance with these approved details.  
 
Reason: To ensure the safe operation of the highway and protect residential amenity 
 
 
 7 Materials - Submission of Schedule and Samples (Bespoke Trigger) 
No construction of the external walls of the development shall commence until a schedule 
of materials and finishes, and samples of the materials to be used in the construction of 
the external surfaces, including roofs, have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried out only in 
accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area 
in accordance with Policies D.2 and D.4 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan 
and Policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy. 
 
 8 District Heating (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall commence until a scheme to show the provision of a district heating 
compliant system and infrastructure within the approved development has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall 
thereafter be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason:  In the interests of sustainable development and in order to show compliance 
with Policy CP4 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy.  This is a condition 
precedent to ensure that the necessary infrastructure is incorporated into the development 
at its earliest stages. 
 
 9 Bicycle Storage (Pre-occupation) 
 
The area allocated for residential cycle parking on the submitted plan shall be secure and 
sheltered and be kept clear of obstruction and shall not be used other than for the parking 
of cycles in connection with the development hereby permitted. 
 
Reason: In the interests of sustainable development. 
 
10 Refuse Storage (Pre-occupation) 

Page 25



 
Prior to the occupation of the development, the refuse store(s) indicated on the approved 
plans shall be provided and thereafter shall be permanently retained solely for this 
purpose. No refuse shall be stored outside the building(s) other than in the refuse store(s) 
hereby approved. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and of the amenities of the 
area. 
 
11 Archaeology - Watching Brief (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall commence, except archaeological investigation work, until the 
applicant, or their agents or successors in title, has secured the implementation of a 
programme of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation 
which has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
programme of archaeological work should provide a controlled watching brief during 
ground works on the site, with provision for excavation of any significant deposits or 
features encountered, and shall be carried out by a competent person(s) and completed in 
accordance with the approved written scheme of investigation. 
 
Reason: The site is within an area of significant archaeological interest and the Council 
will wish to examine and record items of interest discovered. This is a condition precedent 
because archaeological remains and features may be damaged by the initial development 
works. 
 
12 Plans List (Compliance) 
The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
01 Jul 2016    3236-203    EXISTING GROUND FLOOR PLAN  
01 Jul 2016    3236-204    EXISTING FIRST FLOOR PLAN      
01 Jul 2016    3236-205    EXISTING ELEVATIONS      
01 Jul 2016    3236-206A    EXISTING SECTIONS  
01 Nov 2016    501 N    GROUND FLOOR PLAN   
01 Nov 2016    503 Q    ROOF PLAN    
01 Nov 2016    511 K    ROCK ROAD AND CAR PARK ELEVATIONS           
01 Nov 2016    512 M    FRONT AND REAR ELEVATIONS    
01 Nov 2016  502 K  FIRST AND SECOND FLOOR PLAN 
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. 
 
Condition Categories 
The heading of each condition gives an indication of the type of condition and what is 
required by it. There are 4 broad categories: 
 

Page 26



Compliance - The condition specifies matters to which you must comply. These conditions 
do not require the submission of additional details and do not need to be discharged. 
 
Pre-commencement - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before any work begins on the approved development. 
The condition will list any specific works which are exempted from this restriction, e.g. 
ground investigations, remediation works, etc. 
 
Pre-occupation - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before occupation of all or part of the approved 
development.  
 
Bespoke Trigger - The condition contains a bespoke trigger which requires the submission 
and approval of further information, drawings or details before a specific action occurs.  
 
Please note all conditions should be read fully as these headings are intended as a guide 
only. 
 
Where approval of further information is required you will need to submit a conditions 
application and pay the relevant fee, details of the fee can be found on the "what happens 
after permission" pages of the Council's Website.  You can submit your conditions 
application via the Planning Portal at www.planningportal.co.uk or send it direct to 
planning_registration@bathnes.gov.uk.  Alternatively this can be sent by post to The 
Planning Registration Team, Planning Services, Lewis House, Manvers Street, Bath, BA1 
1JG. 
 
You are advised that as of 6 April 2015, the Bath & North East Somerset Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule came into effect. Full details about the CIL 
Charge including, amount and process for payment will be sent out in a CIL Liability 
Notice which you will receive shortly. Further details are available here: 
www.bathnes.gov.uk/cil 
 
 
 

Item No:   03 

Application No: 16/04512/FUL 

Site Location: Church Farm, Church Lane, Stanton Drew, Bristol 

Ward: Clutton  Parish: Stanton Drew  LB Grade: N/A 

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Change of use to convert farm building to provide a farm dwelling. 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Airport Safeguarding Zones, Airport 
Safeguarding Zones, Airport Safeguarding Zones, Agric Land Class 
1,2,3a, Coal - Referral Area, Conservation Area, Forest of Avon, 
Greenbelt, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Mr & Mrs R  And Mr James Young 

Expiry Date:  16th December 2016 

Case Officer: Alice Barnes 

Page 27



 

DECISION PERMIT 
 
 
 1 Standard Time Limit (Compliance) 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) and to avoid the accumulation of unimplemented planning permission 
 
 2 Parking (Compliance) 
 
The garage hereby approved shall be retained for the garaging of private motor vehicles 
associated with the dwelling and ancillary domestic storage and for no other purpose. 
 
Reason: To ensure adequate off-street parking provision is retained in accordance with 
Policy T.26 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
 3 Parking (Compliance) 
 
The areas allocated for parking and turning on the submitted plan shall be kept clear of 
obstruction and shall not be used other than for the parking of vehicles in connection with 
the development hereby permitted. 
 
Reason: To ensure sufficient parking and turning areas are retained at all times in the 
interests of amenity and highways safety in accordance with Policy T.24 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
 4 Ecology (Compliance) 
 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out only in accordance with the 
recommendations of the approved Protected Species Assessment report by Country 
Contracts dated August 2016. 
 
Reason: To avoid harm to wildlife including protected species 
 
 5 Archaeology (pre-commencement) 
 
No development shall take place within the site until the applicant, or their agents or 
successors in title, has secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological 
work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The programme of archaeological 
work should provide a controlled watching brief during ground works on the site, with 
provision for excavation of any significant deposits or features encountered, and shall be 
carried out by a competent person(s) and completed in accordance with the approved 
written scheme of investigation. 
 

Page 28



Reason: The site is within an area of significant archaeological interest and the Council 
will wish to examine and record items of interest discovered in accordance with policy 
Bh.12 of the local plan. 
 
 6 Materials - Submission of Schedule and Samples (Bespoke Trigger) 
 
No construction of the external walls of the development shall commence until a schedule 
of materials and finishes, and samples of the materials to be used in the construction of 
the external surfaces, including roofs, have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried out only in 
accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area 
in accordance with Policies D.2 and D.4 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan 
and Policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy. 
 
 7 Agricultural Occupancy (Compliance) 
 
The occupation of the dwelling shall be limited to a person solely or mainly working, or last 
working, within the existing agricultural enterprise of Church Farm, Stanton Drew, or a 
widow or widower of such a person, and to any resident dependants. 
 
Reason: To accord with the Policies in the Development Plan and to ensure an adequate 
availability of dwellings to meet agricultural needs in the locality. 
 
 
 8 Plans List (Compliance) 
The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
Existing plans and elevations 01 
Proposed plans and elevations 02 rev C 
 
Advice Note;  
 
The applicant should ensure that PROW CL18/8 remains clear of obstruction at all times 
during and after construction works. Any damage to this road shall be repaired at the 
applicant's expense. 
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework. For the 
reasons given, and expanded upon in a related case officer's report, a positive view of the 
submitted proposals was taken and consent was granted. 
 
Condition Categories 

Page 29



The heading of each condition gives an indication of the type of condition and what is 
required by it. There are 4 broad categories: 
 
Compliance - The condition specifies matters to which you must comply. These conditions 
do not require the submission of additional details and do not need to be discharged. 
 
Pre-commencement - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before any work begins on the approved development. 
The condition will list any specific works which are exempted from this restriction, e.g. 
ground investigations, remediation works, etc. 
 
Pre-occupation - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before occupation of all or part of the approved 
development.  
 
Bespoke Trigger - The condition contains a bespoke trigger which requires the submission 
and approval of further information, drawings or details before a specific action occurs.  
 
Please note all conditions should be read fully as these headings are intended as a guide 
only. 
 
Where approval of further information is required you will need to submit a conditions 
application and pay the relevant fee, details of the fee can be found on the "what happens 
after permission" pages of the Council's Website.  You can submit your conditions 
application via the Planning Portal at www.planningportal.co.uk or send it direct to 
planning_registration@bathnes.gov.uk.  Alternatively this can be sent by post to The 
Planning Registration Team, Planning Services, Lewis House, Manvers Street, Bath, BA1 
1JG. 
 
 

Item No:   04 

Application No: 15/03650/OUT 

Site Location: New Kingdom Hall, Charlton Road, Keynsham, Bristol 

Ward: Keynsham North  Parish: Keynsham Town Council  LB Grade: N/A 

Application Type: Outline Application 

Proposal: Erection of a three storey block comprising 8no residential apartments 
following demolition of the existing buildings (access and layout to be 
determined with all other matters reserved) 

Constraints: Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Centres and Retailing, Conservation Area, 
Forest of Avon, Sites with Planning Permission, Housing 
Development Boundary, Public Right of Way, SSSI - Impact Risk 
Zones,  

Applicant:  Hill Development 

Expiry Date:  4th March 2016 

Case Officer: Alice Barnes 

 

Deferred for further information 

Page 30



Item No:   05 

Application No: 16/04885/FUL 

Site Location: The Grove, Langridge Lane, Swainswick, Bath 

Ward: Bathavon North  Parish: Charlcombe  LB Grade: N/A 

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Demolition of existing garage and erection of a replacement building 
for use as an annex providing ancillary residential accommodation 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty, Flood Zone 2, Flood Zone 3, Greenbelt, LLFA - Flood 
Risk Management, MOD Safeguarded Areas, Sites of Nature 
Conservation Interest, Sites of Nature Conservation Interest, SSSI - 
Impact Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Mr John Rippin 

Expiry Date:  16th December 2016 

Case Officer: Alice Barnes 

 

Defer for site visit – to allow Members to view the site  
 
 
 
 

Item No:   06 

Application No: 16/04250/FUL 

Site Location: Land East Of Alma Cottage, Charlcombe Lane, Charlcombe, Bath 

Ward: Bathavon North  Parish: Charlcombe  LB Grade: N/A 

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Erection of one dwelling following the demolition of existing stables 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty, Conservation Area, Greenbelt, MOD Safeguarded 
Areas, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Julia Morgan 

Expiry Date:  16th December 2016 

Case Officer: Emma Hardy 

 
Defer for site visit – to allow Members to view the site  
 
 
 
 

Item No:   07 

Application No: 16/04549/FUL 

Site Location: 186 The Hollow, Southdown, Bath, Bath And North East Somerset 

Ward: Southdown  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: N/A 

Application Type: Full Application 

Page 31



Proposal: Installation of a dormer (resubmission) 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Article 4, Forest of 
Avon, Hotspring Protection, MOD Safeguarded Areas, SSSI - Impact 
Risk Zones, World Heritage Site,  

Applicant:  Mrs Karina Sykes 

Expiry Date:  16th December 2016 

Case Officer: Emma Hardy 

 

DECISION PERMIT 
 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
This decision relates to the following plans: drawing No. 03 (proposed floor plans) and 
drawing No. 04 (proposed elevations) received 15/11/2016. 
 
Decision Making Statement 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. Notwithstanding 
informal advice offered by the Local Planning Authority the submitted application was 
unacceptable for the stated reasons and the applicant was advised that the application 
was to be recommended for refusal. Despite this the applicant chose not to withdraw the 
application and having regard to the need to avoid unnecessary delay the Local Planning 
Authority moved forward and issued its decision. 
 
 
 

Item No:   08 

Application No: 16/03885/LBA 

Site Location: Great Dell, Drive Through Royal Victoria Park, Lower Weston, Bath 

Ward: Kingsmead  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: N/A 

Application Type: Listed Building Consent (Alts/exts) 

Proposal: External alterations for the cleaning and re-lettering of the 
Shakespeare Monument 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Article 4, Article 4, 
Article 4, Conservation Area, Forest of Avon, Hotspring Protection, 
Listed Building, MOD Safeguarded Areas, Park and Gardens of 
Historic Importance, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones, World Heritage Site,  

Applicant:  Bath Shakespeare Society 

Expiry Date:  26th October 2016 

Case Officer: Laura Batham 

 

Withdrawn from Committee Agenda 
 
 
 

Page 32



Item No:   09 

Application No: 16/04668/FUL 

Site Location: 13 Horsecombe Brow, Combe Down, Bath, Bath And North East 
Somerset 

Ward: Combe Down  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: N/A 

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Provision of loft conversion with hipped side and rear pitched dormer. 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Article 4, Forest of 
Avon, Hotspring Protection, MOD Safeguarded Areas, SSSI - Impact 
Risk Zones, Water Source Areas, World Heritage Site,  

Applicant:  Mr Matt Cochrane 

Expiry Date:  16th December 2016 

Case Officer: Christine Moorfield 

 

DECISION PERMIT 
 
 
 1 Standard Time Limit (Compliance) 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) and to avoid the accumulation of unimplemented planning permission 
 
 2 Plans List (Compliance) 
The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
 3 Materials (Compliance) 
All external roofing materials to be used shall match those of the host dwelling in respect 
of size, material, colour, texture and profile. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area 
in accordance with Policies D.2 and D.4 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan 
and Policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy. 
 
 4 Materials - Submission of Schedule and Samples (Bespoke Trigger) 
No construction of the external walls of the dormers shall commence until samples of the 
materials to be used in the construction of the external surface of the dormers have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development 
shall thereafter be carried out only in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area 
in accordance with Policies D.2 and D.4 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan 
and Policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy. 

Page 33



 
 5 Obscure Glazing and Non-opening Window(s) (Compliance) 
The proposed dormer window on the eastern elevation shall be obscurely glazed. 
Thereafter the window shall be permanently retained as such. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the residential amenities of adjoining occupiers from overlooking 
and loss of privacy in accordance with Policy D.2 of the Bath and North East Somerset 
Local Plan. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
063  02-  01, 06,  03  and  04 
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. 
 
Condition Categories 
The heading of each condition gives an indication of the type of condition and what is 
required by it. There are 4 broad categories: 
 
Compliance - The condition specifies matters to which you must comply. These conditions 
do not require the submission of additional details and do not need to be discharged. 
 
Pre-commencement - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before any work begins on the approved development. 
The condition will list any specific works which are exempted from this restriction, e.g. 
ground investigations, remediation works, etc. 
 
Pre-occupation - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before occupation of all or part of the approved 
development.  
 
Bespoke Trigger - The condition contains a bespoke trigger which requires the submission 
and approval of further information, drawings or details before a specific action occurs.  
 
Please note all conditions should be read fully as these headings are intended as a guide 
only. 
 
Where approval of further information is required you will need to submit a conditions 
application and pay the relevant fee, details of the fee can be found on the "what happens 
after permission" pages of the Council's Website.  You can submit your conditions 
application via the Planning Portal at www.planningportal.co.uk or send it direct to 
planning_registration@bathnes.gov.uk.  Alternatively this can be sent by post to The 
Planning Registration Team, Planning Services, Lewis House, Manvers Street, Bath, BA1 
1JG. 
 

Page 34



Bath & North East Somerset Council 

MEETING: Development Management Committee   

AGENDA 
ITEM 
NUMBER 

MEETING 
DATE: 

11th January 2017 

RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER: 

Mark Reynolds – Group Manager (Development 
Management) (Telephone: 01225 477079) 

TITLE: SITE VISIT AGENDA  

WARDS: ALL 

BACKGROUND PAPERS:  

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

List of background papers relating to this report of the Group Manager, Development Management about applications/proposals for 
Planning Permission etc.  The papers are available for inspection online at http://planning.bathnes.gov.uk/PublicAccess/. 

[1] Application forms, letters or other consultation documents, certificates, notices, correspondence and all drawings submitted by 
and/or on behalf of applicants, Government Departments, agencies or Bath and North East Somerset Council in connection 
with each application/proposal referred to in this Report. 

[2] Department work sheets relating to each application/proposal as above. 

[3] Responses on the application/proposals as above and any subsequent relevant correspondence from: 

(i) Sections and officers of the Council, including: 

Building Control 
Environmental Services 
Transport Development 
Planning Policy, Environment and Projects, Urban Design (Sustainability) 
 

(ii) The Environment Agency 
(iii) Wessex Water 
(iv) Bristol Water 
(v) Health and Safety Executive 
(vi) British Gas 
(vii) Historic Buildings and Monuments Commission for England (English Heritage) 
(viii) The Garden History Society 
(ix) Royal Fine Arts Commission 
(x) Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 
(xi) Nature Conservancy Council 
(xii) Natural England 
(xiii) National and local amenity societies 
(xiv) Other interested organisations 
(xv) Neighbours, residents and other interested persons 
(xvi) Any other document or correspondence specifically identified with an application/proposal 
 

[4] The relevant provisions of Acts of Parliament, Statutory Instruments or Government Circulars, or documents produced by the 
Council or another statutory body such as the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan (including waste and minerals policies) 
adopted October 2007  

The following notes are for information only:- 

[1] “Background Papers” are defined in the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 do not include those disclosing 
“Exempt” or “Confidential Information” within the meaning of that Act.  There may be, therefore, other papers relevant to an 
application which will be relied on in preparing the report to the Committee or a related report, but which legally are not required 
to be open to public inspection. 

 

Page 35

Agenda Item 9



[2] The papers identified or referred to in this List of Background Papers will only include letters, plans and other documents 
relating to applications/proposals referred to in the report if they have been relied on to a material extent in producing the 
report. 

[3] Although not necessary for meeting the requirements of the above Act, other letters and documents of the above kinds 
received after the preparation of this report and reported to and taken into account by the Committee will also be available for 
inspection. 

[4] Copies of documents/plans etc. can be supplied for a reasonable fee if the copyright on the particular item is not thereby 
infringed or if the copyright is owned by Bath and North East Somerset Council or any other local authority. 

 

INDEX 

 
 

ITEM 
NO. 

APPLICATION NO. 
& TARGET DATE: 

APPLICANTS NAME/SITE ADDRESS 
and PROPOSAL 

WARD: OFFICER: REC: 
 

 
 

001 16/04250/FUL 
16 December 2016 

Julia Morgan 
Land East Of Alma Cottage, 
Charlcombe Lane, Charlcombe, Bath,  
Erection of one dwelling following the 
demolition of existing stables 

Bathavon 
North 

Emma 
Hardy 

PERMIT 

 
002 16/04885/FUL 

13 January 2017 
Mr John Rippin 
The Grove, Langridge Lane, 
Swainswick, Bath, Bath And North East 
Somerset 
Demolition of existing garage and 
erection of a replacement building for 
use as an annex providing ancillary 
residential accommodation 

Bathavon 
North 

Alice Barnes REFUSE 

 
003 16/03652/FUL 

26 October 2016 
Mrs R Dymond-Hall 
Applegate Stables , Shockerwick Lane, 
Bathford, Bath, BA1 7LQ 
Erection of additional livery stables and 
a rural workers accommodation unit 

Bathavon 
North 

Nicola Little REFUSE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 36



REPORT OF THE GROUP MANAGER, DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT ON 
APPLICATIONS FOR DEVELOPMENT 

 

Item No:   001 

Application No: 16/04250/FUL 

Site Location: Land East Of Alma Cottage Charlcombe Lane Charlcombe Bath  

 
 

Ward: Bathavon North  Parish: Charlcombe  LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor M Veal Councillor Alison Millar Councillor Geoff Ward
  

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Erection of one dwelling following the demolition of existing stables 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty, Conservation Area, Greenbelt, MOD Safeguarded 
Areas, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Julia Morgan 

Expiry Date:  16th December 2016 

Case Officer: Emma Hardy 

 
REPORT 
Reason for reporting application to Committee: 
 
The application is being referred to the Committee because Charlcombe Parish Council 
has objected to the application contrary to Officer recommendation. In addition Cllr Alison 
Millar has called the application in to Committee if Officers are minded to recommend 
approval for the following reasons (summarised): 
 
I have read the objection statement from Charlcombe Parish Council and agree with it in 
its entirety. The access and egress onto Charlcombe Lane would be fraught with problems 
due to the narrowness of the lane at that section and it would be very difficult to see 

Page 37



oncoming vehicles before pulling out. Coupled with the fact that vehicles often travel at 
speeds in excess of 20 mph along there it would be a dangerous scenario. The lack of off-
road parking/room for turning on site is an additional concern. 
 
Saved policy ET.9 (3b) states that conversion of an existing rural building to a new use will 
be permitted if the building is not capable of conversion without substantial or complete 
reconstruction. I cannot see how completely demolishing the existing stables and 
rebuilding them is in accord with this policy.  
 
The application has been referred to the Chair who agrees that the application should be 
considered by the Committee. 
 
Description of site and application: 
 
The application site is located on the south side of Charlcombe Lane within the village of 
Charlcombe. The site comprises a low profile two bay stables with covered area to the 
front and hardstanding which has been encroached by vegetation. The application site 
extends into the adjoining field to incorporate the established field access off Charlcombe 
Lane. The site is located within the Green Belt and the Cotswolds Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty. The existing building falls within the Charlcombe Conservation Area, 
whilst the southern part of the site falls outside the conservation area boundary. 
 
Planning permission is sought to erect a single storey one bedroom dwelling following the 
demolition of the existing stables building. The replacement building would be the same 
volume, footprint, height and width as the stables it would replace. The existing yard to the 
south of the stables would become residential curtilage with one on-site car parking space 
provided. Access to the site would be via the existing field access off Charlcombe Lane 
and grasscrete would be laid to facilitate vehicle access over the field. The existing field 
gate would be removed. 
 
Amended plans have been received during the course of the application to replace full 
height glazing with sliding door with two smaller windows. 
 
Relevant recent planning history: 
 
No relevant recent planning history. 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Highways DC:  
- Compared to the equestrian use, the total change in traffic generated by the building 
would be negligible and it would not be appropriate to object to the proposal on road 
safety grounds. 
- Object to the proposal on sustainability grounds since the proposed building is isolated 
from public transport connections and any local services that could be reached safely by 
foot or cycle. 
 
Ecology: No objection subject to requested condition.  
 
Charlcombe Parish Council:  
 

Page 38



15/9/2016: (summarised) 
 
- Question the accuracy of the plans.  
- The site hasn't been in equestrian use for 10 years.  
- The Design and Access Statement refers to ashlar walls; the building should be 
constructed in rubble stone to be in keeping with the Conservation Area.  
- The rubble stone wall adjacent the highway should be reinstated to match the adjacent 
walls along the lane.  
- Concerns regarding the extent of glazing and the impact of the resulting light spillage on 
the Green Belt and AONB.  
- Harm to the rural character of the Green Belt and AONB through domestication of this 
rural site, domestic paraphernalia and parking of vehicles.  
- Concerns regarding highway safety from intensified use of the access. Question whether 
there is sufficient space for on-site turning.   
- There is no mains drainage or gas in Charlcombe. Drainage facilities and an oil storage 
tank have not been detailed on the plans.  
- Oil tankers and construction vehicles would need to be able to park on site because of 
the narrowness of the lane.  
- The proposal would be contrary to Policy ET.9 (re-use of rural buildings). The site is in 
an unsustainable location remote from public services (including public transport) and 
community facilities. Future occupiers would be entirely reliant on car travel. The building 
is not capable of conversion without substantial or complete reconstruction.  
- The proposal would have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the 
existing development and is therefore inappropriate development in the Green Belt.  
- No attempt has been made to find a new equestrian use for the stables. 
 
25/11/2016: (summarised) 
 
- The revised plans represent a marginal improvement in appearance and reduction of 
potential light spillage 
- The Parish Council's objection remains and there are compelling reasons why the 
application should be refused. 
- The access onto Charlcombe Lane is extremely dangerous.  
- Whilst the extant permission for the stables includes vehicular access to the site, the 
situation when such approval was given (well over 20 years ago) was entirely different to 
today. Traffic levels and speeds ont eh lane are vastly greater so the highway safety 
implications are entirely different.  
 
 
Third party representations: 
 
Objections have been received from the owners/occupiers of Dale Cottage and Alma 
Cottage, Charlcombe Lane, the content of which is summarised below: 
 
- Concerns regarding highway safety given the width of the lane, restricted visibility, speed 
and volume of traffic; 
- The submitted drawings are incorrect so conclusions regarding volume comparisons 
cannot be accurate; 
- The present built envelope will be far too low to be habitable so the proposed dwelling is 
not feasible; 

Page 39



- Question whether the covered area should be considered part of the existing built 
envelope;  
- Removal of the access gate would alter the character of the lane; 
- The proposed grasscrete access drive would result in change of use from agriculture to 
residential. 
 
One further unaddressed objection has been received, the content of which is 
summarised below: 
- Highway safety concerns, particularly in relation to the visibility splays from the existing 
access; 
- If the Council grants planning permission for use of the existing access for a new 
dwelling it will completely and blatantly abrogate its highway and road safety 
responsibilities. 
 
One comment of support has been received from the owner/occupier of Walnut Lodge, 
Charlcombe Lane, the content of which is summarised below: 
 
- The proposal is a sensible redevelopment of the building; 
- The design is sensitive and will enhance this part of Charlcombe; 
- There will be no harm to any neighbouring occupiers. 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The Core Strategy now forms part of the statutory Development Plan 
and will be given full weight in the determination of planning applications. The Council's 
Development Plan now comprises: 
 
- Core Strategy (2014) 
- Saved Policies in the B&NES Local Plan (2007) 
- West of England Joint Waste Core Strategy (2011) which supersedes all 2007 Local 
Plan policies on Waste apart from Policies WM.4 and WM.9 
 
The following policies of the Core Strategy (2014) are relevant to the determination of this 
application: 
DW1: District wide spatial strategy 
CP2: Sustainable construction 
CP6: Environmental quality 
CP8: Green Belt 
 
The following saved policies of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan (2007) are 
also relevant to the determination of this application: 
D.2: General design and public realm considerations 
D.4: Townscape considerations 
SC.1: Settlement classification 
ET.7: Use of agricultural land 
GB.2: Visual amenities of the Green Belt 
BH.6: Development within or affecting Conservation Areas 
NE.10: Nationally important species and habitats 
NE.11: Locally important species and habitats 
T.24: General development control and access policy 

Page 40



T.26: On-site parking and servicing provision 
 
The placemaking plan is at an advanced stage (albeit still at Examination) and policies not 
subject to representations at Draft Plan stage (or only subject of supporting 
representations) are considered to be capable of being given substantial weight. Policies 
still subject to outstanding/unresolved representations can only be given limited weight at 
this stage until the Inspector's Final Report is received. 
 
The following policies can be given limited weight 
 
D.2: Local character and distinctiveness 
D.4: Streets and spaces 
D.5: Building design 
D.6: Amenity 
HE.1: Historic environment 
GB1: Visual amenities of the Green Belt 
NE.3: Sites, species and habitats 
ST.7: Transport requirements for managing development 
 
National Policy: 
The National Planning Policy Framework adopted March 2012  
National Planning Practice Guidance 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
PRINCIPLE OF THE DEVELOPMENT IMPACT ON THE GREEN BELT 
 
Paragraph 89 of the NPPF allows for the partial or complete redevelopment of previously 
developed sites within the Green Belt provided that the proposed development would not 
have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt and the purposes of including 
land within it.  
 
The site of the proposed development meets the definition of previously developed land 
set out in the Glossary to the NPPF. The site comprises a permanent structure and its 
curtilage. The established lawful use of the site is equestrian; as such, the development 
site is neither land that has been occupied by agricultural buildings nor private residential 
garden. 
 
Compared to the existing development (stables building and associated overgrown 
hardstanding), the proposal would not have a greater impact on the five purposes of the 
Green Belt: to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas; to prevent 
neighbouring towns merging into one another; to assist in safeguarding the countryside 
from encroachment; to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and to 
assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other urban 
land. 
 
The proposed dwelling would be located in the same position as the existing stables. It 
would have the same built volume as the existing building and would be sited in the same 
position, within essentially the same built envelope. It is therefore not considered that the 
proposal would have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the existing 
development. 

Page 41



 
Given the small scale of the dwelling, it is not considered that the associated domestic 
paraphernalia would have an adverse impact on the rural character and visual amenity of 
the Green Belt. The site is already enclosed by a post and rail fence and the proposed 
boundary treatment (also post and rail fence) would not have a greater visual impact. 
Furthermore, the design, scale and materials of the proposed dwelling would reflect the 
existing stables building so would be appear sympathetic to the rural character of the 
village and its surroundings. 
 
In regards to saved Policy ET.9, this relates to the conversion of existing rural buildings to 
other uses. The current proposal is not for a conversion but for complete demolition and 
redevelopment. Policy ET.9 is therefore not applicable and substantial weight must be 
given to Paragraph 89 of the NPPF, which allows for the redevelopment of previously 
developed sites in the Green Belt. Furthermore, where Local Plans do not entirely accord 
with national policy as set out in the NPPF, the NPPF carries the greater weight.  
 
Paragraph 55 of the NPPF states that new isolated homes within the countryside should 
be avoided. Although the proposal is outside of the built up area of Bath, there is ribbon 
development along Charlcombe Lane and the site is within reasonable proximity of 
services and facilities within the city boundary. The site is therefore not considered to be in 
an isolated location.   
 
The principle of the development is therefore acceptable, subject to other material 
planning considerations. 
 
IMPACT ON THE AREA OF OUTSTANDING NATURAL BEAUTY 
 
The proposal has been amended to replace full height glazing on the south elevation with 
smaller windows to reduce light spillage to the surrounding Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty. Taking this into account and given the design, scale and materials of the 
proposed development, it is not considered that the proposal would harm the natural 
beauty of the AONB. 
 
CHARACTER, APPEARANCE AND IMPACT ON THE CONSERVATION AREA 
 
The site is located within the Charlcombe Conservation Area. The Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires that the local planning authority shall 
pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of conservation areas. 
 
Notwithstanding the Design and Access Statement, the proposed building would be 
constructed in rubble Bath stone under a natural slate roof. The replacement building 
would be similar in appearance to the existing stables and would reflect the rural character 
and natural stone buildings of the village. The reduced level of glazing on the amended 
proposal would preserve the rural character of the area, avoiding unacceptable light 
spillage to the surrounding countryside.  
 
It is not considered that removing the existing field gate would unacceptably alter the 
character or appearance of the street scene or Conservation Area. The use of grasscrete 

Page 42



for the drive would retain the grassed appearance of this corner of the field and would not 
result in the domestication of this area adjacent to the new residential curtilage.  
 
Overall, the design and materials of the proposed development are considered acceptable 
and would preserve the character and appearance of the Charlcombe Conservation Area. 
 
IMPACT ON THE AMENITIES OF NEIGHBOURING OCCUPIERS 
 
Given the modest height of the proposed development and the relationship with 
neighbouring residential properties, the proposal would not cause harm to the amenities of 
neighbouring occupiers through overlooking, loss of light, overshadowing or visual impact. 
 
CAR PARKING AND HIGHWAY SAFETY 
 
The provision of one on-site parking space for the proposed one bed dwelling is 
acceptable.  
 
The proposed development would use an existing established access off Charlcombe 
Lane. It is noted that the site has not been used for the stabling of horses for some years. 
However, the existing established equestrian use of the site must be taken into account 
since this could reasonably recommence at any time without the need for planning 
permission to be obtained.  
 
The building appears to be designed to stable up to two horses, which would likely require 
several visits a day to care for their welfare. There is no apparent livery business 
associated with the small stables so it is reasonable to expect that any new equestrian 
use at the site would be on a DIY basis. If leased out by the applicant, there is every 
likelihood that the new user or users of the site would not live within walking distance and 
would therefore travel to the site by car. In addition, it would be reasonable to expect 
infrequent vet/farrier visits and potentially also the occasional delivery.  
 
Taking into account the existing lawful equestrian use of the site, it is considered that the 
total change in traffic generated by the small proposed dwelling would be negligible 
compared to the established use. Whilst local concerns regarding highway safety are 
noted, taking the above factors into account, it would therefore be unreasonable to object 
to the proposal on road safety grounds.  
 
As discussed above, whilst it is noted that the village of Charlcombe sits just outside the 
city limits, the application site is not considered to be in an isolated, unsustainable 
location. 
 
Overall, the proposal would comply with saved policies T.24 and T.26 of the Local Plan 
and the aims of the NPPF. 
 
ECOLOGY 
 
A completed bat survey has been submitted which concludes that no bat roosts are 
present in the existing building. The submission includes appropriate recommendations 
regarding working practices and these should be implemented. A condition is 
recommended requiring the ecological mitigation proposals and recommendations to be 

Page 43



implemented. Subject to this condition, the proposed development would have an 
acceptable impact on local ecology in accordance with saved policies NE.10 and NE.11 of 
the Local Plan and the aims of the NPPF. 
 
OTHER MATTERS 
 
In light of the concerns raised by a neighbour and the Parish regarding the accuracy of the 
plans, a second site visit was carried out to verify the dimensions shown on the submitted 
plans. This confirmed that the east elevation survey reflects the building on site. It may be 
that the difference from the Parish and neighbour's measurements comes from the point 
at which measurements are being taken (concrete slab level rather than external ground 
level).  
 
It is not considered that the introduction of grasscrete to the north west corner of the field 
adjacent to  the access would materially change the use of the field from agricultural to 
residential. A condition is recommended requiring agricultural access to the field to be 
retained in perpetuity. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

PERMIT 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 1 Standard Time Limit (Compliance) 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) and to avoid the accumulation of unimplemented planning permission 
 
 2 Plans List (Compliance) 
The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
 3 Materials (Compliance) 
The external stonework to be used shall be random rubble stone to match that of the 
existing building in respect of type, size, colour, pointing, coursing, jointing, profile and 
texture. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area 
in accordance with Policies D.2, D.4 and BH.6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local 
Plan and Policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy. 
 
 4 Roofing Materials (Bespoke Trigger) 
No construction of the roof of the development shall commence until a sample of all 
external roofing materials has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with 
the approved details. 

Page 44



 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area 
in accordance with Policies D.2, D.4 and BH.6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local 
Plan and Policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy. 
 
 5 Parking (Pre-occupation) 
No occupation of the development shall commence until one parking space has been 
provided on site in accordance with the approved plans. This parking space shall be 
retained permanently thereafter. 
 
Reason: To ensure that adequate and safe parking is provided in the interests of amenity 
and highway safety in accordance with Policies T.26 and T.24 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Local Plan. 
 
 6 Highways - Parking (Compliance) 
The areas allocated for parking and turning on the submitted plan shall be kept clear of 
obstruction and shall not be used other than for the parking of vehicles in connection with 
the development hereby permitted. 
 
Reason: To ensure sufficient parking and turning areas are retained at all times in the 
interests of amenity and highways safety in accordance with Policy T.24 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
 7 Gate Removal (Pre-occupation) 
No occupation of the development shall commence until the gate has been removed from 
the proposed access off Charlcombe Lane in accordance with the approved details. No 
gate shall thereafter be erected in this position without first obtaining permission from the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To prevent vehicles waiting in the lane to access the site whilst the gate is being 
opened in the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policies T.26 and T.24 of the 
Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan 
 
 8 Field Access (Compliance) 
Vehicle access to the adjoining field in association with the agricultural use of that land 
shall be retained in perpetuity. 
 
Reason: In order not to compromise the agricultural use of the adjoining site in 
accordance with Policy ET.7 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan 2007. 
 
 9 Ecology - Compliance with Ecological Mitigation Proposals (Compliance) 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out only in accordance with the 
ecological mitigation proposals and recommendations described in Section 4 of the 
approved Bat Survey report dated 12th July 2016 by Crossman Associates. 
 
Reason: To avoid harm to bats and their roosts and provide biodiversity enhancements in 
accordance with Policy NE.10 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan 2007 and 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

Page 45



10 Removal of Permitted Development Rights - No extentions or alterations 
(Compliance) 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or 
without modification) no extension, external alteration or enlargement of the dwelling(s) or 
other buildings  hereby approved shall be carried out unless a further planning permission 
has been granted by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: Any further extensions or alterations require detailed consideration by the Local 
Planning Authority in order to safeguard the openness of the Green Belt and the natural 
beauty of this Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. 
 
11 Removal of Permitted Development Rights - No means of enclosure 
(Compliance) 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or 
without modification) no fences, gates, walls or other means of enclosure shall be erected 
or placed on the site without a further planning permission being granted. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area 
in accordance with Policies D.2 and D.4 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan 
and Policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy. 
 
12 Removal of Permitted Development Rights - No outbuildings (Compliance) 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or 
without modification) no garages or other free standing buildings shall be erected within 
the curtilage of the dwelling(s) hereby approved, other than those expressly authorised by 
this permission, unless a further planning permission has been granted by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: The introduction of further curtilage buildings requires detailed consideration by 
the Local Planning Authority to safeguard the appearance of the development and the 
amenities of the surrounding area in accordance with Policies D.2 and D.4 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
This decision relates to the following plans and information:  
Drawing Nos. A01 (1:1250 Site Location Plan) and A02 (Existing Stables) received 
24/8/2016 
Bat Survey dated 12 July 2016 prepared by Crossman Associates received 24/8/2016 
Planning, Design and Access Statement received 24/8/2016 
Drawing no. A03 Revision 04 (Proposed Dwelling) received 14/11/2016 
 
Condition Categories 
The heading of each condition gives an indication of the type of condition and what is 
required by it. There are 4 broad categories: 
 

Page 46



Compliance - The condition specifies matters to which you must comply. These conditions 
do not require the submission of additional details and do not need to be discharged. 
 
Pre-commencement - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before any work begins on the approved development. 
The condition will list any specific works which are exempted from this restriction, e.g. 
ground investigations, remediation works, etc. 
 
Pre-occupation - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before occupation of all or part of the approved 
development.  
 
Bespoke Trigger - The condition contains a bespoke trigger which requires the submission 
and approval of further information, drawings or details before a specific action occurs.  
 
Please note all conditions should be read fully as these headings are intended as a guide 
only. 
 
Where approval of further information is required you will need to submit a conditions 
application and pay the relevant fee, details of the fee can be found on the "what happens 
after permission" pages of the Council's Website.  You can submit your conditions 
application via the Planning Portal at www.planningportal.co.uk or send it direct to 
planning_registration@bathnes.gov.uk.  Alternatively this can be sent by post to The 
Planning Registration Team, Planning Services, Lewis House, Manvers Street, Bath, BA1 
1JG. 
 
Community Infrastructure Levy 
You are advised that as of 6 April 2015, the Bath & North East Somerset Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule came into effect. Full details about the CIL 
Charge including, amount and process for payment will be sent out in a CIL Liability 
Notice which you will receive shortly. Further details are available here: 
www.bathnes.gov.uk/cil 
 
Decision Making Statement 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 47



Item No:   002 

Application No: 16/04885/FUL 

Site Location: The Grove Langridge Lane Swainswick Bath Bath And North East 
Somerset 

 
 

Ward: Bathavon North  Parish: Charlcombe  LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor M Veal Councillor Alison Millar Councillor Geoff Ward
  

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Demolition of existing garage and erection of a replacement building 
for use as an annex providing ancillary residential accommodation 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty, Flood Zone 2, Flood Zone 3, Greenbelt, LLFA - Flood 
Risk Management, MOD Safeguarded Areas, Sites of Nature 
Conservation Interest, Sites of Nature Conservation Interest, SSSI - 
Impact Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Mr John Rippin 

Expiry Date:  13th January 2017 

Case Officer: Alice Barnes 

 
REPORT 
Reason for reporting the application to committee 
 
The parish council have support the application contrary to the case officers 
recommendation to refuse.  
 
The application has been referred to the chair who has requested that the application is 
considered by the committee. 
 
The application was considered at the meeting of the 14th December and members 
resolved to defer the application for a site visit.  

Page 48



 
Description of site and application.  
 
The application site is located within Langridge to the north of Bath. The existing site 
includes a single dwelling house with a garage and parking area on the opposite site of 
the road. The application site is located within the green belt outside of any housing 
development boundary. The site is located within the open countryside where the 
surrounding dwellings are of a dispersed nature.  The site is accessed from a narrow lane.  
 
This is an application for the demolition of the existing garage and erection of a 
replacement building for use as an annex providing ancillary residential accommodation. 
The existing dwelling is located on the northern side of the road and sits above road level. 
There is an existing pedestrian access to the site. The existing garage sits on the southern 
side of the road adjacent to the existing parking area. The proposed development would 
demolish the existing garage and replace this with a two storey building including two 
bedrooms, a kitchen, bathroom and living space. The existing parking area would remain 
and outdoor space for the proposed building would be provided to the south.  
 
Relevant History 
 
8337 - Double garage, 24/03/1981 
 
4636 - Extension, 01/12/1986 
 
DC - 03/02108/OUT - RF - 16 October 2003 - Replace existing garage/workshop with 
residential unit for dependent relatives and integral garage for 2 cars. 
 
DC - 06/00915/FUL - RF - 28 April 2006 - Extension to create dependent relative 
accommodation 
 
DC - 06/02708/FUL - PERMIT - 19 September 2006 - Erection of an extension to create 
dependent relative accommodation (Revised Scheme) 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Charlcombe Parish Council: Supports the application for the demolition of an existing 
double garage and the erection of a replacement building to serve as an annex providing 
ancillary residential accommodation. The Grove is located within the Green Belt and 
Cotswolds AONB and we recognise that the proposed development does raise a number 
of issues in relation to the relevant planning policies. These are addressed in the following 
comments which were informed by a site visit. 
 
The applicant's family have lived at The Grove for over 45 years. His parents are now 
elderly and the existing accommodation, which involves numerous steps and stairs, is no 
longer practicable for them, nor, with 2 growing children, is there sufficient space. The 
proposed annex will enable the family to remain living together in Langridge by providing 
new ground-floor level wheelchair-friendly accommodation with upstairs accommodation 
for a carer. We believe this demonstrates special circumstances which are relevant to this 
application. 
 

Page 49



The proposal replaces a single storey double garage with a 2-storey annex built on the 
same footprint. There is no doubt that the proposed annex will therefore have a greater 
visual impact due to its height. This is mitigated by the choice of building materials (stone 
coloured render on the lower storey, timber cladding for the upper storey and a slate roof) 
which will have a more sympathetic and appropriate appearance than the existing garage. 
The proposed annex will not have any detrimental visual impact on the Green Belt and 
AONB. 
 
The supporting documentation calculates that the increase in volume of the cumulative 
development on site will rise to 52.7% over the 1948 volume as a result of this application.  
The proposed annex will result in a volume increase of around a half, which exceeds the 
one-third guideline. We suggest that given the remote and well screened location, there 
will be no harm, and that the need to cater for the needs elderly parents, who have lived at 
the property for over 45 years, provides special circumstances.  
 
The proposed annex, whilst within the curtilage of the dwelling, is separated from the 
dwelling by Langridge Lane. We would therefore suggest that a binding Condition or 
S.106 agreement should be applied to any approval by the Planning Authority, prohibiting 
the use of the annex both as a separate dwelling and as a holiday let and stipulating that 
its use must remain ancillary to the main dwelling. It is noted that the applicant states that 
he would be happy to accept such a condition. 
 
Councillor Martin Veal: Support.  
There is a genuine need for further accommodation to support the family. 
The extended family can stay together. 
This is supported by the parish council. 
The development will utilise the existing footprint and have minimal visual impact. 
 
Representations: 10 representations have been received in support of the application for 
the following reasons; 
The building is modest in size. 
The building will provide much needed accommodation 
The building will provide accommodation for family members with mobility issues. 
The development complies with paragraph 89 of the NPPF. 
The development will enhance the existing site. 
There will be no increase in traffic 
This is an ideal solution for the family. 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The Core Strategy now forms part of the statutory Development Plan 
and will be given full weight in the determination of planning applications. The Council's 
Development Plan now comprises: 
 
o Core Strategy 
o Saved Policies in the B&NES Local Plan (2007) 
o Joint Waste Core Strategy 
 
The following policies of the Core Strategy are relevant to the determination of this 
application: 

Page 50



 
CP6 - Environmental Quality 
CP8 - Green Belt 
 
The following saved policies of the Bath and North East Local Plan, including minerals and 
waste policies, adopted October 2007 are also relevant to the determination of this 
application. 
 
D.2: General design and public realm considerations 
D.4: Townscape considerations 
GB.2: Visual Amenities of the Green Belt 
HG.10: Housing outside settlements 
Ne.2: Areas of outstanding natural beauty 
 
National Policy 
The National Planning Policy Framework adopted March 2012 
National Planning Practice Guidance 2014 
 
The placemaking plan is at an advanced stage (albeit still at Examination) and policies not 
subject to representations at Draft Plan stage (or only subject of supporting 
representations) are considered to be capable of being given substantial weight. Policies 
still subject to outstanding/unresolved representations can only be given limited weight at 
this stage until the Inspector's Final Report is received.  
 
The following policies are given substantial weight  
 
RE.4 - Essential dwellings for rural workers 
 
The following policies are given limited weight 
 
D.2 - Local character and distinctiveness 
D.3 - Urban Fabric 
D.5 - Building design 
D.6 - Amenity 
ST.7 - Transport requirements for managing development 
NE.2 - Conserving and enhancing the landscape and landscape character 
 
 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
The application site is located within Langridge to the north of Bath. The existing site 
includes a single detached dwelling house with a garage and parking area on the opposite 
site of the road. The existing dwelling sits above the road and includes a boundary hedge. 
The garage and parking area sit on the opposite side of the road and are clearly visible 
from the streetscene. The surrounding area is of a rural character with few nearby 
dwellings. Permission was granted in 2006 for the construction of a two storey extension 
at the existing house to provide additional living accommodation for a dependant relative. 
This was not constructed and the permission has now expired.  
 

Page 51



The proposed development would demolish the existing garage and replace this with a 
two storey building including two bedrooms, a kitchen, bathroom and living space. The 
existing parking area would remain and outdoor space for the proposed building would be 
provided to the south. 
 
Principle of development in the green belt 
 
The proposed annexe will replace an existing garage. The garage and parking area are 
located on the opposite side of the road to the existing garage. As the parking area and 
garage are used by the occupiers of The Grove then the existing site is currently 
functionally linked to the existing dwelling. The site forms part of a residential curtilage so 
is not considered to be previously developed land.  
 
The proposed layout includes two bedrooms, two bathrooms, a kitchen and living area. 
The proposed building is therefore capable of independent occupation from the existing 
dwelling. The building is located on the opposite side of the road, includes its own 
separate curtilage and entrance and could be occupied independently of the main 
dwelling. It therefore cannot be regarded as being an annexe and is considered to be a 
new dwellinghouse within the countryside. 
 
The site is located within the open countryside outside of any village boundary. Policy 
HG10 of the local plan relates to housing outside of settlements. This policy allows for 
housing outside of settlements provided that they are essential workers dwellings for 
agricultural or forestry. In this case the proposed dwelling will not be used for agriculture 
or forestry and therefore does not comply with policy HG.10 of the local plan.  
 
For the reasons above the principle of a new residential property is not accepted.  
 
It is noted that the parish council has suggested that the proposed accommodation could 
be tied to the existing dwelling by a section 106 agreement. In this case the proposed 
dwelling can easily operate as a separate dwelling being within a separate curtilage on the 
opposite side of the road with no functional or physical tie to the main house. Therefore 
the concerns raised above cannot be overcome by provision of a legal agreement that 
would make the new house an 'annexe'.  
 
As stated above the layout and siting of the proposal would result in a development that 
cannot be considered to be an annexe to the existing dwelling. In green belt terms it can 
be considered to be a replacement building. Paragraph 89 of the NPPF states that a 
replacement building should be in the same use and should not be materially larger than 
the one it replaces. In this case as the proposed building is considered to be a separate 
dwelling it is not considered to be in the same use as the existing garage. The 
development will increase the height of the building from 3.3m to 6.9m and increase the 
volume from 212.36 sqm to 334.62, a 57% increase in volume from the original building. 
Therefore if the proposal is considered as a replacement building it would not comply with 
paragraph 89.  
 
The impact of development in the green belt is not considered on volume increase alone. 
In this case the proposed building would result in an increase in height from the existing 
building. It therefore would result in a building which is more visually prominent within the 
surrounding area. Furthermore the provision of a separate curtilage and its resultant 

Page 52



paraphanalia would increase the existing domestic curtilage. The development is therefore 
harmful to the openness of the surrounding green belt.  
 
The supplementary planning document 'Existing dwellings in the green belt' states that 
extensions of about a third of the original volume of the property will likely be acceptable. 
In this case the proposed development is considered to be a new dwelling rather than an 
ancillary use so cannot be considered to be an extension of the existing dwelling. In any 
event the applicant has advised that the proposed development would result in an 
increase in the original volume of the property by 50%. Therefore if the proposed 
development was to be regarded as an extension it would be considered to be a 
disproportionate addition to the host building. 
 
Design and landscape.  
 
The proposed building has been designed to include render and timber cladding. The roof 
would be covered in slate. When taken in isolation the design of the building could be 
considered to be acceptable. However the size of the building within the rural setting is 
considered to be harmful to the openness of the surrounding green belt.  
 
Whilst the building would be more visually prominent within the streetscene and would be 
harmful to the green belt, it is accepted that the building would not be visible from the 
wider landscape. Therefore it is not considered to be harmful to the setting of the Area of 
of Outstanding Natural Beauty.  
 
Amenity 
 
The proposed development would not be located close to any other neighbouring 
properties and is not considered to result in harm to the amenity of any neighbouring 
properties.  
 
Highways 
 
Whist the proposed development will result in the loss of the garage the existing site 
includes a large off street parking area. The proposed development would not result in a 
loss of the existing parking area and therefore the development will not result in harm to 
highway safety.  
 
The case for very special circumstances.  
 
Paragraph 88 of the NPPF states that development within the green belt will only be 
allowed under very special circumstances. The circumstances put forward by the applicant 
relate to the applicants own personal situation and therefore do not from very special 
circumstances which justify development in the green belt. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

REFUSE 
 
REASON(S) FOR REFUSAL 
 

Page 53



 1 The proposed development is located within the Green Belt and outside of the built up 
area of Bath where the principle of residential development is not accepted. It is therefore 
contrary to policy HG.10 of the Bath & North East Somerset Local Plan including minerals 
and waste policies - adopted October 2007, Policy B1 of the Core Strategy and policy 
RE.4 of the emerging placemaking plan 
 
 2 The proposed development by reason of its siting, scale and design will result in 
replacement building which is materially larger than the existing building. The increase 
size and height of the building will harm the openness of the surrounding green belt being 
more visually prominent within the streetscene. In the absence of very special 
circumstances the development is considered to be contrary to polices GB.2 of the Bath 
and North East Local Plan, including minerals and waste policies, adopted October 2007 
and CP8 of the Core Strategy and paragraph 89 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
Location plan P01 A 
Existing site plan P02 A 
Existing plans P03 A 
Existing elevations P05 A 
Proposed elevations P15 E 
Proposed plans P13 E 
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework. The 
Local Planning Authority acknowledges the approach outlined in paragraphs 188-192 in 
favour of front loading and operates a pre-application advice service. Notwithstanding 
active encouragement for pre-application dialogue the applicant did not seek to enter into 
correspondence with the Local Planning Authority. The proposal was considered 
unacceptable for the reasons given and the applicant was advised that the application was 
to be recommended for refusal. Despite this the applicant choose not to withdraw the 
application, and having regard to the need to avoid unnecessary delay the Local Planning 
Authority moved forward and issued its decision. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 54



Item No:   003 

Application No: 16/03652/FUL 

Site Location: Applegate Stables  Shockerwick Lane Bathford Bath BA1 7LQ 

 
 

Ward: Bathavon North  Parish: Bathford  LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor M Veal Councillor Alison Millar Councillor Geoff Ward
  

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Erection of additional livery stables and a rural workers 
accommodation unit 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty, Greenbelt, MOD Safeguarded Areas, SSSI - Impact 
Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Mrs R Dymond-Hall 

Expiry Date:  26th October 2016 

Case Officer: Nicola Little 

 
REPORT 
The application seeks permanent permission for a rural workers accommodation unit and 
additional livery stables on land benefitting from an established equestrian use.  
 
The application site, known as 'Applegate Stables', is situated on the South side of 
Shockerwick Lane, Bathford, Bath, on land designated as Green Belt and within the 
Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (Cotswolds AONB). The site is located 
outside of the housing settlement boundary in an area characterised as predominantly 
rural in character.  
                                                                                                                                                                        
Officer Update (15.12.2016) 
 
This application had been called to be heard at the Council's November 16 Development 
Management Committee. However, due to the late submission of additional information to 

Page 55



Members, the application was deferred to the January 11 2017 Development 
Management Committee. The additional information submitted by the agent includes 
details regarding the proposed dwelling which demonstrates its capacity to be considered 
as a temporary structure. Although this does not effect the Council's determination to 
refuse the application or the officer's reasons for refusal, it was considered a material fact 
requiring further assessment and review. Since the submission of this information the 
applicant's agent has confirmed that this application is seeking permanent permission 
rather than temporary, this is consistant with the case set out in the Design and Access 
Statement. 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Bathford Parish Council and Cllr Veal - OBJECT on the basis that the proposal represents 
an unstainable form of development and presents harm to the Green Belt and Cotswold's 
AONB.  
 
Cllr Ward - SUPPORT on the basis that the business adds to the local rural economy  
 
Highways - OBJECT 
 
o Development is in an unstainable location and is contrary to Policy T.1  
o Increase in traffic generated by the proposed development  considered prejudicial 
to road safety 
o No satisfactory provision for parking 
o No adequate turning facilities incorporated into design which is essential to highway 
safety  
 
No other third party objections received 
 
3 Letters and signatures of support  
 
The Council's scheme of delegation in regard to planning applications states that "an 
application has been subject of a letter of objection, comment or support from the Ward 
Councillor for the area including the application site (or for an adjoining area) which is 
contrary to officer recommendation, when there shall be prior consultation with the Chair 
of the Development Control Committee before a decision is made whether or not to refer 
the application to committee. For the purpose of this section, letters of objection or support 
that do not give Planning Policy based reasons will be disregarded, although all 
representations will be taken into account in determining the application". 
 
As the officer's recommendation was contrary to Cllr Ward's representation and the 
decision of the Council's independent agricultural assessor, the application was duly 
referred to the Chairman of the Development Management Committee who considered 
that although the officer's report has assessed the application under the relevant policies, 
as questions remain on some aspects it is recommended that the application be taken to 
Development Management Committee for decision.  
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The Core Strategy now forms part of the statutory Development Plan 

Page 56



and will be given full weight in the determination of planning applications. The Council's 
Development Plan now comprises: 
 
Core Strategy 
Saved Policies in the B&NES Local Plan (2007)* 
Joint Waste Core Strategy 
 
The B&NES Local Plan policies that are replaced by policies in the Core Strategy are 
outlined in Appendix 1 of the Core Strategy. Those B&NES Local Plan policies that are not 
replaced and remain saved are listed in Appendix 2 of the Core Strategy. 
 
The following policies of the Core Strategy should be considered: 
 
CP6 - Environmental Quality  
CP8 - Green Belt  
 
Saved Policies relevant to this application in the Bath and North East Somerset Local 
Plan, including Minerals and Waste Plan, are: 
 
D.2 - General Design and public realm considerations 
D.4 - Townscape considerations 
HG.10 - Housing outside settlements (agricultural and other essential dwellings) 
GB.2 - Visual Amenities of the Green Belt  
NE.1 - Landscape Character  
NE.2 - Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty  
SR.12 - Commercial Riding Establishments  
  
The placemaking plan is at an advanced stage (albeit still at Examination) and policies not 
subject to representations at Draft Plan stage (or only subject of supporting 
representations) are considered to be capable of being given substantial weight. This also 
assumes that the Inspector will not raise further issues on any policies not subject to 
objections as the hearings are now closed. Policies still subject to outstanding/unresolved 
representations can only be given limited weight at this stage until the Inspector's Final 
Report is received. 
 
The following policies are adopted through the Core Strategy: 
 
CP8 Green Belt  
 
The following policies are given substantial weight  
 
RE.4 - Essential dwellings for rural workers 
 
The following policies are given limited weight 
 
GB1 Visual Amenities of the Green Belt  
D2 Local Character & Distinctiveness 
D6 Amenity 
NE2 Conserving and Enhancing The Landscape And Landscape Character  
 

Page 57



National guidance and the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is a material 
consideration. The following sections are of particular relevance: 
 
Section 3: Supporting a prosperous rural economy  
Section 9: Protecting Green Belt Land 
Section 11: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment  
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
The principal questions and matters to consider as part of this application are: 
 
o Whether the proposed dwelling may be considered essential for the purposes of 
agriculture and forestry (and whether it may be assessed under the criteria and tests of 
saved policy HG.10) 
o Whether the proposed dwelling meets the tests of an essential dwelling for rural 
workers in accordance with Policy RE4 of the Draft Placemaking Plan. 
o The impact of the proposal upon the Green Belt, including openness and visual 
amenity  
o The impact of the proposal upon the character of the Cotswold's Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty (Cotswold's AONB) 
o Sustainability and Impact upon Highways  
 
Preamble 
 
It is a material consideration that the Local Planning Authority refused planning permission 
for the erection of a temporary equestrian workers dwelling on the application site in 2010 
(reference: 10/00737/FUL). Officers would advise that whilst national policy has changed 
since 2010, the relevant policies are broadly the same. 
 
The 2010 application was refused for the following reasons: 
 
1. The proposal will introduce a new dwelling outside the defined Housing Development 
Boundary, which is not essential for agricultural or forestry workers and would therefore 
result in an unsustainable form of development, contrary to PPS7, PPG13 and Policy 
HG.10 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan, including minerals and waste 
policies - adopted October 2007. 
 
2. The proposal to introduce a new dwelling into the Green Belt would represent 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt, which by definition is harmful. No very 
special circumstances have been demonstrated to clearly outweigh the presumption 
against inappropriate development in the Green Belt. The proposal is therefore contrary to 
PPG2 and Policy GB.1 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan, including 
minerals and waste policies - adopted October 2007. 
 
3. The proposal would introduce a new building onto an elevated site, thus intensifying the 
use, would be harmful to the openness, rural character and visual amenities of the area. 
This is contrary to Policies GB.2 and NE.2 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local 
Plan, including minerals and waste policies - adopted October 2007. 
 
Essential Dwellings for Rural Workers 
 

Page 58



Policy HG.10 of the saved Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan sets out the 
parameters in relation to the provision of dwellings outside of settlement boundaries. As a 
primary factor to consider, this policy states that dwellings outside settlements will not be 
permitted unless they are deemed to be essential for the purposes of agriculture or 
forestry.  
 
Policy RE4 of the Draft Placemaking Plan can be afforded substantial weight and states 
that new dwellings outside housing development boundaries will not be permitted unless 
there is an essential need for a rural worker to live permanently at or near their place of 
work. To fulfil RE4 an applicant must demonstrate a clear financial and functional need.  
 
It is acknowledged that RE4 states that if a new dwelling is deemed to be essential to 
support a newly established rural business it will only be granted for a temporary period 
provided there is clear evidence of a "firm intention and ability to develop the enterprise 
concerned". As will be explored in this report, whilst the intention and ability of the 
applicant are not questioned, it is of material consideration that the application is seeking 
permanent permission, not temporary, and the business is not "newly established" as 
confirmed by the recent grant of a lawful development certificate confirming the equestrian 
use of the site has existed for over 10 years. 
 
The case officer for application 10/00737/FUL stated that the Local Planning Authority at 
that time did not consider the enterprise at Applegate Stables to be agricultural, citing 
Belmont vs. MHLG (1962) in support of the position that the breeding and training of 
horses does not fall within the definition of agriculture. Although this remains the position 
of the Council, it is necessary to acknowledge that since the refusal of application 
10/00737/FUL, the Council has granted a Certificate of Lawfulness for an Existing Use 
(CLEU) which has established the lawful change in use of the application site from 
agricultural to livery/equestrian centre (reference: 15/05340/CLEU). Neither the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) nor the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 
makes specific reference to dwellings required in connection with horse related 
establishments. Annex A of cancelled Planning Policy Statement 7 (PPS7) acknowledged 
that there may be instances where special justification exists for new isolated dwellings 
associated with 'other' rural based enterprises and that in these cases the Local Planning 
Authority should apply the same criteria and principles as set out in relation to proposals 
for agricultural and forestry dwellings. Whilst it is important to note that the Council 
considers that PPS7 can no longer be given weight in planning application having been 
superseded by the NPPF and NPPG, the preamble for saved policy HG.10 and draft 
policy RE4 states that outside of settlement boundaries 'special need may arise for 
accommodation which is essential for the efficient operation of the rural economy' and that 
this exception is 'in line with PPS7'.  
 
Whilst the final wording of saved policy HG.10 is clear in that it stipulates that 'new 
dwellings will not be permitted unless they are essential for agricultural or forestry 
workers', and this is echoed in draft Policy RE4, the current proposal may be considered 
to relate to a circumstance where a 'special need' has arisen in relation to an equestrian 
rural based enterprise.  
 
Accordingly, the current proposal has been assessed under the same criteria and 
principles as saved policy HG.10 and with regard to draft policy RE4. 
 

Page 59



Saved policy HG.10 states that a new dwelling will only be permitted where: 
 
- There is a clearly established existing functional need and financial justification for 
a worker to live on the holding  
- The need is for accommodation for a full-time worker  
- It is sited:  
(a) within a hamlet or existing group of dwellings or buildings; or 
(b) elsewhere in the countryside only when (a) above is not feasible;  
- occupancy is restricted to agricultural or forestry workers 
 
The proposal seeks permission to expand the application site's current stabling facilities 
and to erect a dwelling whereby 24 hour supervision may be provided by the site owner, 
allowing breeding and 24 hour care of horses to occur on site. It has been stated that the 
aim of the applicant with regards to her business is "to create a small, private breeding 
and training establishment producing quality British Sport Horses" (Design and Access 
Statement). 
 
The applicant has stated that there are currently two brood mares and one stallion owned 
by the business and that this comprises the present breeding program. The stallion is 
currently kept off site at a facility which provides 24 hour care. The broodmares are also 
kept off site up to two months before foaling and thereafter until the foals are 6 weeks old. 
Under the current application, it is proposed to relocate the stallion to Applegate Stables 
whereby he may be used to cover mares throughout the breeding season. The business 
plan also states that there is an expectation for the applicant to purchase and keep an 
additional 2 brood mares for breeding on site alongside a provision for current and/or 
future clients to breed their own mares with the resident stallion. The level of horse 
breeding referenced within the business plan and design and access statement implies 
that this practice would become the principal commercial use of the site and the function 
which requires 24hour supervision.  
 
It will be widely known and acknowledged that horse breeding enterprises will have the 
strongest case when it comes to citing an essential functional need, owing to the 
requirement for animal welfare and the specific needs of animals during foaling. The agent 
in this case has referenced general examples of horse-related animal welfare issues 
whereby 24 hour care and site supervision may have some benefit and has affirmed, 
again with general reference to specific incidences, the concept of an essential functional 
need in relation to brood mares and foals. In this instance, however, it would appear that 
the primary function of the application site and business is as a livery and public riding 
school. The applicant states that there are currently four full time liveries and two part time 
liveries on site. The provision for full livery as part of the business is, however, not 
considered to require 24-hour site presence and it may be acknowledged by the applicant 
that this element of the business has functioned successfully for a number of years 
without the need for an on-site presence. 
 
Therefore, with regards to the creation of a significant breeding and training facility at the 
application site (whereby some of the aforementioned animal welfare issues might be 
deemed applicable), although the CLEU established that some breeding and training of 
horses has been occurring in association with the application site over the years, this 
practice is deemed small-scale and as secondary to the actual business use. Indeed, the 
applicant has stated that the current breeding of competition horses takes place "offsite". 

Page 60



The officer, therefore, does not consider that there is a clearly established existing 
functional need for a worker to live on the holding.  
 
Furthermore, whilst the financial benefits of relocating the owned stallion and brood mares 
to Applegate Stables may be acknowledged, this benefit is deemed to be of a personal 
nature. The principal fact is that the current lack of a 24hour presence on the site does not 
appear to have affected the profitability and sustainability of the existing business (which 
appears to be robust). Consequently, there does not appear to be a clearly established 
existing financial need for a worker to live on the holding and therefore the proposal for 
on-site accommodation may not be considered as essential.  
 
In light of the above, the proposal is considered to fail the principal criteria and test of 
saved policy HG.10 - that a new dwelling outside of the settlement boundary must be 
considered essential to support an existing, well established agricultural or forestry (or 
other) enterprise and will only be permitted where there is clearly an established existing 
functional need and financial justification for a worker to live on the holding. 
 
Contrary to the above, the Council's independent agricultural assessor has determined, in 
accordance with paragraph 55 of the NPPF, that there is a need for a temporary dwelling 
on the site "to allow the applicant to develop the equestrian business". This determination 
has been made on the basis of the submitted business plan and the agent's belief in the 
capabilities of the applicant to establish a private breeding and training establishment at 
the site. However, it should be noted that the current application has been made on the 
basis that the proposal is for a permanent dwelling and therefore the applicant is seeking 
a permanent planning permission. It is therefore the officer's opinion that the agricultural 
assessor has deviated from their brief by reaching a judgement which recommends a 
temporary dwelling. The assessor's conclusion would also suggest that they did not 
consider the functional need and financial justification for a permanent dwelling to be 
robust and therefore defected to a recommendation for a temporary dwelling.      
 
Whilst the Council's independent agricultural assessor has considered that the granting of 
a temporary permission might be appropriate, Officers are satisfied that the application 
has been made on the basis of a permanent permission. Although the additional 
information submitted by the applicant appears to effectively demonstrate that the 
proposed dwelling may be considered temporary, it is also stated within the submitted 
literature that the structures may be used "for permanent accommodation or holiday lets".  
As previously stated, the officer does not consider that there is an established existing 
functional need or financial justification for a worker to live on the holding, as required 
under the criteria of saved Bath and North East Somerset Plan policy HG.10.  It is also 
considered that there are no special circumstances at the present time which would 
render the proposal acceptable under the NPPF.   
 
With regard to draft policy RE4, the proposal is contrary to policy insofar as it cannot be 
demonstrated that there is a clear functional or financial need and, as stated above, this is 
not a "newly established rural business" in terms of compliance with RE4(2). 
 
Green Belt Considerations 
                                                                                                                                                                       
It is considered that the erection of additional stables and the degree of permanency 
afforded by these structures would further intensify the use of the site which is already 

Page 61



considered as having limited capacity for expansion given the overall size of the site. This 
element of the proposal would therefore also be considered inappropriate and to cause 
harm to the openness and visual amenities of the Green Belt and landscape character of 
the surrounding Cotswold's AONB. The proposal for additional stables is therefore 
considered contrary to saved policy CP8 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core 
Strategy adopted July 2014 and paragraphs 87, 88, 89 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework March 2012.   
                                        
It is clear that the site represents a valuable local community facility by providing lessons 
to children. The riding school has been in operation for a number of years (as established 
by the CLEU) and currently the business is stated as supporting the full time employment 
of the applicant, a groom and one part-time apprentice. In this respect, the equestrian 
business may already be considered as developed and as positively contributing towards 
the efficient operation of the rural economy. Whilst the officer acknowledges the obvious 
capabilities of the applicant, the language of the business plan and design and access 
statement in respect of the creation of a private breeding establishment is considered to 
be largely speculative and aspirational. In this respect, the expansion or else reinvention 
of the application site into a private breeding and training facility with a 24hour on-site 
presence is considered to be a personal goal of the applicant rather than an essential 
functional or financial need of the rural enterprise / business. As previously stated, the 
principal function of the business is as a successful livery and riding stables that has 
operated for several years without on-site accommodation. Therefore, it is the officer's 
opinion that there is not a justifiable essential functional or financial need for a rural worker 
to live permanently at the site; nor is it considered appropriate for a permanent or 
temporary permission to be granted on the basis of developing one aspect of the current 
business (i.e. private breeding of competition horses).  
 
It has therefore been considered that the current proposal again seeks to introduce a new 
dwelling outside the defined Housing Development Boundary which is not deemed 
essential (as was the case with prior application 10/00737/FUL). The proposal would 
therefore result in an unsustainable form of development, contrary to saved policy HG.10 
of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan, including minerals and waste policies - 
adopted October 2007.  
 
Highways 
 
The Highways officer has recommended refusal of the application for the following 
reasons: 
 
o The proposal, located remote from services, employment opportunities and being 
unlikely to be well served by public transport, is contrary to the key aims of Policy T.1 of 
the Bath & North East Somerset Local Plan (including mineral and waste policies) 
Adopted October 2007; Policy 1 of the Bath and North East Somerset, Bristol, North 
Somerset and South Gloucestershire Joint Replacement Structure Plan; and the National 
Planning Policy Framework, which seeks to facilitate the use of sustainable modes of 
transport.  
 
o The increase in the use made of the Shockerwick Lane by traffic generated by the 
proposed development, would be prejudicial to road safety and therefore contrary to 
Policy T.24. 

Page 62



 
o The proposed plan has not demonstrated that an acceptable and adequate layout 
for the parking and turning of vehicles in connection with the proposed uses on the site 
can be provides. The proposal is therefore contrary to Policy.24.  
 
In addition, the Highways officer has stated that they are unconvinced by the statements 
on traffic generation levels provided within the Traffic Statement and therefore this 
information may be considered unreliable. It is considered that the levels of movement to 
and from site estimated within the Transport Statement may not be commensurate with 
similar facilities and it may assumed that an increase in horses to be accommodated on 
site will also increase the visits to the site by owners/riders/horses together with ancillary 
visits by vets/farriers/etc. In Highways opinion, the proposal would result in an 
unacceptable potential for increased traffic to and from the site using sub-standard access 
lanes which are narrow and steep (in places) without safe passing places.  
 
Notwithstanding the above assessment, officers have considered the issues raised and do 
not feel that a refusal on highway grounds could be substantiated. Further comments from 
the Highway officer have been sought but were not forthcoming at the time of drafting this 
report. These will be presented to the Committee by way of an update report. 
 
Impact upon landscape character and Green Belt 
 
With regards to the impact of the proposed dwelling on the Green Belt and surrounding 
Cotswolds AONB, the current proposal is similar to what was refused by the Council in 
2010 under application 10/00737/FUL. The principal of the 2010 refusal and the policy 
position remains unchanged and therefore the officer does not intend to repeat the 
material factors and considerations which have already been stated by the Council in this 
respect. It is deemed sufficient to state that the proposal would again seek to introduce a 
new dwelling and buildings on land designated as Green Belt and that therefore the 
proposal would represent inappropriate development within the Green Belt, which by 
definition is harmful. The proposal would once more seek to introduce new buildings onto 
a prominent and elevated site and as such would be considered as harmful to the 
openness, rural character and visual amenities of the area. Whilst the applicant has 
submitted a visual impact assessment in an attempt to address some of these concerns, 
the information and recommendation provided by this report is deemed insufficient. The 
report does not resolve the overriding fact the development would be located on a 
prominent and elevated site (despite existing vegetation) and it is not considered 
appropriate to employ further screening of the site as a ways of reducing its visual impact 
as this would be considered as further adversely affecting openness and character. The 
proposal therefore neither conserves nor enhances the character and local distinctiveness 
of the landscape. It is therefore considered the proposal is contrary to saved policies 
GB.2, NE.1 and NE.2 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan and contrary to 
draft policies GB.1 and NE.2 of the Placemaking Plan. 
 
Unlike the previous refused and withdrawn applications, the applicant has submitted a 
statement of very special circumstances (VSC) to demonstrate why they believe this 
scheme overcomes the presumption against inappropriate development in the Green Belt 
and thus why this application should be approved. The VSC case refers to several appeal 
decisions from other authorities where permission for similar schemes have been allowed. 
The VSC case also progresses the argument that there is an essential need for this 

Page 63



development on site and reiterates the business aspirations for the site arguing that its 
discrete location means the development will not be obtrusive in the landscape. These 
matters have already been considered and refuted above. Officers are of the view that the 
additional statements by the agent do not add anything further that has not already been 
considered. The applicant acknowledges that "'Very Special Circumstances' are generally 
perceived to be reasons that can only apply to the applicant and no one else, making 
them unique and exceptional to support the proposal." Officers would argue that the 
circumstances of this proposal are not exceptional having dealt with similar applications in 
other parts of the district (indeed the fact appeal decisions from other authorities have 
been provided to support the VSC case is indicative that the situation is not unique). 
 
Officers have considered the three appeal decision examples provided by the applicant 
however each case must be treated on its own individual planning merits. Of the three 
cases, only two are within the Green Belt and all proposed temporary not permanent 
accommodation on site. Two of the cases relate to sites that were operating with more 
horses than are currently at Applegate Stables and both were established businessed 
evidencing financial viability. Notwithstanding the submitted appeals, Officers remain of 
the view that no very special circumstances exist to outweigh the harm to the green belt. 
In forming this view, Officers have had regard to appeals that have been dismissed in 
respect of on-site accommodation to support horse related enterprises, including 
examples in the B&NES district. For example, Manor Farm, Chewton Keynsham where an 
appeal hearing was dismissed. In that particular case the Inspector stated "Local Plan 
policy HG.10 seek to strictly control residential development in the open countryside. One 
of the few circumstances in which isolated housing may be justified is when it is essential 
for full-time workers to live at their place of work, and both the above policies set out 
criteria which must be met. I have had particular regard to the advice in PPS 7 concerning 
temporary dwellings, which I accept can include rural based, non-agricultural occupational 
dwellings. This makes clear that whether housing is essential will depend on the specific 
needs of the enterprise and not on the personal preferences or circumstances of any of 
the individuals concerned. That case related to a well established livery in the green belt 
accommodating more horses than Applegate Stables. 
 
Conclusion 
 
In conclusion, after consideration of all relevant factors, the officer has reached the 
determination that the application should be refused for the reasons stated in this report. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

REFUSE 
 
REASON(S) FOR REFUSAL 
 
 1 The proposal seeks to introduce a new dwelling outside the defined Housing 
Development Boundary which is not deemed essential for agriculture, forestry or "other" 
rural based enterprise. It is not considered that there is a special need for the proposed 
accommodation for the efficient operation of the rural economy. The proposal would 
therefore result in an unsustainable form of development, contrary to saved policy HG.10 
of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan, including minerals and waste policies - 
adopted October 2007 and contrary to Draft Policy RE4 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Placemaking Plan, December 2015. 

Page 64



 
 2 The proposal to introduce a new dwelling and further stable buildings into the Green 
Belt would represent inappropriate development in the Green Belt, which by definition is 
harmful. No very special circumstances have been demonstrated to clearly outweigh the 
presumption against inappropriate development in the Green Belt. The proposal is 
therefore contrary to policy CP8 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy 
adopted July 2014 and paragraphs 87, 88, 89 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
March 2012. 
 
 3 The proposal would introduce new buildings onto an elevated site; would be harmful to 
the openness, rural character and visual amenities of the surrounding area and would 
result in an inappropriate intensification in use of the land. The proposal is therefore 
considered contrary to Saved Policies GB.2. NE.1 and NE.2 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Local Plan, including minerals and waste policies - adopted October 2007 and 
contrary to Policies GB.1 and NE.2 of the Draft Placemaking Plan, 2015 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
This decision relates to the submitted LOCATION PLAN; drawings AL(0)04 Rev A - 
EXISTING ELEVATIONS and AL(0)02 Rev A - EXISTING SITE PLA (both dated April 
2016 and submitted 05 September 2016); drawing AL(0)10 Rev B - PROPOSED SITE 
PLAN dated June 2014; drawing AL(0)11 Rev A - PROPOSED ELEVATIONS dated June 
2014, and drawing AL(0)12 - PROPOSED BUILDINGS dated July 2014 all submitted 19 
July 2016.  
 
The decision also relates to the submitted Design and Access Statement dated July 2016; 
Visual Impact Review dated July 2016; Transport Statement dated August 2016; and 
Business Plan dated June 2016 
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. Notwithstanding 
informal advice offered by the Local Planning Authority the submitted application was 
unacceptable for the stated reasons and the applicant was advised that the application 
was to be recommended for refusal. Despite this the applicant chose not to withdraw the 
application and having regard to the need to avoid unnecessary delay the Local Planning 
Authority moved forward and issued its decision. In considering whether to prepare a 
further application the applicant's attention is drawn to the original discussion/negotiation. 
 
 
 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



Bath & North East Somerset Council 

MEETING: Development Management Committee   

AGENDA 
ITEM 
NUMBER 

MEETING 
DATE: 

11th January 2017 

RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER: 

Mark Reynolds – Group Manager (Development 
Management) (Telephone: 01225 477079) 

TITLE: APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION  

WARDS: ALL 

BACKGROUND PAPERS:  

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

List of background papers relating to this report of the Group Manager, Development Management about applications/proposals for 
Planning Permission etc.  The papers are available for inspection online at http://planning.bathnes.gov.uk/PublicAccess/. 

[1] Application forms, letters or other consultation documents, certificates, notices, correspondence and all drawings submitted by 
and/or on behalf of applicants, Government Departments, agencies or Bath and North East Somerset Council in connection 
with each application/proposal referred to in this Report. 

[2] Department work sheets relating to each application/proposal as above. 

[3] Responses on the application/proposals as above and any subsequent relevant correspondence from: 

(i) Sections and officers of the Council, including: 

Building Control 
Environmental Services 
Transport Development 
Planning Policy, Environment and Projects, Urban Design (Sustainability) 
 

(ii) The Environment Agency 
(iii) Wessex Water 
(iv) Bristol Water 
(v) Health and Safety Executive 
(vi) British Gas 
(vii) Historic Buildings and Monuments Commission for England (English Heritage) 
(viii) The Garden History Society 
(ix) Royal Fine Arts Commission 
(x) Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 
(xi) Nature Conservancy Council 
(xii) Natural England 
(xiii) National and local amenity societies 
(xiv) Other interested organisations 
(xv) Neighbours, residents and other interested persons 
(xvi) Any other document or correspondence specifically identified with an application/proposal 
 

[4] The relevant provisions of Acts of Parliament, Statutory Instruments or Government Circulars, or documents produced by the 
Council or another statutory body such as the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan (including waste and minerals policies) 
adopted October 2007  

The following notes are for information only:- 

[1] “Background Papers” are defined in the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 do not include those disclosing 
“Exempt” or “Confidential Information” within the meaning of that Act.  There may be, therefore, other papers relevant to an 
application which will be relied on in preparing the report to the Committee or a related report, but which legally are not required 
to be open to public inspection. 

 

Page 67

Agenda Item 10



[2] The papers identified or referred to in this List of Background Papers will only include letters, plans and other documents 
relating to applications/proposals referred to in the report if they have been relied on to a material extent in producing the 
report. 

[3] Although not necessary for meeting the requirements of the above Act, other letters and documents of the above kinds 
received after the preparation of this report and reported to and taken into account by the Committee will also be available for 
inspection. 

[4] Copies of documents/plans etc. can be supplied for a reasonable fee if the copyright on the particular item is not thereby 
infringed or if the copyright is owned by Bath and North East Somerset Council or any other local authority. 

 

INDEX 

 
 

ITEM 
NO. 

APPLICATION NO. 
& TARGET DATE: 

APPLICANTS NAME/SITE ADDRESS 
and PROPOSAL 

WARD: OFFICER: REC: 
 

 
 
 

01 16/04615/FUL 
27 January 2017 

Bellway Homes Ltd 
Horseworld, Staunton Lane, 
Whitchurch, Bristol, Bath And North 
East Somerset 
Residential development of 97no 
dwellings with land reserved for early 
years provision and alterations to the 
front boundary wall of Staunton Manor 
Farm, Staunton Lane, Whitchurch. 

Publow And 
Whitchurch 

Rachel 
Tadman 

Delegate to 
PERMIT 

 
02 16/04629/FUL 

16 December 2016 
Simon James Homes 
Kielder, Church Lane, East Harptree, 
Bristol, Bath And North East Somerset 
Demolition of existing dwelling and 
erection of 4no dwelling with associated 
car parking, gardens and amenity space 

Mendip Tessa 
Hampden 

PERMIT 

 
03 16/02230/FUL 

15 July 2016 
Mr Andrew Spear 
10 Lymore Gardens, Twerton, Bath, 
Bath And North East Somerset, BA2 
1AQ 
Change of use from a 4 bed dwelling 
(use class C3) to a 4 bed house of 
multiple occupation (HMO) (Use class 
C4) 

Westmorela
nd 

Nikki Honan PERMIT 

 
04 16/05085/FUL 

12 December 2016 
Mr John Ridgeway 
44 St Clement's Road, Keynsham, 
Bristol, Bath And North East Somerset, 
BS31 1AF 
Demolition of existing garage and 
erection of 1no detached dwelling in its 
place. 

Keynsham 
South 

Nikki Honan REFUSE 

 
05 14/05836/FUL 

30 November 2016 
John Sainesbury & Co. 
Land Rear Of Yearten House, Water 
Street, East Harptree, Bristol,  
Erection of 8 dwellings and access. 

Mendip Christine 
Moorfield 

Delegate to 
PERMIT 

 

Page 68



06 16/05256/FUL 
18 January 2017 

Mr Nathan McKenna 
Avalon House, Fosseway, Dunkerton, 
Bath, Bath And North East Somerset 
Erection of wall and feather edged 
panelling fence between pillars 
following removal of old fence 
(Retrospective) (Resubmission) 

Bathavon 
West 

Robert 
Warren 

REFUSE 

 
07 16/04535/FUL 

20 January 2017 
Mr Tiley 
33 Parklands, High Littleton, Bristol, 
Bath And North East Somerset, BS39 
6LB 
Erection of a dwelling following 
demolition of the outbuilding 

High 
Littleton 

Samantha 
Mason 

PERMIT 

 

 

REPORT OF THE GROUP MANAGER, DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT ON 
APPLICATIONS FOR DEVELOPMENT 

 
 

Item No:   01 

Application No: 16/04615/FUL 

Site Location: Horseworld Staunton Lane Whitchurch Bristol Bath And North East 
Somerset 

 
 

Ward: Publow And Whitchurch  Parish: Whitchurch  LB Grade: II 

Ward Members: Councillor Paul May  

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Residential development of 97no dwellings with land reserved for 
early years provision and alterations to the front boundary wall of 
Staunton Manor Farm, Staunton Lane, Whitchurch. 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Airport Safeguarding Zones, Airport 
Safeguarding Zones, Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Agric Land Class 
3b,4,5, Coal - Standing Advice Area, Contaminated Land, Forest of 
Avon, Sites with Planning Permission, Greenbelt, Housing 

Page 69



Development Boundary, LLFA - Flood Risk Management, Public 
Right of Way, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Bellway Homes Ltd 

Expiry Date:  27th January 2017 

Case Officer: Rachel Tadman 

 
REPORT 
REASON FOR REPORTING APPLICATION TO COMMITTEE:  
 
This application forms part of the strategic housing site allocated under Policy RA5 of the 
Core Strategy and the Masterplan submission and the adjoining application at Lane East 
of The Mead, Queen Charlton Lane, Whichurch (Ref: 16/02055/FUL) were considered by 
Development Management Committee.  It is therefore considered appropriate for this 
application to also be considered by Committee at the request of the Development Group 
Manager. 
 
DESCRIPTION OF SITE AND APPLICATION: 
 
The site forms part of the strategic development site allocated under Policy RA5 of the 
Core Strategy but widely known as Horseworld. 
 
The overall Horseworld site is approx 7.65 ha in size and located to the South East of 
Whitchurch and is bound by existing residential development as well as Queen Charlton 
Lane, Staunton Lane and Sleep Lane.  The site includes land associated with the former 
HorseWorld visitor centre together with adjacent land to the East and South East.  At the 
North Western extent of the site are the historic buildings of Staunton Manor Farm, a 
Grade II listed building, along with various farm outbuildings.  The site also includes an 
area of industrial units off Staunton Lane at the North Eastern extent of the site. 
 
The site is generally open with relatively few trees but does have a number of hedgerows 
running across the site.  Public Footpath BA26/9 runs through the site from Staunton Lane 
in a southerly direction and then branches off to the East. 
 
The application under consideration concerns the northern part of the Horseworld site 
taking in the fields and more modern farm buildings.   
 
The application site is 3.65 ha in size. To the east of the site is an industrial depot, to the 
west are dwellings on the opposite side of Sleep Lane, to the north is Staunton Lane and 
the historic buildings forming Staunton Manor Farm and to the south are residential 
properties as well as the Barratts land.  Public Footpath BA26/9 runs through the site 
along the eastern boundary in an north-south direction. 
 
The proposal is for the erection of 97 dwellings formed with a mixture of 1, 2, 3 and 4 
bedroom dwellings. The dwellings are either 2, 2½ or 3 storeys in height. Off street 
parking is provided as well as visitor parking. 
 
Alterations to realign the curtilage listed front boundary wall of Staunton Manor Farm are 
also proposed in order to achieve an upgraded pedestrian route to and from Whitchurch 

Page 70



village.   A new plan showing a revised red line boundary has been submitted to include 
this element of the scheme.   
 
The site retains the existing hedgerows and trees within the site as far as possible with 
minor losses to create accesses through the hedges to the Barratt land.  
 
A locally equipped area of play (LEAP) is proposed as well as a rainwater attenuation 
pond.  Allotments are also to be provided. 
 
The site has two primary vehicle accesses, the first off Staunton Lane and the second off 
Sleep Lane.  The development will also comprise off site highway works to Staunton Lane 
to widen the pavements and install a zebra crossing.  Speed surveys are currently being 
carried out and, depending on the results, works may also be required to slow car speeds 
when approaching the site from the East by means of a build out and signage. 
 
Access will also be provided from Queen Charlton Lane via the wider Horseworld site 
once the adjoining Barratts site is developed.  For clarity this will mean that cars will be 
able to pass through the site in a north-south direction although, due to the design of the 
Queen Charlton Lane junction, they will not be able to turn left at this point through Queen 
Charlton village itself. 
 
The site includes an area of land safeguarded for the provision of an Early Years Facility 
to include sufficient outdoor space and parking. 
 
For clarification there are now three applications under consideration for the Horseworld 
site: 
 
16/04615/FUL - Horseworld, Staunton Lane, Whitchurch.  This is the application site and 
is known as the Bellway site. 
 
16/02055/FUL - Land to the East of The Mead, Queen Charlton Lane, Whitchurch 
(Development Management Committee considered this application in October 2016 and 
resolved to delegate to permit). The applicant is Barratts and is known as the Barratts site. 
 
16/03743/FUL and 16/03744/LBA - Horseworld, Staunton Lane, Whitchurch. The 
applicant is Whitecroft Developments Ltd and comprises the conversion of the six existing 
heritage farm buildings at Staunton Manor Farm into new dwellings. This site comprises 
the former visitor centre of Horseworld. This site is known as the Whitecroft site. This 
application is pending consideration. 
 
The Horseworld site also includes industrial units at the North East where there are no 
current plans for redevelopment. 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Highway Development Officer:  No objections subject to the following comments: 
 
Preliminary information to overcome previous objections has been received and on which 
the following comments have been provided.  Further detailed information will be required 
to agree the final details prior to the granting of planning permission: 
 

Page 71



o The re-alignment of Staunton Manor Farm front boundary wall would provide an 
acceptable pedestrian route into Whitchurch and an acceptable highways layout. 
o The principle of the access location and design onto Staunton Lane is considered 
acceptable as is the provision of a zebra crossing.  However, subject to a speed survey 
being carried out on Staunton Lane and its results being provided, a 'positive' speed 
reducing measure to slow westbound vehicles on the approach to the proposed zebra 
crossing may also be required.   
o The proposed roundabout access from Sleep Lane is acceptable. 
o Internal to the site all other concerns, subject to final details, have been overcome 
subject to conditions. 
 
Conditions will also be required along with obligations in a S106 agreement. 
 
Arboricultural Officer: No objections subject to conditions and with the following 
comments: 
 
o Pollarding of the Willow identified as T45 is acceptable in conjunction with the 
proposed planting of an Alder nearby.  
o Further information regarding the Ash tree to the rear of plot 44 has been provided 
which is acceptable. 
o The illustrative Early Years layout provides some confidence that tree planting 
should be possible around the boundary. 
o Planting proposals should include reinforcement and gap planting along the eastern 
boundary, referred to in previous comments.  
o The Urban Design comments made relating to street planting have been noted.  
o Planting within narrow paths and grass verges should be avoided, planting in 
trenches is preferable to small individual pits. 
o New planting must not simply be to replace numbers for those lost on site but also 
realise their multi-functional benefits. 
 
Landscape Officer:  Not acceptable in its current form.  The concerns raised mainly relate 
to detailed matters such as lack of detail and inaccuracies in the landscaping treatments 
shown on the plans etc. 
 
Parks and Open spaces:  No objections subject to amendments to the fence line bounding 
the allotments to include the surrounding areas under the trees within the allotments site.   
 
Conservation Officer:  Not acceptable in its current form. 
 
The development site is in close proximity to the historic Staunton Manor Farm that 
consists of the farmhouse, that has C17 origins, and agricultural buildings most of which 
are historic dating from the C17, C18, C19 and C20. The development site is also in close 
proximity to Manor Farm and Grey House to the north of the site both of which also have 
C17 origins.  
 
There are concerns that the development will: 
 
o Harm their setting and erode the rural context and character as a result of 
suburbanisation.  

Page 72



o The design and layout approach does not adequately reference or respect the 
setting of the historic buildings or their rural context. 
o The proposal encroaches on Staunton Manor Farm in particular without a buffer 
that could provide a more subtle and sensitive transition between the two. 
 
The negative impact on rural character which is intrinsically important for the setting of the 
listed buildings and historic settlement should be as limited as possible and mitigated 
through a more appropriate, sensitive, enhancing and bespoke contextual approach. 
 
Urban Designer: Not acceptable in its current form for the following reasons: 
 
o Early years building is not easily accessible on foot from Whitchurch itself 
o On plot parking means every pavement will be crossed by vehicular traffic.  On 
street parking is preferable to retain vehicular movement in roads rather than on 
pavements.   
o Planted verges and street trees would help prevent over dominance of cars and 
break up the extensive areas of asphalt, whilst also creating a pleasant environment to 
live in.  Street trees appear to be arbitrarily located in proposals, but could be part of a 
comprehensive design of the public realm particularly to reduce the dominance of 
highways. 
o The design of housing does not adequately reflect the local vernacular.   
o Some streets are poorly contained as frontages are fragmented rather than 
continuous.  Building lines are staggered, public open space lined with rear boundaries. 
o The approach to the natural habitat and allotment area of the site has been slightly 
improved though remains largely illegible as a threshold to a community facility. 
o There has been some attention to turning corners with legible buildings, however 
there are also areas where vistas are not satisfactorily completed such as by facing 
stacked parking spaces.   
o The pedestrian footpath lining the site to the east is interrupted with highways 
engineering.  This is a strong and positive feature of the site that requires further design 
development. 
 
Ecologist:  Not acceptable in its current form. 
 
Whilst the key features have been incorporated into the scheme, which is welcomed, the 
following concerns are raised: 
 
o The N-S Hedgerow is retained but is too narrow to enable the dark corridor and 
provide the level of biodiversity benefit committed to in the masterplan 
o The retained hedgerow along Sleep Lane is too narrow to be retained unharmed 
and to be reinforced as agreed in the masterplan  
o The attenuation pond is steep sided and does not demonstrate any connection with 
or link to the existing pond.  
o The provision of the E-W green link between the farm and the n-s hedgerow, as 
committed to in the masterplan, is on land showing planting within the "indicative early 
years area". This area needs to be separately provided and committed to as native tree 
and shrub planting 
o Excess light spill along one stretch of the eastern boundary hedgerow dark corridor, 
which results from the positioning of a single lamp at this point (near to the future access 
point).  

Page 73



 
Education Services:  No objection subject to contributions towards expansion of the 
school buildings at Whitchurch Primary school (off site), the purchase of sufficient 
additional adjacent land to the existing school site to allow the expansion of the school site 
and associated costs.  Contributions are also required for the provision of an early years 
facility to include purchase of the land and construction of the facility.   
 
Archaeologist:  No objections subject to conditions. 
 
Housing:  No objections subject to S106 obligations to deliver affordable housing. 
 
Waste Services:  Not acceptable in its current form due to: 
 
o Vehicle access concerns  
o Lack of tracking information  
o No reference to waste and recycling storage provision for any properties.  
o No evidence of a bin store for properties located to the east of the site  
 
Bristol Water:  No objections 
 
Wessex Water:  No objections. These proposals are formed in line with the agreed 
drainage strategy with Wessex Water. 
 
We note that provision is made to serve adjacent development with surface water 
connections and capacity. 
 
o Separate systems of drainage are provided to serve development proposals 
o Development of this site will require downstream improvements to the public sewer 
system.  These improvements will be carried out by Wessex Water under requisition 
arrangements and will maintain service levels by removing surface water discharges to 
the foul system. These works form agreed measures to mitigate the impact of additional 
foul flows discharging to the public sewer. 
o Sewers will be adopted by Wessex Water through a formal agreement 
 
Public Rights of Way Team:  No objections 
 
Drainage and Flooding:  Initial concerns have now been overcome and there are no 
objections subject to a condition. 
 
Contaminated Land:  No objections subject to conditions 
 
Avon and Somerset Police:  No objections subject to a comment regarding the design of 
the cycle store & bin store gate for the flats.  
 
Economic Development:  No objections subject to site specific targeted recruitment and 
training in construction obligations. 
 
Avon Fire and Rescue:  No objections subject to the cost of installation and five years 
maintenance of a total of 3no fire hydrants within the site being secured. 
 

Page 74



Whitchurch Parish Council:  Object for the following reasons: 
 
o Lack of information to demonstrate how the development encourages walking and 
cycle and provides a safe route to Whitchurch Primary school 
o Zebra crossing is in an unsafe location 
o Visitor parking spaces are not obvious on the plans 
o Parking provision does not comply with the Placemaking Plan.  Lack of on-site 
parking will have a harmful impact on highway safety 
o Lack of information regarding Early Years Facility 
o Harmful to highway safety due to impact of development on existing congested 
roads and junctions in the vicinity of the site particularly Staunton Lane and Sleep Lane 
o Construction management plan is required 
o Flooding to Sleep Lane 
 
OTHER REPRESENTATIONS / THIRD PARTIES 
 
Local Residents:  A total of 12 letters have been received, 2 of which make general 
comments and 10 raise objections.  The following concerns have been raised: 
 
o Harmful to highway safety, particularly additional traffic on Sleep Lane and 
Staunton Lane which are already heavily congested.  The walking routes to 
school/shops/facilities from this site are unsafe. Inaccurate information provided within the 
Transport Assessment and Travel Plan. 
o Loss of greenfield land 
o Lack of space in local schools 
o Piecemeal development, the impact of the whole Horseworld development needs to 
be considered 
o Local character has not been reflected in the layout and design with a particular 
lack of green space 
o Harmful impact on the character of the surrounding area including local businesses 
through increased noise and disturbance  
o Lack of public consultation event 
o Harm to ecology and lack of replacement tree planting 
o Potential flooding to other adjoining properties 
 
Local Member: Councillor Paul May has written to state that he has concerns relating to 
the following areas but, as long as they are addressed, he will not object to the proposals: 
 
o The safe access to Staunton Lane-road at the top of the site is achieved 
o Pedestrian safety and safe routes to the school are achieved 
o Adequate car parking arrangements for houses and visitors.  
o A potential for a bus route through the main site and the refuse lorries. 
o Retention of a community facility regardless of whether or not it is eventually 
needed as an Early Years Facility. 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY:    
 

Page 75



15/03406/CONSLT - AGREED - 17 December 2015 - Comprehensive Masterplan and 
Design Principles for the proposed redevelopment of the land at Whitchurch pursuant to 
Policy RA5 of the Bath & North East Somerset Core Strategy 2014. 
 
POLICY CONTEXT:  
 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The Core Strategy now forms part of the statutory Development Plan 
and will be given full weight in the determination of planning applications. The Council's 
Development Plan now comprises: 
 
o Bath & North East Somerset Core Strategy (July 2014) 
o Saved Policies from the Bath & North East Somerset Local Plan (2007) 
o Joint Waste Core Strategy 
 
The following policies of the Core Strategy are relevant to the determination of this 
application: 
 
o Policy DW1 - District Wide Spatial Strategy 
o Policy SD1 - Sustainable Development 
o Policy RA5 - Land at Whitchurch Strategic Site Allocation 
o Policy CP2 - Sustainable Construction 
o Policy CP3 - Renewable Energy 
o Policy CP5 - Flood Risk Management 
o Policy CP6 - Environmental Quality 
o Policy CP7 - Green Infrastructure 
o Policy CP9 - Affordable Housing  
o Policy CP10 - Housing Mix 
o Policy CP13 - Infrastructure Provision 
o Policy RA5 - Land at Whitchurch Strategic Allocation 
 
The following saved policies of the Bath and North East Local Plan, including minerals and 
waste policies, adopted October 2007 are also relevant: 
 
o Policy SC.1: Settlement classification 
o Policy SR.3: Provision of recreational facilities to meet the needs of new 
development 
o Policy CF.3 Contributions from new development to community facilities 
o Policy IMP.1 Planning Obligations 
o Policy D.2: General design and public realm considerations 
o Policy D.4: Townscape considerations 
o Policy NE.1: Landscape character 
o Policy NE.4: Trees and woodlands 
o Policy NE.10: Impact on Protected Species 
o Policy NE.12: Impact on Natural Features 
o Policy BH.2: Impact on listed buildings and their settings 
o Policy T.1: General Transport Policy 
o Policy T.24 and T26: General development control and access policy and parking 
 

Page 76



At the Council's Cabinet meeting on 2nd December 2015 the draft Placemaking Plan was 
approved for consultation purposes and also approved for Development Management 
purposes. The following policies are relevant and have substantial weight: 
 
o Policy SD1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
o Policy RA5 - Land at Whitchurch Strategic Site Allocation 
o Policy CP2 - Sustainable Construction 
o Policy CP3 - Renewable Energy 
o Policy SCR5 - Water Efficiency 
o Policy CP7 - Green Infrastructure 
o Policy CP9 - Affordable Housing 
o Policy CP10 - Housing Mix 
o Policy PCS5 - Contamination 
o Policy PCS7A - Foul sewage infrastructure 
 
The following policies are relevant and have limited weight: 
 
o Policy SRC1 - On site renewable energy requirement 
o Policy SU1 - Sustainable drainage 
o Policy D1, D2, D3, D4, D5, D6 - General design policies 
o Policy D7 - Infill and backland development 
o Policy HE1 - Historic environment 
o Policy NE2 and NE2A - Landscape character and setting 
o Policy NE3 - Protected Species 
o Policy NE5 - Ecological networks 
o Policy NE6 - Trees and woodlands 
o Policy PCS1 - Pollution and nuisance 
o Policy PCS2 - Noise and vibration 
o Policy PCS3 - Air Quality 
o Policy LCR2 - New or replacement community facilities 
o Policy LRC3A - Primary School Capacity 
o Policy ST1 - Sustainable Travel 
o Policy ST7 - Transport requirements for development 
 
Other Relevant Considerations (without limitation): 
 
o Planning Obligations SPD 
o National Planning Policy Framework 
o National Planning Practice Guidance 
 
The Council has a statutory requirement under Section 16(2) of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 in considering whether to grant listed building 
consent for any works to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building 
or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  
 
There is also duty under Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 in considering whether to grant planning permission for development 
which affects a listed building or its setting to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses. 

Page 77



 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
PRINCIPLE OF PROPOSED USE:  
 
The site is allocated under Policy RA5 of the Core Strategy as a housing site and 
therefore the proposed use of the site for residential housing is acceptable in principle. 
 
Policy RA5 sets out a number of different placemaking principles that need to be met to 
comply with the overall policy and which are considered throughout this report. 
 
In line with Policy RA5 a comprehensive Masterplan, jointly submitted by the 3 developers 
of the wider Horseworld site, was considered at Development Management Committee in 
December 2015.  At this meeting Members agreed the Masterplan in principle but did not 
agree the presumption to sever the vehicular North-South route through the site from 
Staunton Manor Lane/Sleep Lane to Queen Charlton Lane ref: 15/03406/CONSLT. 
 
The current application has followed the principles agreed within the Masterplan document 
and worked to address the concerns of Members with particular regard to the North-South 
route through the site which is now proposed to be kept open.   
 
Furthermore, in line with Policy RA5 the application proposes a total of 97 dwellings 
which, in conjunction with the two other applications on the Horseworld site, means that 
the site is on course to achieve around 200 dwellings as required.  With regard to the 
density, this site achieves a density of 39 dph, which is within the required 35-40 dph and 
is acceptable.  The provision of affordable housing is explained later in this report. 
 
DESIGN OF THE DEVELOPMENT AND IMPACT ON THE STREET SCENE AND 
SURROUNDING AREA: 
 
The overall layout of the scheme has been revised to take into account the comments of 
Officers.  Overall the design of the scheme and its layout is now considered to be 
acceptable.  The development uses a hierarchy of streets to divide the site into more 
private areas using cul-de-sacs but retaining a main thoroughfare running North-
Southwest between Staunton Lane and Sleep Lane and also North-South which will 
eventually link into the Barratts scheme to the South. 
 
The proposed dwellings form a mix of two, two and a half and three storey dwellings using 
relatively standard house build types. 
 
The proposed layout has taken care to retain the route of the existing PROW that runs in a 
North-South direction along the eastern boundary of the site which is considered to be 
acceptable.   
 
The layout has also been careful to provide pedestrian linkages throughout, taking 
advantage, in particular, of the existing green infrastructure running north-south within the 
site and achieves good quality environments for walking and a good level of permeability.  
There are links shown to both the Barratts development to the South/East and also to the 
Whitecroft land to the North.   
 

Page 78



Whilst the Urban Designer has raised a number of concerns in relation to location of 
parking spaces, parking between buildings, design and general layout of the scheme, it is 
considered that the revised plans have addressed many of these and those that have not 
been addressed do not justify refusal of the scheme.  Therefore, whilst there are some 
outstanding concerns it is considered that, overall, the design and layout of the scheme is 
not unacceptable and would not have a significant or unacceptably harmful impact on the 
character of the area.  
 
Overall the development is considered broadly in accordance with Policies D2 and D4 of 
the Local Plan. Whilst having limited weight the development is also considered to be 
broadly in accordance with Policies D1, D2, D3, D4 and D5 of the Placemaking Plan. 
 
IMPACT ON LISTED BUILDINGS:  
 
The proposed development is adjacent to the historic Staunton Manor Farm that consists 
of the Grade II listed farmhouse, that has C17 origins, and agricultural buildings most of 
which are historic dating from the C17, C18, C19 and C20. These buildings form the 
Whitecroft development and are proposed to be converted into dwelling houses. 
 
The development site is also in close proximity to Manor Farm and Grey House to the 
north of the site both of which also have C17 origins.  
 
There is a duty under Section 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990, when considering whether to grant listed building consent for any works, 
is to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any 
features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.   
 
There is also duty under Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 in considering whether to grant planning permission for development 
which affects a listed building or its setting to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses.  The application is considered below in light of these duties: 
 
The submitted Built Heritage Statement states that the context is semi-rural however the 
Conservation Officer is of the view that this is inaccurate as the context is actually 
regarded as rural.  In light of this it is his view that the rural context should be maintained 
not only as an important element of the setting of former farmhouses and agricultural 
buildings but also for the historic, rural settlement as a whole that this development will 
inevitably affect.  He is also of the view that, whilst the principle of development has been 
agreed, the negative impact on rural character which is intrinsically important for the 
setting of the listed buildings and historic settlement should be as limited as possible and 
mitigated through a more appropriate, sensitive, enhancing and bespoke contextual 
approach.  
 
The proposed development would abutt the farm buildings and the Conservation Officer is 
concerned that the proposed development will harm their setting and erode the rural 
context and character as a result of suburbanisation.  The comments of the Conservation 
Officer have been taken on board as far as possible and revised plans have been 
submitted to re-introduce a small area of landscaping as a buffer along the northern 
boundary of the site with Staunton Manor Farm.   

Page 79



 
Furthermore the layout and design of the dwellings abutting this area of the site have been 
redesigned to set them back and introduce natural stone walls around the gardens and 
public open space.  It is also proposed to amend the design of a few of the dwellings in 
this location to create a slightly different character of housing in this area. 
 
Overall it is considered that, subject to the agreement of final details, these revisions have 
resulted in an improved relationship between the proposed development and the existing 
historic farm buildings. It is acknowledged that they do not go as far as the Conservation 
Officer has requested they are nevertheless an improvement.   
 
Therefore whilst having regard to Section 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and paras 132 and 134 of the NPPF, it is considered that 
the development would have less than substantial harm to the setting of the listed building 
and its curtilage farm complex.  
 
With specific regard to Para 134 of the NPPF, the development would achieve substantial 
public benefits which would outweigh the harm.  The public benefits include: 
 
* Improved access for pedestrians to Whitchurch village 
* Delivery of around 200 dwellings as part of the strategic housing site 
* Facilitating vehicular and pedestrian access to Staunton Manor Farm and its curtilage 
farm complex 
* Facilitating the refurbishment, re-use and long term viability of the listed building and its 
curtilage farm complex  
 
The proposed development also now includes alterations to the boundary wall of the 
Grade II listed Staunton Manor Farm.  The alterations comprise the removal of a corner of 
the wall and its setting back by 0.45m away from Staunton Lane.  It proposed that the wall 
will be rebuilt to the same design, albeit it in a different location. 
 
These alterations are necessary to achieve an upgraded pedestrian pavement on the 
opposite side of Staunton Lane.  The pavement is currently very narrow and, in order to 
provide a safe pedestrian route to and from the site towards Whitchurch village, the 
pavement has been widened to 1.8m.  However this has exacerbated an existing pinch 
point and means that the road is now too close to the boundary wall of Staunton Manor 
Farm which is unacceptable in highway safety terms. 
 
Preliminary information has been provided to show the proposed location of the wall has 
been considered in full, including by the Conservation Officer.  Whilst it is disappointing 
that the symmetry of the existing front garden and boundary walls to Staunton Manor 
Farm will be affected by this alteration, the harm is considered to be less than substantial 
and it is considered that the public benefit, as detailed above, would outweigh the harm to 
the listed building.  
 
Final details are required to confirm the detailed design of the altered wall it is considered 
in principle acceptable, for reasons of pedestrian and highway safety, and the wider 
provision of the strategic housing site and also having regard to Section 16 and 66 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 
 

Page 80



An application for listed building consent for this element of the scheme has not yet been 
submitted but will be needed before the works can commence.   
 
The application is considered to be in accordance with Policy BH2 of the Local Plan.  
Although having limited weight, the development is not considered to be contrary to Policy 
HE.1 of the Placemaking Plan. 
 
IMPACT ON ECOLOGY: 
 
At the time of its submission the application was considered by the Council's Ecologist to 
be unacceptable in its current form.  Despite the submission of revised plans the Ecologist 
still maintains this view.  Further revised information has since been submitted to address 
these concerns although updated written comments from the Ecologist have not been 
received. 
 
The concerns relate to a number of areas which are outlined below: 
 
The south western corner of the site currently contains a pond and it is proposed to 
incorporate a new replacement wildlife pond into the attenuation pond in the same 
location.  Whilst the Ecologist is concerned that the pond is steep sided and does not 
demonstrate any connection with or link to the existing pond additional information has 
been provided to show that there are areas of the pond that have very shallow sides.  
 
There are concerns that whilst the North/South Hedgerow is shown to be retained it is too 
narrow to achieve the dark corridor for bats that was agreed at masterplan stage.  
Furthermore the retained hedgerow along Sleep Lane is also considered too narrow to be 
retained unharmed and to be reinforced as also agreed in the masterplan.  Whilst further 
information has been requested to address these concerns this has not been provided   
However it is nevertheless considered that, despite these concerns, which are echoed by 
the Landscape Officer below, are not sufficient to justify refusal of the scheme. 
 
Due to the presence of a bat roost in the Staunton Manor Farm complex forming part of 
the Whitecroft Development site, the scheme proposes an East-West green link to retain a 
route for bats between the farm buildings and the North-South hedgerow.  There were 
concerns that the level of tree provision within this area was insufficient but this has since 
been strengthened and is now shown outside of the Early Years Facility boundary. 
 
Due to the layout of the scheme, and the provision of an East-West link for bats which 
crosses one of the main roads within the development, excess light spill has raised 
concerns in relation to the impact on the bats.  Despite the submission of a number of 
revised lighting strategies, at the time of writing this report, this issue has not yet been 
resolved.  However having discussed this at length with both the Ecologist and the Street 
Lighting Engineer, there is some confidence that this can be resolved through further 
negotiation.   
 
Overall it is acknowledged that the concerns of the Ecologist have not been overcome, 
particularly in relation to the lack of reinforcement planting to the Sleep Lane and North-
South hedgerows.  However in this instance it is considered that these issues are not 
considered to justify refusal of the scheme. 
 

Page 81



Notwithstanding this, the outstanding concerns relating to the excess light spill and its 
impact on the bats do still need to be overcome as far as possible.  Officers are however 
confident that a technical solution can be achieved through further negotiation and that 
this should be delegated to Officers to agree an acceptable lighting scheme prior to the 
granting of planning permission.   
 
Overall it is considered that the development is in accordance with Policies NE.10 and 
NE.12 of the Local Plan and, although having limited weight the development is 
considered broadly in accordance with Policy NE3 and NE5 of the Placemaking Plan. 
 
GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE, LANDSCAPE AND TREES:   
 
As already mentioned above, the layout of the development has been careful to respect 
the existing green infrastructure, trees and hedgerows within the site. 
 
Within the South Western corner of the site is an attenuation pond which has been 
designed to form a more attractive feature and form a more valuable part of the Green 
Infrastructure. The attenuation pond includes a pond at the very bottom and has a path 
running round the edge for residents to use. 
 
The development also includes a locally equipped area of play (LEAP) incorporated on the 
south eastern area of the site located on the boundary with the adjoining Barratts land as 
agreed under the Masterplan.  The LEAP is located in front of a number of dwellings 
within the Barratts development meaning it will have good levels of natural surveillance 
and is in a good location central to the wider horseworld site.   
 
Unfortunately, as a result of this development coming forward as a wider site the LEAP is 
located on the boundary meaning Bellway will provide half and Barratts the other half.  
This is not ideal and will appear a little odd if the Barratts 'half' is not provided in a timely 
manner, however as an area of play it will be of adequately sized and equipped for the 
size of the Bellway development.  The delivery of the LEAP will form an obligation within a 
S106 legal agreement. 
 
Allotments are also proposed adjacent to the LEAP for which a detailed layout has now 
been provided and is considered to be acceptable subject to some minor amendments. 
 
The layout of the site to the south, adjacent to the LEAP, has been amended to improve 
the access to the LEAP and the allotments, which is also now considered acceptable.  
 
The Landscape Officer has raised a number of concerns but these are mainly detailed 
design issues which can be resolved through the submission of revised plans. 
 
With specific regard to trees concerns were previously expressed about the impact of the 
works to provide the attenuation pond on an existing Willow tree identified as T45.  There 
is a risk that the Willow will be lost as a result of the works but works to pollard this tree 
should reduce this risk but in any case it is also proposed to plant of an Alder nearby as a 
replacement should the Willow die. 
 
Previous concerns in relation to the impact of an existing Ash tree to the rear of plot 44 
have been clarified following the submission of a cross section plan.  The Arboricultural 

Page 82



Officer is now of the view that, whilst the overhang and proposed reduction shown on this 
section is still of concern, particularly as it is in third party ownership, it is nevertheless 
accepted that the tree is not an appropriate candidate for a Tree Preservation Order and 
that future occupants of plot 44 would be able to reduce or remove the overhang under 
common law rights. 
 
A plan showing an indicative layout of the Early Years Facility has been submitted which 
provides some confidence that tree planting should be possible around the facility 
provided that the footprint does not substantially alter or increase in subsequent 
applications. 
 
Notwithstanding the above, there are outstanding concerns in relation to provision of 
reinforcement and gap planting to strengthen the eastern hedgerow and the provision of 
street trees among other issues.  Whilst some improvements to the scheme have been 
achieved not all of the outstanding concerns have been resolved.  However, overall, it is 
considered that the proposed development, subject to some detailed design issues being 
resolved, is acceptable. 
 
Overall it is considered that the development is in accordance with Policy CP7 of the Core 
Strategy and Policies NE.1, NE.4 and NE.12 of the Local Plan and, although having 
limited weight, the development is considered broadly in accordance with Policy NE2 and 
NE2A of the Placemaking Plan. 
 
IMPACT ON RESIDENTIAL AMENITY:  
 
The proposed dwellings have been laid out so that they would not have a harmful impact 
on the residential amenity of the occupiers of the neighbouring development sites, existing 
neighbouring residents or residents within the development itself. 
 
This is with the exception of plot 44 where, as stated above, concerns have been 
expressed that the overhang of an existing Ash tree in third party ownership would have a 
harmful impact on the residential amenity of the future occupiers.  The impact of the tree, 
once pruned back, has been clarified following the submission of cross section plans and 
whilst it is still considered to have some impact it is not so significant as to justify refusal of 
the scheme on this point.  Furthermore the future occupiers would be able to reduce or 
remove the overhang under common law rights if the tree was considered a problem in 
the future. 
 
Overall the development is considered broadly in accordance with Policy D2 of the Local 
Plan. Whilst having limited weight the development is also considered to be broadly in 
accordance with Policies D6 of the Placemaking Plan. 
 
PLANNING OFFICER ASSESSMENT OF HIGHWAY ISSUES:  
 
The proposed development includes the two main accesses to the site from the 
surrounding highway network along with the provision of wider upgrading of the highway 
to provide an improved access between the site and Whitchurch village by pedestrians.  
The proposal would also provide access to the Barratts development to the south and also 
a future access to the remaining part of the RA5 strategic housing site to the east, 
currently an industrial site. 

Page 83



 
The first access to the site to be considered is off Sleep Lane.  This would emerge 
opposite the existing major-minor 'priority' junction serving the approved Barratt 
development on the west side of Sleep Lane. The four-arm junction created would be 
changed to a mini-roundabout type which is considered to be acceptable with detailed 
design to be approved as part of a Section 278 Agreement. 
 
Sleep Lane is however currently subject to the national 60mph speed limit, albeit that the 
narrowness of the road and poor visibility leads to cars driving much slower, and min-
roundabouts are only permissible where the speed limit is 30mph or less.  In light of this, 
in addition to the provision of the mini-roundabout, a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) will 
also be required to reduce the speed limit and which will need to be in place before the 
mini-roundabout is brought into use. 
 
The second access is on Staunton Lane where it is now proposed to provide a simple T 
junction into the site along with a zebra crossing, widening of the pedestrian footway on 
the northern side of Staunton Lane which also requires changes to the Staunton 
Lane/Sleep Lane junction. 
 
Whilst, in principle the design approach to this junction is now considered to be acceptable 
there are some outstanding detailed design issues that need to be resolved before 
planning permission can be granted.  There are two main concerns, the first is the speeds 
on Staunton Lane in the vicinity of the proposed zebra crossing and the second is a 'pinch 
point' on the Staunton Lane/Sleep Lane junction. 
 
Firstly in relation to the zebra crossing, there are concerns that, when approaching the site 
from the east, Staunton Lane has the character of a somewhat rural road where, although 
the speed limit is 30mph, speeds in excess of 30mph may have an impact on visibility and 
stopping distances.  Speed surveys are therefore necessary to understand whether or not, 
in the event that speeds are above 30mph, additional 'positive' speed reducing measures 
are required to slow westbound vehicles on the approach to the proposed zebra crossing. 
 
A speed survey is being carried out at the time of writing this report and its results will 
dictate whether or not additional speed reducing measures are required.  In the event that 
further measures are necessary, there is some discussion ongoing between Highways 
and the Applicant's Highways consultants as to what this measure would involve but 
Officers are satisfied that a solution is available subject to further negotiation and 
submission of revised details.  This matter should therefore be delegated to Officers to 
resolve before granting planning permission. 
 
Secondly, in order to provide an upgraded and widened pedestrian footway on the 
northern side of Staunton Lane, some revisions have been needed to the Staunton 
Lane/Sleep Lane junction.  Due to a pinch point on the Staunton Lane arm of the junction 
it has become necessary to alter the curtilage listed front boundary wall of Staunton Manor 
Farm to move it away from the road by 0.45m along with the relocation of two telegraph 
poles.  This not only achieves a safe junction for vehicles but also provides a 1.8m wide 
pedestrian footway.  Whilst some further detailed information with regard to its detailed 
design and swept path drawings are still required, Officers are satisfied that the proposed 
junction and pavement improvements are acceptable. 
 

Page 84



Further to this, in terms of the integration of the proposed development into the 
neighbouring area and the provision of direct access to existing facilities, including 
schools, the proposed development will deliver improved pedestrian routes both to and 
from Whitchurch village which is a significant benefit to both the scheme and Whitchurch 
itself. 
 
With regard to the internal layout of the site the Highways Development Officer has 
previously raised concerns in relation to visibility, swept path analysis and footway 
provision.  In the main these issues have now been overcome subject to the provision of 
further detailed information.  These outstanding details can be delegated to Officers to 
agree prior to the granting of planning permission.   
 
Similar to the Barratts scheme, concerns have been raised by residents and Whitchurch 
Parish Council that the development will increase vehicle movements within the area, 
particularly Sleep Lane, which will have a significant harmful impact on highway safety.  
Whilst the development will undoubtedly increase highway movements and will have an 
impact on Sleep Lane as well as the surrounding highway network, the site is allocated for 
housing and therefore some impact has to be expected.  In this regard the Highways 
Development Officer has raised no objections to the scheme and therefore the impact on 
the surrounding highway network is considered to be acceptable. 
 
In terms of parking provision within the development it is considered that the levels 
proposed are acceptable and are in accordance with Policy T24 of the Local Plan. 
 
Overall, the views of Whitchurch Parish Council as well as local residents have been 
considered in full, it is acknowledged that many of their concerns are still outstanding, it is 
considered that the overall development is acceptable in highway safety terms subject to 
the final outstanding details outlined above, appropriately worded conditions and a S106 
legal agreement to provide: 
 
Off site highway improvements to Staunton Lane and Sleep Lane to include a mini 
roundabout, zebra crossing, widening of pavements and amendments to the Staunton 
Lane/Sleep Lane junction including (TRO's) to reduce the speed limit on Sleep Lane. 
 
Overall the development is considered broadly in accordance with Policies T1 and T24 of 
the Local Plan. Policies ST1 and ST7 of the Placemaking Plan are relevant to this 
application although they have limited weight.  In terms of Policy ST7 the level of parking 
provision is lower than that required by the policy but again it has limited weight. 
 
DRAINAGE AND FLOODING: 
 
The application includes a drainage scheme that will deal with its own drainage but also 
that of the neighbouring Whitecroft and Barratt's developments.   
 
The drainage scheme includes the provision of a large attenuation pond adjacent to Sleep 
Lane and Sleep Lane junction and would then join into the existing Wessex Water system 
on Sleep Lane. 
 
Wessex Water will only allow a total rate of 70 l/s to be discharged into their system and 
therefore care has been needed to ensure that each development's discharge is 

Page 85



proportioned and that the overall allowance is not exceeded.  The Drainage and Flooding 
Team are satisfied that the rates of discharge will be within those set by Wessex Water. 
 
Officers are aware that Sleep Lane recently flooded during a period of heavy rain and that 
residents are concern that this development will exacerbate existing flooding problems.  
However as the information submitted has been considered acceptable to the Drainage 
and Flooding Team Officers are satisfied that, whilst the development will not prevent 
flooding from occurring, it will not increase flooding within the local area over and above 
that which is already existing. 
 
In light of the above it is considered that the submitted drainage scheme, subject to 
conditions, is acceptable and would adequately deal with the drainage requirements for 
this site.   
 
Overall the development is considered in accordance with Policy CP5 of the Core Strategy 
and Policy SU1 of the Placemaking Plan although this has limited weight. 
 
PROVISION OF SCHOOL PLACES AND EARLY YEARS FACILITY: 
 
At the time the Horseworld site was allocated under Policy RA5 of the Core Strategy it 
was acknowledged that, in order to accommodate the primary school age children from 
the development, Whitchurch Primary School would need to be expanded and land 
provided to enlarge the school site. 
 
Since then, and in order to achieve the expansion of Whitchurch Primary school, Officers 
have been working on a solution.  In light of this, plans are in place to expand Whitchurch 
Primary School by 105 places and to expand the school site through the acquisition of an 
additional area of land at the rear of the exiting school site. 
 
Therefore contributions are required as an obligation of a S106 legal agreement to expand 
the school, purchase the additional land necessary and also cover any legal/administrative 
costs in doing this.  This has been calculated using a proportionate approach to ensure 
that each development within the wider Horseworld site makes an equal and fair 
contribution proportionate to the need generated.   
 
Whitchurch has also been identified as an area of childcare insufficiency and as such the 
provision of an additional Early Years facility on the Horseworld site was included within 
Policy RA5 of the Core Strategy in order to accommodate the children generated by this 
development.  
 
Planning permission has been granted for a new Early Years facility to open in 
Whitchurch, which may be sufficient to meet this need. It was anticipated that the facility 
would be open and in operation by the time the first application on the Horseworld site 
was granted planning permission thereby overcoming the need for an on-site provision.  
However it is understood that the facility is not likely to open until April 2017 at the earliest 
and therefore an on site provision is required to meet the needs of this development. 
 
An area of land to accommodate the Early Years facility has been identified in the 
Whitchurch Masterplan and is also being proposed as part of this scheme which is 
considered to be acceptable.   

Page 86



 
As the Early Years facility is located within the current application site contributions are 
therefore required to purchase the land, calculated to ensure that each development 
within the wider Horseworld site makes an equal and fair contribution proportionate to the 
need generated.   
 
In addition to contributions towards the land, a capital contribution to build the facility is 
also required, again this is to be proportionate to the need generated by each 
development.  At the present time the final figures for contributions are not available but, 
once finalised, will form part of an obligation within a S106 legal agreement. 
 
In this respect the development is considered in accordance with Policy RA5 of the Core 
Strategy and whilst it has limited weight, is also in accordance with Policy LCR2 of the 
Placemaking Plan. 
 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING: 
 
Placemaking Principle 1 requires that 'residential development (to include 40% affordable 
housing) of around 200 dwellings, in the plan period.  The site should be developed at an 
average density of 35-40dph.' 
 
The application includes the provision of 40% affordable Housing contribution within the 
development which is considered to comply with Policy CP9 of the Core Strategy.  This 
will result in a total provision of 39 dwellings comprising a mixture of 1 bed apartments and 
2, 3 and 4 bedroom houses.  They are clustered throughout the development and also 
include a number of wheelchair user dwellings. 
 
Notwithstanding the above it was previously understood that the Horseworld site, 
collectively, would need to provide 40% affordable housing.  However it has always been 
acknowledged that the Whitecroft site would not be able to provide on site affordable 
housing due to the size of the site and the fact it comprises the redevelopment of barns 
which Registered Provider's (RP's) would be unlikely to accept.  A potential solution to this 
shortfall would have either been that that the Whitecroft development paid a commuted 
sum or that the Bellway and Barratts development in effect 'over-provide' to make up the 
shortfall. 
 
However, in the meantime, due to changes to the NPPG, which have been upheld in the 
High Court, the Whitecroft development is no longer required to provide affordable 
housing under the small sites policy within Policy CP9 of the Core Strategy as the site is 
too small and provides too few dwellings. 
 
The Housing Officer has, however, raised concerns that there is a lack of adequate 
parking provision for the 2 bed affordable dwellings meaning that tenure blindness is not 
achieved.  However the Agent has confirmed that this issue can be resolved by the 
submission of revised plans. 
 
Therefore, subject to the provision of revised plans showing an acceptable level of parking 
provision for the 2 bed affordable dwellings it is considered that the scheme is providing a 
policy compliant 40% affordable housing scheme and is overall acceptable. 
 

Page 87



In this respect the development is considered in accordance with Policy CP9 and CP10 of 
the Core Strategy. 
 
SUSTAINABILITY AND RENEWABLE ENERGY:   
 
The development incorporates a number of sustainable design features such as: 
 
Sustainable Urban Drainage System and attenuation pond 
Internal specifications to achieve reduced water use 
Passive design and orientation of many dwellings to achieve solar gain 
Double glazing 
Low impact construction materials 
 
These are considered acceptable and broadly in accordance with Policy CP2 of the Core 
Strategy.  Policy SU1 and SCR5 of the Placemaking Plan are also relevant.  Whilst Policy 
SU1 has limited weight, Policy SCR5 has substantial weight and the applicant has been 
asked for additional information to show compliance with this policy. 
 
REFUSE COLLECTION:   
 
A waste management plan has been submitted as part of the application and which has 
since been revised to address the initial concerns of the Waste Management Team.  
Revised comments have not yet been received although it is considered highly likely that 
the concerns have been addressed and, if not, can be addressed through minor 
amendments to the scheme. 
 
CONCLUSION: 
 
The application is one of three currently under consideration to develop the land known as 
Horseworld and allocated for residential development under Policy RA5 of the Core 
Strategy.  This application concerns the northern part of the site.   
 
The proposal is for the erection of 97 dwellings which comprise relatively standard house 
types on a hierarchical street layout.    A locally equipped area of play is proposed, as well 
as an attenuation pond. 
 
In line with Policy RA5 of the Core Strategy a Masterplan has already been agreed by 
Development Management Committee although the severing of the north-south vehicular 
route through the site was not agreed.  The Masterplan was a high level agreement which 
agreed the principles of the development ie. the highway access, general layout of the 
development and provision of open space and green infrastructure. 
 
The application as submitted generally follows the masterplan layout and the overall 
design and layout is considered to be acceptable.  The layout generally respects the 
green infrastructure and incorporates footpaths along the North-South hedgerow.  The 
PROW running north to south along the eastern boundary of the site is retained on its 
existing route to the satisfaction of the PROW team. 
 
The site proposes two primary vehicle accesses, the first off Staunton Lane and the 
second off Sleep Plan.  Vehicular access will also eventually be provided through the 

Page 88



wider Horseworld site from Queen Charlton Lane to the south once the adjoining site is 
developed.   
 
In terms of the integration of the development into the wider village of Whitchurch and 
access to its facilities, this application makes a significant contribution. It will achieve 
upgraded pedestrian access along Staunton Lane towards Whitchurch village and along 
with good quality links across the Horseworld site as a whole.   
 
The proposal provides a policy compliant scheme of 40% affordable housing with a range 
of different dwelling types being provided as well as adequate parking. 
 
The proposed development has been met with concerns from the Conservation Officer 
that the design and layout of the development does not adequately respect or reflect the 
setting of the historic buildings adjacent or the rural area within which it sits.  In response 
revised plans have been submitted to improve the relationship through the provision of a 
small landscape buffer, amendments to dwelling design, layout of parking and the 
provision of front boundary walls to dwellings and an adjacent area of open space.   
 
Furthermore, in order to provide a safe pedestrian route to Whitchurch village the front 
boundary wall to Staunton Manor Farm is proposed to be re-aligned away from the 
boundary with the highway by 0.45m.  The boundary wall is curtilage listed and an 
application for listed building consent will be required separately. 
 
Overall, whilst it is acknowledged that the revised scheme resolves some but not all of the 
concerns of the Conservation Officer, nevertheless, having regard to Section 16 and 66 of 
the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, the proposals are 
considered to be acceptable. 
 
The proposed development includes a package of highway proposals to both gain access 
to the site from Sleep Lane and Staunton Lane as well as upgrading the existing highway 
network to provide improved pedestrian access to and from Whitchurch village and the 
local facilities it contains. 
 
In simple terms the highways improvements include an access off Sleep Lane with the 
provision of a mini roundabout.  At Staunton Lane a T junction access will be provided 
along with a zebra crossing and potentially further speed reducing measures as 
considered necessary as a result of speed surveys to be submitted.  The Staunton 
Lane/Sleep Lane junction is also to be improved with a widened pavement leading from 
the site into Whitchurch which has necessitated the re-alignment of the listed front 
boundary wall of Staunton Manor Farm.  Internal to the site the layout is now considered 
to be acceptable.   
 
However, notwithstanding the above there are outstanding details in relation to both off 
site and on site highway works that need to be agreed prior to the granting of planning 
permission although these can be delegated to Officer to resolve.  Overall, subject to the 
agreement of the outstanding issues, it is considered that the package of highway 
improvements is considered to be acceptable and is in accordance with Policy T24 of the 
Local Plan. 
 
 

Page 89



The scheme has resulted in numerous concerns being raised by the Ecologist, some of 
which have been overcome by the submission of revised information.  However there are 
outstanding concerns from Consultees, including the Ecologist, in relation to the lack of 
reinforcement planting and narrowness of the North-South hedgerow and the Sleep Lane 
hedgerow.  Unfortunately these concerns have not been resolved but are not considered 
so significant as to justify the refusal of the scheme. 
 
The Ecologist is also concerned about excessive light spill within certain areas of the 
development that would have a harmful impact on bats using the site as a foraging area.  
At the time of writing this report these concerns have not been resolved but Officers are 
confident that an acceptable solution can be achieved and the resolution of this issue 
should therefore be delegated to Officers to negotiate. 
 
Despite initial concerns of the Arboricultural Officer the submission of revised plans has 
resolved many of the concerns and there are now no objections subject to conditions. 
 
In terms of residential amenity, overall the proposal would have an acceptable impact on 
the amenity of both future and existing occupiers.  There are outstanding concerns in 
relation to the impact of an existing Ash tree in third party ownership on the amenity of the 
future residents of Plot 44 but these are not so significant as to justify refusal of the 
proposed development.  Furthermore the future owners could carry out further pruning 
works under common law rights to improve the situation further if they so required. 
 
The scheme provides a good level of open space, allotments and play space in 
accordance with the agreed masterplan.  The green infrastructure is of an acceptable 
quality with paths running throughout the site allowing future residents access to public 
open space and permeability.  There are outstanding concerns from consultees in relation 
to the low level provision of street trees among other things, however notwithstanding 
these, it is still considered, overall, that the development is acceptable.  
 
Overall it is considered that, subject to the receipt of the outstanding information, 
additional conditions as considered necessary and a S106 agreement, the proposed 
development is acceptable and is in accordance with the policies within the Core Strategy, 
particularly Policy RA5, Local Plan and are broadly in line with the Placemaking Plan 
policies albeit with limited weight. 
 
For clarity a S106 legal agreement is required to ensure that contributions and other 
obligations in relation to landscape and open space, affordable housing, highways, fire 
hydrants and education, as well as targeted recruitment and training are achieved.  
Officers are currently negotiating the wording of a S106 legal agreement and therefore the 
recommendation is delegate to permit subject to the receipt of an acceptable agreement. 
 
The inclusion of works to the front boundary wall of Staunton Manor Farm has required a 
new red line plan to be submitted and the application description to be amended.  The 
application has therefore been readvertised, reconsulted on and a new site notice erected 
with regard to this specific change.  The expiry date for comments to be submitted is after 
the date of Committee so, whilst any comments received beforehand will be reported to 
Committee in an update report, any further comments will be considered later and the 
application returned to Committee if any legitimate planning concerns are raised that have 
not otherwise been considered in the report above. 

Page 90



 

RECOMMENDATION 

Delegate to PERMIT 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 0 Subject to: 
 
A)     The expiry of the application consultation period and the receipt of local 
representations raising no new valid planning issues that have not already been 
considered above. 
 
B)     The submission of further acceptable information including: 
 
1. Details relating to the turning of refuse vehicles and location of bin collection points. 
2. Revised plans showing an acceptable level of parking provision for the 2 bed 
affordable dwellings. 
3. No adverse comments being received from the Waste Management Team in 
relation to the revised Waste Management Strategy. 
4. Amended plans to resolve the detailed design issues surrounding landscape and 
allotment layout. 
5. The submission of a lighting scheme that is considered to have an acceptable 
impact on bats. 
6. The submission of final details as outlined above regarding to speed survey results 
on Staunton Lane, any additional speed reducing measures considered necessary, 
internal highway design and Staunton Lane/Sleep Lane junction revisions. 
 
C) Authorise the Group Manager - Development Management, in consultation with the 
Planning and Environmental Law Manager, to enter into a section 106 agreement to 
provide the following: 
  
1. Landscape and Open space: 
Provision of open space, LEAP and long term management  
Provision and long term management of allotments 
 
2. Highways:  
Off site highway improvements to Staunton Lane and Sleep Lane to include a mini 
roundabout, zebra crossing, widening of pavements and amendments to the Staunton 
Lane/Sleep Lane junction including (TRO's) to reduce the speed limit on Sleep Lane. 
 
3. Affordable Housing: 
40% affordable housing provision on site 
 
4. Fire Hydrants:  Financial contribution to cover the cost of installation and five years 
maintenance of a total of 5no fire hydrants  
 
5. Education:  
Primary School Provision: 
The capital contribution for the expansion of the school buildings at Whitchurch Primary 
school (off site) calculated on the basis of £12,754.80 per pupil x 27.60 pupils = 

Page 91



£352,032.48 contribution required.  A contribution towards associated costs i.e. legal 
costs, land valuation etc is also required. 
The capital contribution for the purchase of sufficient additional adjacent land to the 
existing school site to allow the expansion of the school site. The independent valuation 
for the land at the rear of Whitchurch Primary school values this at £21,500.00. Divided by 
the overall dwellings allocated within the Whitchurch Strategic Housing site = £105.91 per 
dwelling x 97 dwellings = £10,273.27 
Early Years Provision: 
Early Years land contribution - 0.1094ha on site and/or contributions 
Capital contribution to EY building -48.92%  
Final figures to be confirmed 
 
6. Targeted Recruitment and Training: 
14 x work placements 
2 x apprenticeships 
2 x new jobs advertised through DWP 
£7,040 contribution 
 
D) And grant planning permission with conditions as listed below, provided they have not 
been addressed prior to a decision, along with further conditions arising from the 
additional information submitted above as considered appropriate by Officers: 
 
 1 Standard Time Limit (Compliance) 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) and to avoid the accumulation of unimplemented planning permission 
 
 2 Flood Risk and Drainage - Detailed Drainage Strategy (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall commencement (other than site clearance, investigation or 
remediation) until a detailed drainage strategy based on the submitted FRA and drawing 
B621/3 rev Q has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The drainage strategy should contain: 
o drawings of the proposed drainage network  
o detailed drawings of the flow control chamber and attenuation features; supporting 
calculations demonstrating performance of the system up to and including the critical 
1in100 year climate change event;  
o a maintenance schedule for any un-adopted element of the drainage system 
demonstrating how such elements will be maintained for the life of the development.  
 
Reason: To ensure that an appropriate method of surface water drainage is installed and 
in the interests of flood risk management in accordance with Policy CP5 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Core Strategy. This is a condition precedent because it is necessary 
to understand whether soakaways are appropriate prior to any initial construction works 
which may prejudice the surface water drainage strategy. 
 
 3 Archaeology - Field Evaluation (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall commence until the applicant, or their agents or successors in title, 
has secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance 

Page 92



with a written scheme of investigation which has first been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The programme of archaeological work should 
provide a field evaluation of the site to determine date, extent, and significance of any 
archaeological deposits or features, and shall be carried out by a competent person and 
completed in accordance with the approved written scheme of investigation. 
 
Reason: The site is within an area of potential archaeological interest and the Council will 
wish to evaluate the significance and extent of any archaeological remains.  This is a 
condition precedent because archaeological remains and features may be damaged by 
the initial development works. 
 
 4 Archaeology - Presentation of Field Evaluation Results (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall commence until the applicant, or their agents or successors in title, 
has presented the results of the archaeological field evaluation to the Local Planning 
Authority, and has secured the implementation of a subsequent programme of 
archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has first 
been agreed and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The agreed 
programme of archaeological work shall be carried out by a competent person and 
completed in accordance with the approved written scheme of investigation. 
 
Reason: The site is within an area of potential archaeological interest and the Council will 
wish record and protect any archaeological remains.  This is a condition precedent 
because archaeological remains and features may be damaged by the initial development 
works. 
 
 
 5 Archaeology - Post Excavation and Publication (Pre-occupation) 
The development shall not be brought into use or occupied until the applicant, or their 
agents or successors in title, has secured the implementation of a programme of post-
excavation analysis in accordance with a publication plan which has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The programme of post-
excavation analysis shall be carried out by a competent person(s) and completed in 
accordance with the approved publication plan, or as otherwise agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: The site has produced significant archaeological findings and the Council will 
wish to publish or otherwise disseminate the results.   
 
 6 Arboricultural Method Statement (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall take place until a Detailed Arboricultural Method Statement with 
Tree Protection Plan following the recommendations contained within BS 5837:2012 has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and details 
within the approved document implemented as appropriate. The final method statement 
shall incorporate a provisional programme of works; supervision and monitoring details by 
an Arboricultural Consultant and provision of site visit records and certificates of 
completion to the local planning authority. The statement should also include the control of 
potentially harmful operations such as the storage, handling and mixing of materials on 
site, burning, location of site office, service run locations including soakaway locations and 
movement of people and machinery. 

Page 93



Reason: To ensure that trees to be retained are not adversely affected by the 
development proposals in accordance with policy NE.4 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Local Plan and CP7 of the Core Strategy. This is a condition precedent because 
the works comprising the development have the potential to harm retained trees. 
Therefore these details need to be agreed before work commences. 
 
 
 7 Compliance with Arboricultural Method Statement and Certificate of Compliance 
(Bespoke Trigger) 
No development or other operations shall take place except in complete accordance with 
the approved Arboricultural Method Statement. A signed certificate of compliance shall be 
provided by the appointed arboriculturalist to the local planning authority on completion 
and prior to the first occupation of the dwellings. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the approved method statement is complied with for the duration 
of the development. 
 
 8 Sample Panel - Walling (Bespoke Trigger) 
No construction of the external walls of the development shall commence until a sample 
panel of all external walling materials to be used has been erected on site, approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority, and kept on site for reference until the 
development is completed. The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the 
approved details. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area 
in accordance with Policies D.2 and D.4 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan 
and Policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy. 
 
 9 Roofing Materials (Bespoke Trigger) 
No construction of the roof of the development shall commence until a sample of all 
external roofing materials has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with 
the approved details. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area 
in accordance with Policies D.2 and D.4 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan 
and Policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy. 
 
10 Contaminated Land - Investigation and Risk Assessment (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall commence until an investigation and risk assessment of the nature 
and extent of contamination on site and its findings has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  This assessment must be undertaken by a 
competent person, and shall assess any contamination on the site, whether or not it 
originates on the site.  The assessment must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA 
and the Environment Agency's 'Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination, CLR 11' and shall include:       
 
(i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination;  
 
(ii) an assessment of the potential risks to:  

Page 94



 
- human health,  
- property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and 
service lines and pipes,  
- adjoining land,  
- groundwaters and surface waters,  
- ecological systems,  
- archaeological sites and ancient monuments;  
 
(iii) an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option(s). 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the land is suitable for the intended uses and to ensure 
that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors and in accordance with section 11 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. This is a condition precedent because the works comprising 
the development have the potential to uncover harmful contamination. Therefore these 
details need to be agreed before work commences. 
 
11 Contaminated Land - Remediation Scheme (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall commence until a detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a 
condition suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks to human health, 
buildings and other property and the natural and historical environment, has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, unless the findings 
of the approved investigation and risk assessment has confirmed that a remediation 
scheme is not required. The scheme shall include: 
 
(i) all works to be undertaken; 
(ii) proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria; 
(iii) timetable of works and site management procedures; and, 
(iv) where required, a monitoring and maintenance scheme to monitor the long-term 
effectiveness of the proposed remediation and a timetable for the submission of reports 
that demonstrate the effectiveness of the monitoring and maintenance carried out. 
 
The remediation scheme shall ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land 
under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the intended use of 
the land after remediation.  
 
The approved remediation scheme shall be carried out prior to the commencement of 
development, other than that required to carry out remediation, or in accordance with the 
approved timetable of works. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the land is suitable for the intended uses and to ensure 
that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors and in accordance with section 11 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. This is a condition precedent because the works comprising 
the development have the potential to uncover harmful contamination. Therefore these 
details need to be agreed before work commences. 
 
12 Contaminated Land - Verification Report (Pre-occupation) 

Page 95



No occupation shall commence until a verification report (that demonstrates the 
effectiveness of the remediation carried out) has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority, unless the findings of the approved investigation 
and risk assessment has confirmed that a remediation scheme is not required. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the land is suitable for the intended uses and to ensure 
that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors and in accordance with section 11 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 
13 Contaminated Land - Unexpected Contamination (Compliance) 
In the event that contamination which was not previously identified is found at any time 
when carrying out the approved development, it must be reported in writing immediately to 
the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter an investigation and risk assessment shall be 
undertaken, and where remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Following 
completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a verification 
report (that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out) must be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to occupation of 
the development. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the land is suitable for the intended uses and to ensure 
that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors and in accordance with section 11 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 
14 Highways - Garages (Compliance) 
The garage hereby approved shall be retained for the garaging of private motor vehicles 
associated with the dwelling and ancillary domestic storage and for no other purpose. 
 
Reason: To ensure adequate off-street parking provision is retained in accordance with 
Policy T.26 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
15 Highways - Construction Management Plan (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall commence until a Construction Management Plan has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and shall include 
details of deliveries (including storage arrangements and timings), contractor parking, 
traffic management, working hours, site opening times, wheel wash facilities and site 
compound arrangements. The development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance 
with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure that safe operation of the highway and in the interests of protecting 
residential amenity in accordance with Policies T.24 and D.2 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Local Plan. This is a condition precedent because any initial construction or 
demolition works could have a detrimental impact upon highways safety and/or residential 
amenity. 
 
16 Highways - Residents Welcome Pack (Pre-occupation) 
No occupation of the approved development shall commence until a new resident's 
welcome pack has been issued to the first occupier/purchaser of each residential unit of 

Page 96



accommodation.  The new resident's welcome pack shall have previously been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and shall include information of 
bus and train timetable information, information giving examples of fares/ticket options, 
information on cycle routes, a copy of the Travel Smarter publication, car share, car club 
information etc., to encourage residents to try public transport. 
 
Reason: To encourage the use of public transport in the interests of sustainable 
development in accordance with Policy T.1 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local 
Plan 
 
17 Highways - Parking (Compliance) 
The areas allocated for parking and turning on the submitted plan shall be kept clear of 
obstruction and shall not be used other than for the parking of vehicles in connection with 
the development hereby permitted. 
 
Reason: To ensure sufficient parking and turning areas are retained at all times in the 
interests of amenity and highways safety in accordance with Policy T.24 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
18 Highways - Dwelling Access (Compliance) 
Each dwelling shall not be occupied until it is served by a properly bound and compacted 
footpath and carriageway to at least base course level between the dwelling and the 
existing adopted highway. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is served by an adequate means of access in 
accordance with Policy T.24 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
19 Hard and Soft Landscaping (Pre-occupation) 
No occupation shall commence until a hard and soft landscape scheme has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority showing details of all 
trees, hedgerows and other planting to be retained; finished ground levels; a planting 
specification to include numbers, density, size, species and positions of all new trees and 
shrubs, details of existing and proposed walls, fences, other boundary treatment and 
surface treatment of the open parts of the site, and a programme of implementation. 
 
Reason: To ensure the provision of an appropriate landscape setting to the development 
in accordance with Policies D.2 and D.4 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
20 Hard and Soft Landscaping (Compliance) 
All hard and/or soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any part of the 
development or in accordance with the programme (phasing) agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority. Any trees or plants indicated on the approved scheme which, 
within a period of five years from the date of the development being completed, die, are 
removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced during the next 
planting season with other trees or plants of a species and size to be first approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. All hard landscape works shall be permanently 
retained in accordance with the approved details. 
 

Page 97



Reason: To ensure that the landscape scheme is implemented and maintained in 
accordance with Policies D.2 and D.4 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
21 Plans List (Compliance) 
The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
To be provided in an update report. 
 
You are advised that as of 6 April 2015, the Bath & North East Somerset Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule came into effect. Full details about the CIL 
Charge including, amount and process for payment will be sent out in a CIL Liability 
Notice which you will receive shortly. Further details are available here: 
www.bathnes.gov.uk/cil 
 
Condition Categories 
The heading of each condition gives an indication of the type of condition and what is 
required by it. There are 4 broad categories: 
 
Compliance - The condition specifies matters to which you must comply. These conditions 
do not require the submission of additional details and do not need to be discharged. 
 
Pre-commencement - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before any work begins on the approved development. 
The condition will list any specific works which are exempted from this restriction, e.g. 
ground investigations, remediation works, etc. 
 
Pre-occupation - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before occupation of all or part of the approved 
development.  
 
Bespoke Trigger - The condition contains a bespoke trigger which requires the submission 
and approval of further information, drawings or details before a specific action occurs.  
 
Please note all conditions should be read fully as these headings are intended as a guide 
only. 
 
Where approval of further information is required you will need to submit a conditions 
application and pay the relevant fee, details of the fee can be found on the "what happens 
after permission" pages of the Council's Website.  You can submit your conditions 
application via the Planning Portal at www.planningportal.co.uk or send it direct to 
planning_registration@bathnes.gov.uk.  Alternatively this can be sent by post to The 
Planning Registration Team, Planning Services, Lewis House, Manvers Street, Bath, BA1 
1JG. 
 
NOTE TO APPLICANT: 

Page 98



The approved works to the front boundary wall of Staunton Manor Farm require listed 
building consent, which should be obtained prior to their commencement. 
 
This permission is accompanied by an agreement under Section 106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
Decision Making Statement: 
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework. For the 
reasons given, and expanded upon in a related case officer's report, a positive view of the 
revised proposals was taken and consent was granted. 
 
 
 
 
 

Item No:   02 

Application No: 16/04629/FUL 

Site Location: Kielder Church Lane East Harptree Bristol Bath And North East 
Somerset 

 
 

Ward: Mendip  Parish: East Harptree  LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor T Warren  

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Demolition of existing dwelling and erection of 4no dwelling with 
associated car parking, gardens and amenity space 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Airport Safeguarding Zones, Agric Land Class 
1,2,3a, Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, Housing Development 
Boundary, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones, World Heritage Site,  

Applicant:  Simon James Homes 

Page 99



Expiry Date:  16th December 2016 

Case Officer: Tessa Hampden 

 
REPORT 
Reason for referring to committee 
 
The application has been referred to committee due to the comments of the Parish 
Council. Cllr Davis has agreed that this application should be dealt with at Development 
Management Committee.  
 
Site description and proposal 
 
The application relates to a single storey dwelling located on Church Lane, within the 
Housing Development Boundary of the village of East Harptree. The site is outside of the 
Conservation Area, but within an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.  
 
The application seeks planning permission for the demolition of the existing single storey 
dwelling and erection of three two storey dwellings and a single storey dwelling with 
associated car parking, gardens and amenity space. Revised plans have been submitted 
during the course of the planning application in an attempt to overcome concerns raised 
by officers and third parties.  
 
Relevant Planning history 
 
16/01299/FUL - Withdrawn - 5 August 2016 - Erection of 5 no. residential dwellings with 
associated car parking, private gardens and amenity space following demolition of an 
existing residential dwelling. 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Contaminated Land - no objection subject to conditions 
 
Arboricultural Officer - no objection subject to conditions 
 
Highway Development - no objection subject to conditions 
 
Landscape Officer - no objection subject to conditions 
 
East Harptree Parish Council - object to the application. The comments on the revised 
plans can be summarised as follows: 
 
1. The proposed dwellings are inappropriate and alien to the village in respect of their 
appearance. 
2. The style of the proposed dwellings is not complimentary of the village vernacular and 
the stone cladding should be Dolomitic Conglomerate 
which is used extensively in the village. Recognise that the revised plans illustrate this.  
3. Car ports should be retained and conditioned 
4. Concerns with regards to visibility splays but note additional information 
5. The views in and out of the area will be seriously compromised by the proposals, the 
views from the adjoining footpath and the AONB will be affected  

Page 100



6 The site has high hedges to the north and west which provide screening of the site and 
privacy for adjoining owners. There is no guarantee that these will remain over time and 
reliance upon their screening to mitigate the prominent buildings cannot be relied upon. 
6. The proposal to use mains foul drainage for the disposal of surface water is 
unacceptable, surface water should be dealt with in a sustainable way.  
7. The introduction of the three bedroom houses is welcomed but councillors were 
disappointed by the inclusion of five bedroom properties which may not accord with village 
requirements. Plot 3 could be reduced and this would also allow for it to be removed away 
from the boundary 
 
7 objections have been received, these can be summarised as follows: 
 
-over development of the site/cramped form 
-visually prominent 
-design out of keeping with the village 
-lack of amenity space 
-contrary to housing need 
-unsustainable location 
-lack of parking 
-highway safety 
-drainage 
-loss of privacy, light and overbearing impact 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The Core Strategy now forms part of the statutory Development Plan 
and will be given full weight in the determination of planning applications. The Council's 
Development Plan now comprises: 
- Core Strategy 
- Saved Policies in the B&NES Local Plan (2007)* 
- Joint Waste Core Strategy 
-       Chew Valley Neighbourhood Plan - (This has successfully been through 
examination, and is due to go to community referendum in early 2017. In line with para 
216 of the NPPF, significant weight can be given to the Neighbourhood Plan at this 
advanced stage.) 
 
RELEVANT CORE STRATEY POLICIES 
DW1 District Wide Spatial Strategy 
RA2 Development in villages outside the Green Belt not meeting Policy RA1 criteria 
SP2 Sustainable Construction 
CP5 Flood Risk Management 
CP6 Environmental Quality 
 
The B&NES Local Plan policies that are replaced by policies in the Core Strategy are 
outlined in Appendix 1 of the Core Strategy. Those B&NES Local Plan policies that are not 
replaced and remain saved are listed in Appendix 2 of the Core Strategy 
 
RELEVANT LOCAL PLAN POLICIES 
D.2 General Design and public realm considerations  
D.4 Townscape considerations 

Page 101



NE.2 Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
BH12 - Archaeology 
NE.4 Trees and Woodland 
NE.11 Nationally important species and habitats 
NE.12 Locally important species and habitats 
ES.2 - Energy conservation 
ES.5 - Foul and surface water drainage 
T.1 Overarching access policy 
T.24 General development control and access policy 
T.26 On-site parking and servicing provision 
 
At the Council's Cabinet meeting on 2nd December 2015 the draft Placemaking Plan was 
approved for consultation purposes and also approved for Development Management 
purposes.  The Plan is at an advanced stage;  those policies not subject to 
representations at Draft Plan stage (or only subject of supporting representations) are 
considered to be capable of being given substantial weight. Policies still subject to 
outstanding/unresolved representations can only be given limited weight at this stage until 
the Inspector's Final Report is received. 
 
Policies with limited weight  
 
D1 General Urban Design Principles 
D2 Local Character & Distinctiveness 
D3 Urban Fabric 
D4 Streets and spaces 
D5 Building Design 
D6 Amenity 
D7 Infill and Backland Development 
H1 Historic Environment 
NE2 Conserving and enhancing the landscape and landscape character 
NE2A Landscapes setting of settlements 
NE3 Sites, species and habitats 
NE6 Trees and woodland conservation 
SU1 Sustainable Drainage 
ST1 Promoting sustainable travel 
ST7 Transport requirements for managing development 
 
Policies given substantial weight  
 
SCR5 - Water Efficiency 
PCS5Contamination 
PCS7A - Foul sewage infrastructure 
 
Chew Valley Neighbourhood Plan - significant weight 
 
Policy HDE1 - Rural Landscape Character 
Policy HDE2 - Settlement Build Character 
Policy HDE3 - Important Views 
Policy HDE4 - Skyline Policy 
Policy HDE5a - Housing Mix 

Page 102



Policy HDE5b - Housing - Affordable Allocation 
Policy HDE7 - Traffic Impact 
Policy HDE8a - Parking for Domestic Dwellings 
Policy HDE8b - Parking for Domestic Dwellings 
Policy HDE9a - Sustainable Drainage 
Policy HDE9b - Sustainable Drainage 
Policy HDE9c - Sustainable Drainage 
Policy HDE13 - Green Corridors and Biodiversity 
Policy BF7 - Fibre to the Premises Internet Connectivity 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (March 2012) and the National Planning Practice 
Guidance (March 2014) can be awarded significant weight. 
 
 
 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
Principle of development 
 
The application site is within the Housing Development Boundary of East Harptree where 
residential development can be considered to be acceptable in principle subject to the 
requirements of the Development Plan. 
 
The Chew Valley Neighbourhood Plan can now be given significant weight. This includes 
a policy relating to the provision of housing in line with the housing need survey. The 
application comprises two three bedroom dwellings, of which there is an identified need.  
Whilst this application also proposes two five bedroom dwellings, one of these is replacing 
an existing dwelling which has at least four bedrooms. The housing mix is considered 
appropriate.  
 
Character and appearance 
 
The development significantly increases the quantum of development on the site when 
compared to the existing situation. However, the scheme has been revised during the 
course of this planning application and since the previous planning application, to reduce 
the level of development including the number and size of the dwellings and the level of 
associated hard standing, and to provide a more appropriate landscape setting for the 
development. Importantly some soft landscaping has been provided within the site fronting 
onto the shared spaces which allows this to open out onto the site aiding in addressing the 
concerns about the site appearing suburban being reduced.   
 
Church Lane and the surrounding area does not have a uniform building grain and in line 
with many villages, has evolved organically through the progression of time. The form and 
type of dwellings is also varied, and there is not a particular strong character in this 
regard.  It is accepted that the dwellings, particularly plots 2 and 3 are large, but on 
balance they are not considered to result in a level of development that would cause 
undue harm to the immediate or wider character of this area.  
 
It is again noted that the adjoining sites accommodate single dwellings in larger plots, 
similar to the existing form on the application site. However, this is not considered to form 

Page 103



a characteristic that need necessarily be retained. The scheme has evolved to allow for 
acceptable gaps between the dwellings which permit a sufficient degree of spaciousness 
to be retained.  The site is also relatively well screened by mature landscaping. The built 
form has been in places moved away from the boundary which will aid in ensuring that the 
development allows for the landscaping to be safeguarded. It is however considered 
essential to include a landscaping condition on any application which will ensure that the 
existing landscaping is retained and enhanced where necessary. 
 
Although the dwelling to the front of the site will be partially screened from views outside 
of the site, it is important for it size and overall appearance to be acceptable if the 
screening is not retained in perpetuity. During the course of the application, the dwelling 
has been reduced in size, by reducing the length and height of the bedroom wing. This 
ensures that the dwelling fits appropriately in this context.  
 
The plans have been updated in relation to the materials and confirms that the dwellings 
will be constructed from domomitic conglomerate and cream render. Final details of 
materials can be secured through the inclusion of a condition on any permission. The use 
of domomitic conglomerate ensures that the development comprises materials that are 
commonly used within East Harptree. The scheme puts forward a contemporary design 
which is not objectionable in principle with the materials ensuring that the scheme takes 
cues from the surrounding environment.  
  
On balance, the proposed scheme is considered to preserve the visual amenities of the 
area and the character and appearance and setting of the AONB.  The layout, scale, 
appearance and landscaping are considered to be acceptable.  
 
Highway safety 
 
The previous application raised an objection from the Highway Development Officer. With 
the reduction in dwelling units from five to the four now proposed, the development now 
proposes sufficient on site parking provision.  The Neighbourhood Plan cites that garages 
should not count towards the parking numbers when looking at the overall level of 
provision. During the course of the planning application, the two double garages on plots 2 
and 3 have been amended and are now car ports. This open nature will ensure that they 
are used for parking and not used for secure storage etc. A condition can be included on 
any permission to ensure that these are not enclosed, and left open for parking in 
perpetuity.   
 
The site will be accessed via the existing access off Church Lane which currently serves 
one existing dwelling. This access will be widened to 5m which will enable two-way 
movement to and from the site. The application demonstrates the full length of visibility 
splay in accordance with the requirements of Manual for Streets. Officers are satisfied with 
the applicants' proposals in relation to the works necessary in order to achieve the 
required 2.4m x 43m splay. 
 
Whilst the proposed development is expected to generate a higher number of vehicular 
movements on Church Lane and at the site assess, this increase is unlikely to be 
significant and will not have a detrimental impact on the safety or operation of the local 
highway network. The improvements to the substandard access will also help offset the 
impact of any increase in vehicular movements at this location. 

Page 104



 
There are therefore no objections on these grounds.  
 
Ecology 
 
A comprehensive ecological survey and assessment has been submitted. The buildings 
proposed for demolition were assessed as having negligible bat roost potential. No further 
survey for bats is required prior to consent. 
 
The site is used by badgers for foraging, and has habitats suitable for reptiles and nesting 
birds. A reptile survey, and, depending on the outcome of this, a reptile mitigation strategy 
will be required. This can be secured by condition along with all necessary measures to 
protect wildlife that uses the site, in particular nesting birds and badger. 
 
Subject to the inclusion of a condition, the scheme is considered to be ecologically 
acceptable.  
 
Archaeological implications 
 
The application site lies within East Harptree, which is thought to have been a planned 
medieval settlement associated with Keynsham Abbey, with houses and plots having 
been laid out on the three parallel streets of Church Street, Middle Street and Water 
Street. Its importance as a medieval settlement is reinforced by the remains of Richmont 
Castle at Harptree Combe to the west of the village. Whilst the development lies just 
outside of the historic settlement core there is still potential for related activity/occupation 
within this area. It is therefore recommended that a controlled watching brief condition is 
attached to any planning consent 
 
Residential amenity 
 
A number of concerns have been raised with regards to residential amenity. The 
development sits in relatively close proximity to the adjoining occupiers; although it is 
noted that the two storey unit (plot 3) has been pulled further away from the boundary of 
Church Bank and Beechfield. The single storey unit to the front of the site will also share a 
boundary with Church Bank.  Whilst the rear of the nearest neighbouring dwelling faces 
onto the site, it will overlap rather than directly face the larger two storey dwelling. Given 
this siting, the orientation of the properties, and the existing landscaping and context in 
which the site sits, the proposed development is not considered to result in an overbearing 
impact or result in a significant loss of light for these occupiers.   It is noted that the 
landscaping forms an important existing screening measure, and it is important that this is 
retained or replaced where necessary.  
 
The windows on the side elevation at first floor level serve bathrooms and these can be 
conditioned to be obscurely glazed to ensure that the privacy of the neighbouring 
occupiers is safeguarded. The front window of dwelling 3 will serve a bedroom but due to 
its positioning and design which projects from the front elevation, will not result in a 
significant loss of privacy to the neighbouring occupiers. 
 

Page 105



Overall, the development is not considered to result in any significant harm to the 
residential amenity of the neighbouring occupiers. Further, the proposed development is 
considered to result in satisfactory living conditions for the future occupiers of the site.  
 
Aboricultural Issue 
 
The application site comprises a number of mature trees, which are primarily located on 
the boundary of the site. The submission includes a revised arboricultural report 
incorporating an arboricultural impact assessment. The proposed site plan indicates that 
450mm of soil will be 
removed and that 200mm of imported top soil replaced. It is unclear of the extent that this 
works would be required. Whilst the Design and Access Statement states that it is hoped 
that the majority of the existing perimeter trees on the site can be retained, and their root 
protection areas will be maintained during and post construction. This statement is no 
guarantee that the perimeter vegetation can be retained, but is noted that the protection 
measures are shown within the Tree Protection Plan.  A condition can be attached to any 
planning application which will ensure that the tree protection measures are in place.  
 
The proposed replacement planting of 16 trees to mitigate for those lost is acceptable. 
The revised plans illustrate that the access road will now be widened to 5metres rather 
than 6metres which reduced the impact upon the adjacent trees.  
 
Drainage 
 
The application site is not within a critical drainage area and is outside of any flood risk 
area. As such it is considered that an appropriate drainage system can be secured though 
condition.  
 
Other issues 
 
No other issues have arisen as a result of this application and for the reasons as stated 
above, this application is recommended for approval. The development is considered to 
be in line with the Development Plan, which includes those emerging polices from the 
Chew Valley Neighbourhood Plan and the Place Making Plan that can now be given 
significant weight.  
 

RECOMMENDATION 

PERMIT 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 1 Standard Time Limit (Compliance) 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) and to avoid the accumulation of unimplemented planning permission 
 
 2 Contaminated Land - Investigation and Risk Assessment (Pre-commencement) 

Page 106



No development shall commence until an investigation and risk assessment of the nature 
and extent of contamination on site and its findings has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  This assessment must be undertaken by a 
competent person, and shall assess any contamination on the site, whether or not it 
originates on the site.  The assessment must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA 
and the Environment Agency's 'Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination, CLR 11' and shall include:       
 
(i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination;  
 
(ii) an assessment of the potential risks to:  
 
- human health,  
- property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and 
service lines and pipes,  
- adjoining land,  
- groundwaters and surface waters,  
- ecological systems,  
- archaeological sites and ancient monuments;  
 
(iii) an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option(s). 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the land is suitable for the intended uses and to ensure 
that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors and in accordance with section 11 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. This is a condition precedent because the works comprising 
the development have the potential to uncover harmful contamination. Therefore these 
details need to be agreed before work commences. 
 
 3 Contaminated Land - Remediation Scheme (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall commence until a detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a 
condition suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks to human health, 
buildings and other property and the natural and historical environment, has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, unless the findings 
of the approved investigation and risk assessment has confirmed that a remediation 
scheme is not required. The scheme shall include: 
 
(i) all works to be undertaken; 
(ii) proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria; 
(iii) timetable of works and site management procedures; and, 
(iv) where required, a monitoring and maintenance scheme to monitor the long-term 
effectiveness of the proposed remediation and a timetable for the submission of reports 
that demonstrate the effectiveness of the monitoring and maintenance carried out. 
 
The remediation scheme shall ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land 
under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the intended use of 
the land after remediation.  
 

Page 107



The approved remediation scheme shall be carried out prior to the commencement of 
development, other than that required to carry out remediation, or in accordance with the 
approved timetable of works. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the land is suitable for the intended uses and to ensure 
that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors and in accordance with section 11 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. This is a condition precedent because the works comprising 
the development have the potential to uncover harmful contamination. Therefore these 
details need to be agreed before work commences. 
 
 4 Contaminated Land - Verification Report (Pre-occupation) 
No occupation shall commence until a verification report (that demonstrates the 
effectiveness of the remediation carried out) has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority, unless the findings of the approved investigation 
and risk assessment has confirmed that a remediation scheme is not required. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the land is suitable for the intended uses and to ensure 
that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors and in accordance with section 11 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 5 Materials - Submission of Schedule and Samples (Bespoke Trigger) 
No construction of the external walls of the development shall commence until a schedule 
of materials and finishes, and samples of the materials to be used in the construction of 
the external surfaces, including roofs, have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried out only in 
accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area 
in accordance with Policies D.2 and D.4 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan 
and Policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy. 
 
 6 Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall commence until a Detailed Arboricultural Method Statement with 
Tree Protection Plan following the recommendations contained within BS 5837:2012 has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
arboricultural method statement shall incorporate a provisional programme of works; 
supervision and monitoring details by an Arboricultural Consultant and provision of site 
visit records and certificates of completion to the local planning authority. The statement 
should include the control of potentially harmful operations such as site preparation 
(including demolition, clearance and level changes); the storage, handling and mixing of 
materials on site, burning, location of site office, service run locations including soakaway 
locations and movement of people and machinery. No development or other operations 
shall thereafter take place except in complete accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure that trees to be retained are not adversely affected by the 
development proposals in accordance with Policy NE.4 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Local Plan. This is a condition precedent because the works comprising the 

Page 108



development have the potential to harm retained trees. Therefore these details need to be 
agreed before work commences. 
 
 7 Development shall not commence until details of a Wildlife Protection and 
Enhancement Scheme designed to avoid harm to wildlife, in particular reptiles, nesting 
birds and badger, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The scheme shall be in 
accordance with the recommendations of the approved "Biodiversity and Geological 
Conservation Assessment" by Acorn Ecology dated February 2016 and shall include: 
 
o Findings of completed reptile survey together with proposed details for all necessary 
reptile mitigation and habitat compensation measures, as applicable 
o findings of a nesting bird survey if site clearance is required during the nesting season, 
together with details of proposed measures to avoid disturbance to nesting birds 
o specifications for measures such as protective fencing, to protect retained habitats, if 
applicable 
o proposed measures to avoid harm to badger, including, if applicable, findings of 
precommencementchecks for badger activity 
o proposals for biodiversity enhancements, with measures and specifications to be shown 
on all relevant plans and drawings 
 
The development shall be carried out only in accordance with the approved Scheme or 
any amendment to the Scheme as approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: to avoid harm to wildlife including reptiles, badger and nesting birds, and to 
provide biodiversity enhancements in line with the requirements of NPPF 
 
 8 Obscure Glazing (Compliance) 
The proposed windows on the north east elevation of plot 3 (on the proposed site plan) 
shall be obscurely glazed and non-opening unless the parts of the window which can be 
opened are more than 1.7m above the floor of the room in which the window is installed. 
Thereafter the window shall be permanently retained as such. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the residential amenities of adjoining occupiers from overlooking 
and loss of privacy in accordance with Policy D.2 of the Bath and North East Somerset 
Local Plan. 
 
 9 Removal of Permitted Development Rights - Car ports (Compliance) 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or 
without modification) no doors or other means of enclosure shall be inserted into the car 
port areas and these shall remain open in perpetuity. 
 
Reason: Any alterations to enclose this areas require detailed consideration by the Local 
Planning Authority to ensure sufficient onsite parking in retained in accordance with the 
Chew Valley Neighbourhood Plan 
 
10 Hard and Soft Landscaping (Pre-occupation) 
No occupation shall commence until a hard and soft landscape scheme has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority showing details of all 

Page 109



trees, hedgerows and other planting to be retained; a planting specification to include 
numbers, size, species and positions of all new trees and shrubs, details of existing and 
proposed walls, fences, other boundary treatment and surface treatment of the open parts 
of the site, and a programme of implementation. 
 
Reason: To ensure the provision of an appropriate landscape setting to the development 
in accordance with Policies D.2 and D.4 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
11 Hard and Soft Landscaping (Compliance) 
All hard and/or soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any part of the 
development or in accordance with the programme (phasing) agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority. Any trees or plants indicated on the approved scheme which, 
within a period of five years from the date of the development being completed, die, are 
removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced during the next 
planting season with other trees or plants of a species and size to be first approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. All hard landscape works shall be permanently 
retained in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the landscape scheme is implemented and maintained in 
accordance with Policies D.2 and D.4 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
12 Highways - Parking (Compliance) 
The areas allocated for parking and turning on the submitted plan shall be kept clear of 
obstruction and shall not be used other than for the parking of vehicles in connection with 
the development hereby permitted. 
 
Reason: To ensure sufficient parking and turning areas are retained at all times in the 
interests of amenity and highways safety in accordance with Policy T.24 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
13 Highways - Bound/Compacted Vehicle Access (Pre-occupation) 
No occupation of the development shall commence until the vehicular access has been 
constructed with a bound and compacted surfacing material (not loose stone or gravel). 
 
Reason: To prevent loose material spilling onto the highway in the interests of highways 
safety in accordance with Policy T.24 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
14 Vehicle Visibility Splay (Pre occupation) 
 
No occupation of the development shall commence until the visibility splay shown on 
drawing number 15151_120 Rev B has been provided. There shall be no on-site 
obstruction exceeding 900mm above ground level within the visibility splay. The visibility 
splay shall be retained permanently thereafter. 
 
Reason: To ensure sufficient visibility is provided in the interests of highways safety in 
accordance with Policy T.24 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
15 Bound and compacted footpath and carriageway (Pre occupation) 
 

Page 110



Each dwelling shall not be occupied until it is served by a properly bound and compacted 
footpath and carriageway to at least base course level between the dwelling and the 
existing adopted highway. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is served by an adequate means of access in 
accordance with Policy T.24 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
16 Archaeology - Watching Brief (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall commence, except archaeological investigation work, until the 
applicant, or their agents or successors in title, has secured the implementation of a 
programme of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation 
which has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
programme of archaeological work should provide a controlled watching brief during 
ground works on the site, with provision for excavation of any significant deposits or 
features encountered, and shall be carried out by a competent person(s) and completed in 
accordance with the approved written scheme of investigation. 
 
Reason: The site is within an area of significant archaeological interest and the Council 
will wish to examine and record items of interest discovered. This is a condition precedent 
because archaeological remains and features may be damaged by the initial development 
works. 
 
17 Flood Risk and Drainage - Infiltration Testing (Pre-commencement) 
No development shall commence, except ground investigations and remediation, until 
infiltration testing and soakaway design in accordance with Building regulations Part H, 
section 3 (3.30) have been undertaken to verify that soakaways will be suitable for the 
development. If the infiltration test results demonstrate that soakaways are not 
appropriate, an alternative method of surface water drainage, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and installed prior to the occupation of 
the development. 
 
Reason: To ensure that an appropriate method of surface water drainage is installed and 
in the interests of flood risk management in accordance with Policy CP5 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Core Strategy. This is a condition precedent because it is necessary 
to understand whether soakaways are appropriate prior to any initial construction works 
which may prejudice the surface water drainage strategy. 
 
18 Rainwater harvesting - (Pre occupation) 
 
The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until a scheme for rainwater 
harvesting or other methods of capturing rainwater 
for use by the residents (e.g. water butts) has been submitted to and approved in writing. 
The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with these approved 
details. 
 
Reason; In the interests of sustainable development in line with policy SCR5 of the Place 
Making Plan 
 
19 Plans List (Compliance) 

Page 111



The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
22 Sep 2016    15151_100    SITE LOCATION PLAN  
22 Sep 2016    15151_101    EXISTING SITE PLAN      
22 Sep 2016    15151_102    TOPOGRAPHICAL SURVEY       
22 Sep 2016    15151_103    EXISTING SECTIONS A-A & B-B    
05 Dec 2016    15151_104 REVISION H    PROPOSED SITE PLAN       
05 Dec 2016    15151_105 REVISION F    DWELLING TYPE 1 - PLANS          
05 Dec 2016    15151_106 REVISION D    DWELLING TYPE 1 - ROOF PLAN AND 
SECTIONS        
05 Dec 2016    15151_107 REVISION F    DWELLING TYPE 1 - ELEVATIONS      
05 Dec 2016    15151_108 REVISION F    DWELLING TYPE 2 - PLANS 
05 Dec 2016    15151_109 REVISION E    DWELLING TYPE 2 - ROOF PLAN AND 
SECTIONS 
05 Dec 2016    15151_110 REVISION F    DWELLING TYPE 2 - ELEVATIONS 
05 Dec 2016    15151_111 REVISION E    DWELLING TYPE 3 - GROUND FLOOR PLAN 
05 Dec 2016    15151_112 REVISION D    DWELLING TYPE 3 - ROOF PLAN 
05 Dec 2016    15151_113 REVISION D    DWELLING TYPE 3 - ELEVATIONS      
05 Dec 2016    15151_114 REVISION F    PROPOSED SECTIONS   
05 Dec 2016    15151_116 REVISION D    PROPOSED LANDSCAPE PLAN      
05 Dec 2016    15151_120 REVISION C    PROPOSED VISIBILITY SPLAY    
05 Dec 2016    15151_121 REVISION C    LONG ELEVATION  
05 Dec 2016    15151_122 REVISION D    DWELLING TYPE 3 - SECTIONS  
  
 
You are advised that as of 6 April 2015, the Bath & North East Somerset Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule came into effect. Full details about the CIL 
Charge including, amount and process for payment will be sent out in a CIL Liability 
Notice which you will receive shortly. Further details are available here: 
www.bathnes.gov.uk/cil 
 
The applicant should be advised to contact the Highway Maintenance Team on 01225 
394337 with regard to securing a licence under Section 184 of the Highways Act 1980 for 
the widening of a vehicular crossing. The access shall not be brought into use until the 
details of the access have been approved and constructed in accordance with the current 
Specification. 
 
Condition Categories 
The heading of each condition gives an indication of the type of condition and what is 
required by it. There are 4 broad categories: 
 
Compliance - The condition specifies matters to which you must comply. These conditions 
do not require the submission of additional details and do not need to be discharged. 
 

Page 112



Pre-commencement - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before any work begins on the approved development. 
The condition will list any specific works which are exempted from this restriction, e.g. 
ground investigations, remediation works, etc. 
 
Pre-occupation - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before occupation of all or part of the approved 
development.  
 
Bespoke Trigger - The condition contains a bespoke trigger which requires the submission 
and approval of further information, drawings or details before a specific action occurs.  
 
Please note all conditions should be read fully as these headings are intended as a guide 
only. 
 
Where approval of further information is required you will need to submit a conditions 
application and pay the relevant fee, details of the fee can be found on the "what happens 
after permission" pages of the Council's Website.  You can submit your conditions 
application via the Planning Portal at www.planningportal.co.uk or send it direct to 
planning_registration@bathnes.gov.uk.  Alternatively this can be sent by post to The 
Planning Registration Team, Planning Services, Lewis House, Manvers Street, Bath, BA1 
1JG. 
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. 
 
 
 

Item No:   03 

Application No: 16/02230/FUL 

Site Location: 10 Lymore Gardens Twerton Bath Bath And North East Somerset 
BA2 1AQ 

 
 

Page 113



Ward: Westmoreland  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor Colin Blackburn Councillor June Player  

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Change of use from a 4 bed dwelling (use class C3) to a 4 bed house 
of multiple occupation (HMO) (Use class C4) 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Article 4, Forest of 
Avon, HMO Stage 2 test required, Hotspring Protection, SSSI - 
Impact Risk Zones, World Heritage Site,  

Applicant:  Mr Andrew Spear 

Expiry Date:  15th July 2016 

Case Officer: Nikki Honan 

 
REPORT 
This application has been referred to the Development Management Committee as a 
request has been received from Cllr Player for the application to be determined by 
Development Management Committee if officers are minded to approve, on the grounds 
that it will exceed the allowed number of Houses of Multiple Occupancy (HMOs) of the 
Article 4 Direction which is contrary to the HMO Supplementary Planning Document.  
Comments are summarised within the Representation Section of this report. 
 
Planning permission is sought for change of use from a 4 bed dwelling (use class C3) to a 
4 bed house of multiple occupation (HMO) (Use class C4).   
 
Number 10 is a two storey mid terraced house on the eastern side of Lymore Gardens.  
The application site is in Twerton in the Westmoreland ward and falls within the World 
Heritage Site and the HMO Stage 2 test area. 
 
This change of use would ordinarily constitute permitted development under the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015. However, 
planning permission is required in this case due to an Article 4 Direction which removes 
permitted development rights for this change of use within the City of Bath. 
 
Planning History:  
The property has no relevant planning history. 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Cllr Player:  
Should you be minded to approve the above application then I am requesting that it goes 
to Committee on the grounds that it will exceed the allowed number of Houses of Multiple 
Occupancy (HMOs) of the Article 4 Direction which is contrary to the HMO Supplementary 
Planning Document that exists in this part of the Ward of Westmoreland that it is in. 
 
Highways:  
The applicant is seeking permission for Change of Use from a 4 bed dwelling to a 4 bed 
House of Multiple Occupation (HMO).  
This site is located off the cul-de-sac of Lymore Gardens where there appears to be a high 
demand for on-street parking, and where there is no turning head at the end of the road, 
although the road is quite wide to allow for some turning.  

Page 114



 
Whilst the occupancy of the dwelling could increase, and there may be concerns over 
increased parking demand and vehicle movements, the site is in a sustainable location, 
close to local shops and public transport, where car use will be less intense than in more 
remote locations. I also understand that the property was previously occupied as an HMO 
for students.  
 
It should also be noted that as there will be no increase in the number of bedrooms, the 
proposed change of use will not result in an increase in off-street parking demand when 
referring to policy T.26 of the Local Plan.  
 
Furthermore, evidence from surveys carried out by the Department for Communities and 
Local Government states that rented accommodation can have up to 50% fewer cars than 
owner-occupied households.  
 
Whilst it is far from ideal that the dwelling has no means of private parking, having regard 
to the evidence from the DCLG regarding car ownership, I do not feel an objection could 
be justified, and therefore I recommend that no objection is raised. 
 
Third Party Comments:  
15 neighbour objections have been received, which are summarised as follows:  
 
o Local need for family housing  
o Not in the best interests of the residents  
o House is in Article 4 area  
o Insufficient space for any more parked cars. HMO's create a disproportionate 
increase in parking demands   
o Will lead to further traffic congestion  
o Hope telephone number of owner will be displayed on the outside of the house as 
property will be run as a business  
o Property not big enough for an HMO  
o Too many students in area already  
o Far less opportunity for moderate income families to purchase houses here and 
that detracts from a well-balanced community 
o Houses are small for a 4 person HMO but alright for families  
o Litter problems  
o If granted could open the floodgates for future applications 
o As rate-payers, we believe we should have a say in what happens within our 
neighbourhood 
o Many HMO's in the area with landlords who do not respect their property 
o Some landlords visit their properties seldom and do not employ a management 
company  
o Streets and gardens have become untidy and often filthy as a result of too many 
HMO's 
o I like a mixture of people, I like having students around but somehow the number of 
multiple occupancy houses has exceeded what seems reasonable 
o Harmful to community balance  
o Purpose built accommodation all over the city should mean HMO's are not needed 
o Cllrs should visit the area to note the impact on HMO's, including overgrown 
gardens and rubbish in the front  

Page 115



o Property damage from neighbouring HMO  
o Students do not pay council tax, and other residents pay increasing council tax, 
including other rental properties where council tax is payable even when vacant  
o The house has been an unregistered HMO for a number of years, under a previous 
owner   
o HMO's can be noisy and party walls of these houses are only half a brick thick - 
benefits for occupants if acoustic performance of party walls could be improved as part of 
the change of use.   
 
2 neighbour comments have been received, as summarised below:   
o Please explain objection.  
o I am happy with its future use but would like limits on the number of cars for the 
property 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The Core Strategy now forms part of the statutory Development Plan 
and will be given full weight in the determination of planning applications. The Council's 
Development Plan now comprises: 
o Core Strategy (2014) 
o Saved Policies in the B&NES Local Plan (2007) 
o Joint Waste Core Strategy (2011) 
 
RELEVANT CORE STRATEY POLICIES 
 
The B&NES Local Plan policies that are replaced by policies in the Core Strategy (2014) 
are outlined in Appendix 1 of the Core Strategy. Those B&NES Local Plan policies that 
are not replaced and remain saved are listed in Appendix 2 of the Core Strategy. 
 
The following policies of the Core Strategy are relevant to the determination of this 
application:  
CP.6: Environmental Quality 
B.4: World Heritage Site 
 
RELEVANT LOCAL PLAN POLICIES 
 
The following saved policies of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan (2007) are 
also relevant to the determination of this application:  
D.2: General Design and public realm considerations 
D.4: Townscape considerations 
NE.5: Forest of Avon  
NE.13A: Bath Hot Springs  
T.24 General development control and access policy 
T.26: On-site parking and servicing provision  
HG.12: Residential development involving dwelling subdivision, conversion of non-
residential buildings, re-use of buildings for multiple occupation and re-use of empty 
dwellings 
 
RELEVENT PMP POLICIES 
 

Page 116



The placemaking plan is at an advanced stage (albeit still at Examination) and policies not 
subject to representations at Draft Plan stage (or only subject of supporting 
representations) are considered to be capable of being given substantial weight. Policies 
still subject to outstanding/unresolved representations can only be given limited weight at 
this stage until the Inspector's Final Report is received.  
 
The following policies still subject to outstanding/unresolved representations can only be 
given limited weight at this stage until the Inspector's Final Report is received:  
 
UD.1: General Urban Design Principles  
UD.2: Local Character and Distinctiveness   
UD.3: Urban Fabric  
UD.4: Streets and Spaces  
UD.5: Building Design  
UD.6: Amenity  
ST7: Transport Requirements for Managing Development  
H.1: Historic Environment  
 
 
Given the Plan is at an advanced stage the following policies not subject to 
representations at Draft Plan stage (or only subject of supporting representations) are 
considered to be capable of being given substantial weight:   
 
H2: Houses in Multiple Occupation  
 
The Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 'Houses in Multiple Occupation in Bath' 
(2013) is relevant in the determination of this planning application. 
 
'The City of Bath World Heritage Site Setting' Supplementary Planning Document (2013) 
is relevant in the determination of this planning application.   
 
National Planning Policy Framework (March 2012) and the National Planning Practice 
Guidance (March 2014) can be awarded significant weight.  The following sections of the 
NPPF are of particular relevance: 
Section 6: Delivery a wide choice of high quality homes. 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
Site Context:  
Number 10 is a two storey mid terraced house on the eastern side of Lymore Gardens.  
The application site is in Twerton in the Westmoreland ward and falls within the World 
Heritage Site and the HMO Stage 2 test area.     
 
Proposed Development:  
Change of use from a 4 bed dwelling (use class C3) to a 4 bed house of multiple 
occupation (HMO) (Use class C4).   
 
No physical alterations would be required to the exterior of the building. One bedroom is 
on the ground floor (former lounge), two bedrooms are on the first floor and one bedroom 
is on the second floor (following a previous loft conversion). A communal kitchen, dining 
room/utility and living room will be retained and the bedrooms will be of an adequate size. 

Page 117



Overall the property should provide a good standard of accommodation for the future 
occupiers. 
 
HMO Policy Tests:  
The guidance within the Council's SPD 'Houses in Multiple Occupation in Bath' specifies 
the criteria for assessing applications required by the introduction of the Article 4 Direction. 
The document sets out a two stage assessment process to establish whether the change 
of use would be acceptable with regards to the existing balance and mix of housing 
accommodation within the locality, and to ensure that it would not create an unacceptable 
concentration of HMOs in the area. 
 
The 'Stage 1 Test' assesses whether the application property is within or less than 50 
metres from a Census Output Area in which HMO properties represent more than 25% of 
households. If a property is within such an area then a further 'Stage 2 Test' is applied, 
which assesses whether HMO properties represent more than 25% of households within a 
100 metre radius of the application property. 
 
The subject property of this application does not meet the Stage 1 Test. The property lies 
in an area in which HMO properties represent more than 25% of households. 
 
Therefore in this case the 'Stage 2 Test' is also applied in accordance with the SPD and 
with specific reference to the Council's data on the number of HMO dwellings. 
 
In the case of this application the following calculations are made:  
o Total number of dwellings within 100m radius of subject property = 83 dwellings  
o Total number of HMO dwellings within a 100m radius of the subject property = 17  
o Percentage of HMOs = (17/83) x 100 = 20.48% 
 
In accordance with the stage 2 test of the Article 4 Direction, the threshold in the 
immediate 100 metres around the application site property is below 25%. 
 
It is noted that when the application was first submitted it was believed there were 19 
HMO's within 100m radius of the site.  The applicant has demonstrated there are indeed 
17 HMO's, which has been confirmed on GIS and through discussions with the GIS 
Licencing Team.    
 
Therefore at the current time the change of use of this property is deemed to be 
acceptable in principle and compliant with the Article 4 Direction and the policy set out in 
the 'Houses in Multiple Occupation in Bath' SPD, which aims to encourage "an 
appropriately balanced housing mix across Bath, supporting a wide variety of households 
in all areas." The application site is viewed as an appropriate location for an HMO, unless 
there are other material considerations.  
 
In addition, paragraph 50 of the NPPF states that LPA's should deliver a wide choice of 
high quality homes and support inclusive and mixed communities. This guidance advises 
that local planning authorities should "..plan for a mix of housing based on current and 
future demographic trends, market trends and needs of different groups in the community 
(such as but not limited to families with children, older people, people with disabilities, 
service families and people wishing to build their own homes)". The application site is 

Page 118



therefore considered to be an appropriate location for a HMO, unless there are other 
material considerations. 
 
Policy H2 of the Placemaking Plan can now be given substantial weight. This broadly 
carries forward the requirements of the 'Houses in Multiple Occupation in Bath' SPD. 
 
Impact on Existing Residents:  
It is recognised that there are concerns arising from HMO's in terms of increased levels of 
noise and disturbance. However, this would not constitute a reason for refusal of planning 
permission for the change of use. Whilst a shared housing unit may have different 
patterns of behaviour to a single family unit, there is no evidence to suggest that the 
proposed HMO would result in increased levels of disturbance or be used materially 
differently to that of an ordinary dwelling house occupied by a family.  
 
Highways:  
The adult occupancy of the building is likely to increase, which may result in increased 
demand for the street parking.  However, surveys carried out by Dept. for Communities 
and Local Government state that rented accommodation can have up to 50% fewer cars 
than owner-occupied households. It is therefore not necessarily the case that a HMO 
property will have more vehicle ownership than say a family with adult children. Also the 
property is in a sustainable location, within easy walking distance of the city centre, major 
train and bus stations and other local shopping facilities.  
 
Other Matters: 
Some consultation comments suggest the application site has operated as an HMO 
previously.  There is no planning history on this, and it may be that there was an HMO 
prior to the Article 4 Directive. Nevertheless, the application is assessed on current 
planning policy and recommended for approved as detailed above.   
 
One neighbour has called for additional sound proofing to be required as part of any 
change of use planning application.  As there is no policy basis to assume HMO 
occupants make any more noise than other occupants, this is considered an 
unreasonable element to include as part of the planning process and should be negotiated 
outside of the planning process.      
 
Conclusion:  
In accordance with the stage two test of the Article 4 Direction, the threshold in the 
immediate 100 metres around the application site property is below 25%. Although it is 
appreciated that there is a perception that the Twerton area has an over concentration of 
HMO properties, the data provides evidence that this is not the case around the 
immediate vicinity of the application site property. 
 
The change of use is therefore considered acceptable in this location and complies with 
the relevant policies in the emerging Placemaking Plan, Core Strategy, saved Local Plan 
Policies and guidance within the SPD. It is not considered that there are any material 
grounds which would justify refusal of this application and it is therefore recommended for 
approval, subject to the inclusion of conditions.n a similar way it can not be assumed that 
the HMO will create more litter than any other form of occupation. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

Page 119



PERMIT 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 1 Standard Time Limit (Compliance) 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) and to avoid the accumulation of unimplemented planning permission 
 
 2 Number of Occupants (Compliance) 
The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied by more than 4 unrelated 
occupants unless a further planning permission has been granted. 
 
Reason: An increase in the number of occupants would need further consideration by the 
Local Planning Authority with regard to residential amenity, in accordance with Policy D.2 
of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
 3 Plans List (Compliance) 
The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
This decision relates to the Site Location Plan dated 20th May 2016, and the Proposed 
Floor Plans dated 12th December 2016. 
 
Condition Categories 
The heading of each condition gives an indication of the type of condition and what is 
required by it. There are 4 broad categories: 
 
Compliance - The condition specifies matters to which you must comply. These conditions 
do not require the submission of additional details and do not need to be discharged. 
 
Pre-commencement - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before any work begins on the approved development. 
The condition will list any specific works which are exempted from this restriction, e.g. 
ground investigations, remediation works, etc. 
 
Pre-occupation - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before occupation of all or part of the approved 
development.  
 
Bespoke Trigger - The condition contains a bespoke trigger which requires the submission 
and approval of further information, drawings or details before a specific action occurs.  
 

Page 120



Please note all conditions should be read fully as these headings are intended as a guide 
only. 
 
Where approval of further information is required you will need to submit a conditions 
application and pay the relevant fee, details of the fee can be found on the "what happens 
after permission" pages of the Council's Website.  You can submit your conditions 
application via the Planning Portal at www.planningportal.co.uk or send it direct to 
planning_registration@bathnes.gov.uk.  Alternatively this can be sent by post to The 
Planning Registration Team, Planning Services, Lewis House, Manvers Street, Bath, BA1 
1JG. 
 
 In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. 
 
 
 

Item No:   04 

Application No: 16/05085/FUL 

Site Location: 44 St Clement's Road Keynsham Bristol Bath And North East 
Somerset BS31 1AF 

 
 

Ward: Keynsham South  Parish: Keynsham Town Council  LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor Alan Hale Councillor Lisa O'Brien  

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Demolition of existing garage and erection of 1no detached dwelling 
in its place. 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Airport Safeguarding Zones, Agric Land Class 
3b,4,5, Forest of Avon, Housing Development Boundary, SSSI - 
Impact Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Mr John Ridgeway 

Expiry Date:  12th December 2016 

Page 121



Case Officer: Nikki Honan 

 
REPORT 
This application has been referred to the Development Management Committee following 
support from Keynsham Town Council which is contrary to the officer recommendation for 
refusal and the Chair has determined it should be brought to committee.  Comments from 
Keynsham Town Council are summarised within the Representation Section of this report. 
 
The application site is to the side of 44 St Clements Road.  The plot is on the corner of 
Edinburgh Road and St Clements Road in the Keynsham South ward.   The application 
proposes the demolition of the existing garage and construction of a three bed detached 
dwelling.   
 
Planning History:  
00/01279/FUL - Two storey side extension - PERMIT - 30.08.2000 
01/01551/FUL - Detached garage/workshop - PERMIT - 29.08.2001 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Keynsham Town Council  
Support - There are no planning reasons to object to the application as the proposal is in 
accordance with policy D.2 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
Highways:  
The applicant is seeking permission to erect a new 3 bed dwelling following the demolition 
of an existing garage adjacent to 44 St Clements Road, Keynsham. It is noted that the 
applicant sought pre-planning advice regarding development at this site where it was 
proposed to construct 2 no. flats in place of the garage. Highways DC expressed concerns 
relating to parking and intensification in use of the access in close proximity to the St. 
Clements Road/Edinburgh Road junction. In light of the planning advice received, the 
scale of the development has been reduced where it is now proposed to construct just 1 
no. dwelling. 
 
The proposed development includes the provision of 2 no. spaces for each dwelling which 
will satisfy the standards outlined in policy T.26 of the Local Plan. The provision of off-
street parking for the existing dwelling will require the demolition of approx. 10m of the 
front boundary wall and provision of a dropped kerb vehicular crossing. While the 
provision of this access will result in an increase in vehicular movements at this location, 
Highways DC envisages that this increase will be negligible and will not have a severe 
impact on highway safety. Furthermore, the reference to the development in the adjacent 
property (ref. 14/05475/FUL) where the applicant obtained permission to erect a new 
dwelling and construct a vehicular access is acknowledged. The use of the existing 
access and parking area off Edinburgh Road to serve the proposed dwelling is considered 
acceptable. 
 
The sites sustainable location having good access to a range of services, facilities and 
public transport is also acknowledged. This will help encourage future residents to use 
more sustainable modes of transport in order to access Keynsham town centre and 
beyond as opposed to relying on a private vehicle. 
 

Page 122



To conclude, Highways DC has no objection to this development subject to the following 
conditions: 
1. The areas allocated for parking on the submitted plan shall be kept clear of obstruction 
and shall not be used other than for the parking of vehicles in connection with the 
development hereby permitted. 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The Core Strategy now forms part of the statutory Development Plan 
and will be given full weight in the determination of planning applications. The Council's 
Development Plan now comprises: 
o Core Strategy (2014) 
o Saved Policies in the B&NES Local Plan (2007) 
o Joint Waste Core Strategy (2011) 
 
RELEVANT CORE STRATEY POLICIES 
 
The B&NES Local Plan policies that are replaced by policies in the Core Strategy are 
outlined in Appendix 1 of the Core Strategy. Those B&NES Local Plan policies that are not 
replaced and remain saved are listed in Appendix 2 of the Core Strategy 
 
The following policies of the Core Strategy are relevant to the determination of this 
application:  
DW1: District Wide Spatial Strategy  
CP6: Environmental Quality 
 
RELEVANT LOCAL PLAN POLICIES 
 
The following saved policies of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan (2007) are 
also relevant to the determination of this application:  
D.2: General design and public realm considerations 
D.4: Townscape considerations 
NE.5: Forest of Avon  
T.24 General development control and access policy 
T.26: On-site parking and servicing provision  
 
RELEVENT PMP POLICIES 
 
The placemaking plan is at an advanced stage (albeit still at Examination) and policies not 
subject to representations at Draft Plan stage (or only subject of supporting 
representations) are considered to be capable of being given substantial weight. Policies 
still subject to outstanding/unresolved representations can only be given limited weight at 
this stage until the Inspector's Final Report is received.  
 
The following policies still subject to outstanding/unresolved representations can only be 
given limited weight at this stage until the Inspector's Final Report is received:  
UD.1: General Urban Design Principles  
UD.2: Local Character and Distinctiveness   
UD.3: Urban Fabric  
UD.4: Streets and Spaces  

Page 123



UD.5: Building Design  
UD.6: Amenity  
UD.7: Infill and Backland Development 
ST7: Transport Requirements for Managing Development  
 
National Planning Policy Framework (March 2012) and the National Planning Practice 
Guidance (March 2014) can be awarded significant weight. 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
Site Context:  
The application site is a plot on the corner of Edinburgh Road and St Clements Road in 
Keynsham.   The existing house has a two storey side extension and large front porch 
(00/01279/FUL) and within the plot is an existing detached garage/workshop 
(01/01551/FUL).   
 
The adjoining semi (number 42) has planning permission (14/05475/FUL) for an attached 
dwelling following demolition of an existing side extension. This scheme mirrors the design 
and bulk of the adjoining semi at number 44.  It is located further to the north of the 
application site and follows the context in the immediate street scene in terms of building 
design, bulk and building line.   
 
The subject site is located on the corner and so has a relationship with the street that it 
sits at right angles to St Clements Road as well as the street that it fronts Edinburgh Road. 
Dwellings to the south along St Clements Road are set back and include semis on 
spacious plots.  Terrace bungalows are sited to the rear (west) of the application site.  The 
prevailing development pattern in the immediate street scene of the application site is 
therefore concluded as a spaciously laid out estate.    
 
Proposed Development:  
The application proposes the demolition of the existing garage and construction of a three 
bed detached dwelling.   
 
Principle of Development: 
The application site is located within the housing development boundary and therefore the 
principle of residential development is accepted subject to compliance with all other 
planning policies. 
 
Character and Appearance: 
The application proposes 1no. new dwelling to attach to the existing house on a corner 
plot between Edinburgh Road and St Clements Road.  Due to the spaciously laid out 
character in the immediate street scene, including single storey bungalows to the west 
and semi-detached houses set back from the application site, the proposed development 
fails to complement the character of the surrounding area and appears incongruous, 
cramped and overdevelopment on this prominent corner plot.  
 
The design of the proposed house follows some of the design characteristics of the 
existing house number 44, as well as 42 and the permitted house adjoining number 42. 
None the less it has due to space constaints taken on a more constrained form having a 
shorter front to back span and resultant lower roof reflecting the limited available space 
within the plot. It also pushjes built development close to the corner of the 2 streets which 

Page 124



it site adjacent to. In the context of the other development in the immediate street scene, 
including low bungalows to the west and semis to the south which all occupy generous 
plots, the proposed development on this prominent corner plot appears cramped, 
overdevelopment and incongruous.   
 
Policy D.2 of the Local Plan states that development will only be permitted if, amongst 
other things, the character of the public realm is maintained or enhanced that the 
development is of a high quality and that the proposed development will not cause 
significant harm to the amenities of existing or proposed occupiers of residential premises. 
Policy D.4 states that development will only be permitted where, amongst other things, it 
responds to the local context in terms of appearance, materials, siting, spacing and layout.  
Core Strategy policy CP6 also requires development to respect the local character and 
incorporate high quality design.   
 
Due to the constraints of this narrow, modest, corner plot, the proposed dwelling does not 
reflect the built form of the existing locality. The constraints of the site have resulted in the 
built form of the building failing to respect the character of the existing area. The proposed 
development appears cramped and incongruous in the street scene.  
 
For the reasons cited above the proposed development is not considered to comply with 
policies D.2 and D.4 of the Local Plan and policy CP6 of the Core Strategy. It is of note 
that the Placemaking policies albeit of limited weight do not materially change the 
considerations in this case. 
 
Amenity:  
Due to the proposed corner plot location, the proposal is not considered to be significantly 
harmful to the amenity of neighbouring residents due to its overbearing impact.  Due to the 
design and orientation of the site, the proposed dwelling is not considered to cause 
significantly harmful overlooking or overshadowing.   
 
Highways:  
2 no. spaces are proposed for the new dwelling, as well as 2 new off street parking 
spaces for the existing house at number 44.  This will satisfy the standards outlined in 
policy T.26 of the Local Plan. 
 
Highways DC has not objected to the proposed dropped kerb to accommodate parking for 
number 44 off St Clements Road as it will not have a severe impact on highway safety. 
The use of the existing access and parking area off Edinburgh Road to serve the 
proposed dwelling is considered acceptable. 
 
The site's sustainable location having good access to a range of services, facilities and 
public transport is also acknowledged. 
 
Conclusion:  
The proposed development appears dominant in the street scene due to its position next 
to the junction.  The proposed development appears incongruous and dominant to the 
character in the prevailing spaciously laid out estate. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

REFUSE 

Page 125



 
REASON(S) FOR REFUSAL 
 
 1 The proposed development by reason of its siting scale and design will fail to respect 
the context of the surrounding streetscene and spatial characteristics of the area. The 
development is therefore contrary to policy CP6 of the Core Strategy, adopted 2014, and 
polices D.2 and D.4 of the Bath and North East Local Plan, including minerals and waste 
policies, adopted October 2007 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
This decision relates to:  
01, 02, 03, 04 - all received 17 Oct 2016 
 
 In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. Notwithstanding 
informal advice offered by the Local Planning Authority the submitted application was 
unacceptable for the stated reasons and the applicant was advised that the application 
was to be recommended for refusal. Despite this the applicant chose not to withdraw the 
application and having regard to the need to avoid unnecessary delay the Local Planning 
Authority moved forward and issued its decision. In considering whether to prepare a 
further application the applicant's attention is drawn to the original discussion/negotiation. 
 
You are advised that as of 6 April 2015, the Bath & North East Somerset Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule comes into effect. Whilst the above 
application has been refused by the Local Planning Authority please note that CIL applies 
to all planning permissions granted on or after this date. Thus any successful appeal 
against this decision may become subject to CIL. Full details are available on the 
Council's website www.bathnes.gov.uk/cil 
 
 
 

Item No:   05 

Application No: 14/05836/FUL 

Site Location: Land Rear Of Yearten House Water Street East Harptree Bristol  

Page 126



 
 

Ward: Mendip  Parish: East Harptree  LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor T Warren  

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Erection of 8 dwellings and access. 

Constraints: Airport Safeguarding Zones, Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty, Housing Development Boundary, SSSI - 
Impact Risk Zones, Water Source Areas,  

Applicant:  John Sainesbury & Co. 

Expiry Date:  30th November 2016 

Case Officer: Christine Moorfield 

 
REPORT 
Reason for reporting application to the committee 
 
This application was considered by the Development Management Committee on the 29th 
July 2015.The committee resolution was to defer making a decision pending a site visit 
which took place on the 17th August 2015. 
 
The application was considered by the committee 26th August when committee resolved 
to delegate to grant permission for the application subject to the signing of a section 106 
agreement which required the following 
i)         The provision and maintenance of the public footpath and the provision of a 
pavement at the front of Yearten House.  
ii)         Provision and maintenance of the public open space and ecological corridors 
iii)        Provision of a management company to ensure the maintenance and protection of 
the landscaped areas in perpetuity. 
iv)        Provision of affordable housing.  
 
At the time of consideration the provision of eight dwellings would have required a 15% 
affordable housing contribution to be secured by a legal agreement. Before the applicant 

Page 127



could enter into a legal agreement a change to the National Planning Practise Guidance 
has meant that councils can no longer require contributions for developments of less than 
10 dwellings. The application is being referred back to the committee as the members 
have originally resolved to grant permission on the basis that affordable housing 
contributions would be made and these can no longer be required. There has therefore 
been a change in circumstance from the original submission. 
 
The proposed recommendation is that the proposal be permitted subject to the signing of 
a section 106 agreement, this being the  same decision as that previously made by the 
Development Management Committee. It is recommended that terms i)-iv) of the 106 
agreement are to be retained but term iv) provision of affordable housing is to be deleted 
from the heads of agreement for the Section 106. 
 
The report below is the report presented to the committee on the 26th August 2015. Any 
additional information raised at the 29th July committee has been incorporated within the 
report. The policy framework has now been updated and of note is the reference to Policy 
HDE 5a of the Neighbourhood Plan which relates to housing mix. The contribution that 
this proposal would make to the housing mix of the local area has been incorporated into 
the evidence supporting the Neighbourhood Plan Policies.  It is not considered that there 
are any changes to the policy framework which would warrant a different recommendation 
being made in respect of this application. 
 
 
Councillor Tim Warren has requested that this application be presented to the 
Development Management Committee due to the level of local interest. 
 
The Chair of the planning Committee has decided that this application should be 
presented to the planning committee due to the valid concerns and number of objections 
received including objections from the Parish Council as well as 25 letters (prior to re 
notification following the receipt of amended plans) from residents and a petition signed by 
23 residents.  
 
SITE DESCRIPTION AND PROPOSAL 
 
The site is accessed via a road spur from Water Lane which serves 4 number dwellings 
including Yearten House. The boundaries to the site are mainly hedge with a stone 
retaining wall adjacent to Middle Lane. The land is rough grazing land. The site is known 
to be occupied by badgers.  
 
The site is located within the housing development boundary for East Harptree and within 
the Mendip Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. Within the adopted Core Strategy 
East Harptree is identified as an RA2 settlement. Policy RA2 of the Adopted Core Strategy 
states that within the Development Boundary proposals for some limited residential 
development will be acceptable where: they are of a scale, character and appearance 
appropriate to the village. 
 
The proposal as originally submitted was for 8 dwellings. The scheme proposed one 2 
bed, two 3 bed and five 4 bed dwellings, the scheme also included access and parking. A 
pedestrian route with a ramp was proposed providing access to Middle Street along with 
an area of public open space. 

Page 128



 
During the consideration process the scheme has been amended and the size of the 
proposed 8 units has been reduced. The scheme now comprises one 2 bed, five 3 bed 
and two 4 bedroomed dwellings. 
 
The scheme still includes access and parking spaces, an area of open space and a 
pedestrian route through the site with steps down to Middle lane. The scale of the works in 
relation to the footpath has been reduced as the ramp has been omitted. 
 
 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
HIGHWAYS  
 
The highway engineer commented on the original submission that given the history of the 
site the access is considered acceptable. However, the internal layout was not considered 
adequate as the turning head appeared too small for a refuse vehicle to turn and a swept 
path diagram was requested. 
 
The Highway Engineer also stated that no paving across the carriageway should be 
provided. The proposed access should be a shared surface with a new footpath being 
provided from the site onto Middle Street which provides pedestrian access between the 
site and the shops and facilities in the village. 
 
The application originally proposed 1 x 2 bedroom house, and 2 x 3 bedroom houses 
which will require 2 parking spaces and 5 x 4 bedroom houses which will require 3 parking 
spaces. The level and layout of the parking as shown on the Site Layout was acceptable. 
 
No objection  was made to the application in principle subject to a revised layout plan 
showing a swept path diagram for the turning head that could accommodate a 10.225m 
refuse vehicle. 
 
Subsequently the applicant  provided a swept path diagrams for the turning head for the 
development which has been tested and is acceptable and therefore no highway objection 
is raised to the proposal subject to a S106 securing the S38 works and provision of the 
footpath link to Middle Street.  
 
Conditions in respect of retention and provision of access and parking spaces need to be 
attached to any permission granted. 
 
ARCHAEOLOGY  
 
The Councils archaeologist raised no objection subject to conditions in respect of the 
following being attached to any permission: 
(1) a field evaluation of the site,  
(2) a subsequent programme of archaeological work or mitigation, and  
(3) publication of the results. The scope of conditions 2 and 3 will depend on results of the 
field evaluation (condition 1): 
 
PARKS OFFICER  

Page 129



 
No objection subject to a condition in relation to the open space maintenance. 
 
 
EDUCATION 
 
Bath and North East Somerset Council People and Communities Early Years, Primary 
School, Secondary School, Post 16 and Youth Services Developer Contributions required 
are as follows: 
The contribution for Early Years provision would be £0 as there is sufficient provision in 
the area. 
The total for school places would be £10,991.58 
The Total for Youth provision would be £1,600.80 
Therefore, a total contribution at the time of comment sought by the council would be 
£12,592.38 
 
 
TREES  
 
The Councils Arboriculturalist commented that no significant trees exist within the main 
body of the site, however trees are evident around the boundaries on and off site. Those 
along the southern boundary in particular should be considered since these will shade and 
overhang the rear gardens. The application should be able to demonstrate how these 
have been considered in the design layout. The application should include a tree survey 
following the recommendations in BS 5837:2012 as a minimum requirement. 
 
The indicative layout shown places ecologically important hedgerows within the rear 
gardens of proposed properties, which may risk incremental loss over time. It is suggested 
that the garden boundaries are set back from the hedgerows with a maintenance strip 
created adjoining the hedgerows. Boundary landscape would then become part of the 
management of communal areas. 
 
PARISH COUNCIL  
 
Numerous objections to the scheme have been made, in particular concerns have been 
raised in relation to the size and scale of the proposed dwellings and the detrimental effect 
on the visual amenity of the area and the existing surrounding dwellings.  
 
The scheme is seen to impact on the residential amenity of adjacent residential properties 
in terms of  overshadowing. 
 
This is a poorly designed scheme the style and design of the proposed dwellings are of an 
urban nature and not in keeping with the surrounding dwellings or locality. The height and 
size of the proposed dwellings will be a prominent feature when viewed from the elevated 
south side of the village and Smitham Hill. 
 
Access parking and highway safety must be fully considered. 
 
Following the submission of amended plans the Parish Council submitted the following 
comments: 

Page 130



 
Parking still  inadequate. 
Restricted access for service vehicles. 
Inappropriate design in terms of size and height  
Detrimental impact on neighbours  
Green corridor should be retained 
Impact on ecology particularly given the removal of the badger sett 
The steps exit onto an inadequate pavement on a busy road. 
The management of the communal space should be safeguarded with a section 106 
agreement.  
Restriction on the use of permitted development should be put in place. 
Concerns in respect of neighbour notification and information on the website. 
 
Councillors voted to object to the amended proposals. 
 
 
FLOOD RISK MANAGEMENT AND DRAINAGE  
 
The site is located in flood zone 1 and is less than 1 hectare in size. 
 
The applicant is generally advised to review the Environment Agency's Local Flood Risk. 
 
Drainage from new development must not increase flood risk either on-site or elsewhere. 
 
Government policy strongly encourages a sustainable drainage system (SuDS) approach 
to achieve these objectives. 
 
The application as submitted did not include any details about how the development will 
manage surface water and a drainage strategy was required.  
 
Subsequent further drainage information has been submitted and this has addressed most 
of the drainage engineers concerns. The councils drainage engineer has commented that 
the technical note is acceptable and so no objection is raised subject to conditions. 
 
As requested Wessex Water has been informed of the  technical note submitted as some 
of the surface water system will be adopted by them. 
 
PLANNING POLICY 
 
In the adopted B&NES Core Strategy (2011-2029), East Harptree has been identified as a 
RA2 settlement as it has not got three key facilities and only has a limited daily public 
transport service. RA2 settlements will receive approximately 10-15 dwellings over the 
Plan period of 2011-2029.  
 
The proposed development is within the Housing Development Boundary; therefore no 
policy objection would be raised subject to urban design, landscape and providing 
satisfactory highways access. Further, the site has been identified in the Placemaking 
Plan evidence base work by the Parish Council as the preferable option for a potential 
housing site for approximately 10 dwellings.  
 

Page 131



The previous report presented to committee on the 29th July stated that because 
'the site is for 8 dwellings then this development will not contribute towards the 10-15 
dwellings required through Policy RA1 of the Core Strategy'.  
 
This matter is referred to later in this report as amended officer views in respect of this 
matter were reported verbally at the committee meeting. 
   
AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
 
The requirement for affordable housing has changed since this application was last 
considered at Committee and this is addressed further in the officer assessment section of 
this report. 
 
 
URBAN DESIGN 
 
The principle of development  on this site has been supported in urban design terms. The 
site is considered to  fit well  into the existing grain of the village.  
 
It is noted that this is a proposed site for development supported by the Parish Council 
and is proposed to be a site allocation within the Placemaking Plan options document. 
The original plans submitted were considered to be acceptable in terms of number of 
dwellings but the large footprints created an urban feel to the site which conflicted with 
other considerations in respect of this site.  
 
 
The urban design officer objected to the scheme as initially submitted due to the 
overdevelopment of the footpath ramp, the development layout and in particular the view 
through the site and the relationship between the houses and the proposed open space. 
In addition the impact on the amenity of adjacent residents was seen to be detrimentally 
effected due to the relationship of new units to existing and in particular the siting of plots 
4 and 8 were seen to cause harm.. 
 
The plans were amended in order to address the issues raised by the Urban Design 
Officer. A series of amended plans were submitted for discussion., a final set of plans 
being submitted in 2nd June 2015. 
 
The main issues that the amended plans addressed were, the removal of the large ramp 
access, reorientating plot 8 in order to provide surveillance of the footpath and to enable 
the footpath to provide a green wedge or vista through to middle street. The moving of plot 
8 away from Malabar House boundary and the moving of plot 4 away from the boundary 
with Yearten House. 
 
The Urban Design officer considers the amended layout and design of the proposed units 
to be acceptable and no objection is raised. 
 
PUBLIC OPEN SPACE 
 

Page 132



The Parks and Green Spaces Team made comments but these comments were made in 
advance of the introduction of CIL and prior to the reduction of the number of bedrooms 
provided on the site. 
It was stated that the quantum of development results in an occupancy of 23 persons 
creating demand for formal green space and allotments of 345m2 and 69m2 respectively. 
The Council's data shows that there is a surplus in respect of formal green space 
provision within the East Harptree Parish of 0.80ha and a deficit of allotments in East 
Harptree of 0.21ha. At the time the comments were made a S106 contribution would have 
been required however this has now been replaced by CIL. 
 
The submission proposes 286m2 of formal green space to the west of the site, in 
accordance with the Council's 'Planning Obligations' SPD 2015 the developer would be 
required to maintain the on-site provision to the satisfaction of the Council for at least 12 
months. 
 
Thereafter, the developer must demonstrate that the provision will be permanently 
maintained and managed by a management company, or offer the provision to the Parish 
Council and make a capital contribution to cover maintenance for a 20 year period. 
 
 
ECOLOGY 
 
In relation to the original scheme submitted the councils ecologist noted that a 
comprehensive ecological and protected species surveys have been submitted. An 
updated ecological report has also been submitted. The site contains an active badger 
sett (considered to be a subsidiary sett), a low population of slow-worms (associated with 
habitat on the western edge of the site). Bat surveys at the site show use by a high 
number of species including use by the light-sensitive species of both greater and lesser 
horseshoe bats. 
As originally submitted the layout showed an artificial badger sett within the "communal 
open space" in a western portion of the site, this was welcomed, The provision of a 
"badger run" (north south) across the site couples with the location of the boundary fences 
shown on the layout plans allowing existing vegetation to be retained which can be be 
strengthened or enhanced is also welcomed. 
 
The councils ecologist considered amendments to the site layout, location of open space 
and new badger sett, would maximise the chance of successful badger mitigation and 
wider ecological benefits to the site which would also bring benefits for future residents. 
The ecological mitigation scheme would also benefit from reduced number of dwellings to 
enable sufficient space for habitat provision, planting and boundary vegetation. 
 
The badger mitigation strategy and location of any new badger sett must be determined 
by ecological advice. This would be expected to include appropriately dark planting belts, 
exclusion zones to provide connectivity to mitigate impacts both on badgers and bats. 
Such mitigation needs to be shown on plans. These areas should not form part of 
residential gardens where residents would have the option of removing or changing this 
provision. 
 
No dedicated habitat belts are currently provided on the eastern north south boundary 
which is currently used by badgers to access the site, nor the north eastern boundary. 

Page 133



These sections must be revised.The removal of Plot 4 could provide sufficient space for 
this.  
 
The applicant's ecologist has recommended the creation of an orchard area. This could be 
attractive to badgers and for residents, and would increase the potential success of 
badger mitigation. These considerations are important not only to avoid harm to badgers 
but also to reduce risk of damage from new badger activity after construction, and avoid 
future conflict between badgers and residents. 
 
Following  the submission of amended layout plans and  further discussions the councils 
ecologist has confirmed that whilst further information in respect of the status of the sett 
would have been helpful conditions can be used to secure final details and implementation 
of ecological mitigation for badger, reptiles and bats including habitat provision and 
planting, future management responsibilities and resourcing, and provision of details of all 
proposed external lighting (including street lighting and any proposed for individual plots) 
sufficient to demonstrate zero or 0-1 lux light spill onto habitats and boundary vegetation 
will be necessary. 
 
NEIGHBOUR RESPONSES 
 
One letter of support has been received. 
 
A petition signed by 23 residents has been received as well as 25 individual letters of 
objection. Following amendments to the layout of the scheme interested parties were re 
consulted and the total number of individual letters received in relation to this proposed 
development is 32. 
 
The main issues raised are: 
 
Density of the development higher density supported by officers 
Highways parking and access . General road safety in the locality due to increased traffic 
and limited footpath network. 
Footpath link is unnecessary. 
Ecology in particular badgers and present badger activity 
Design and site layout the buildings are too tall and too urban in appearance. The design 
of the buildings are not appropriate in this rural location. 
Trees loss of vegetation on the site. 
Loss of residential amenity in particular loss of privacy, light and creation of a sense of 
enclosure. 
Drainage 
History of the site- old planning application indicated 5 units on this site/ adjacent site only 
permitted three dwellings. 
Archaeology 
Placemaking plan not adopted still in draft. 
Lack of neighbour consultation. 
Inaccuracy of comments/ information. 
 
 
Further comments received following reconsultation in general reflected the issues listed 
above. However in addition the following matters have been raised: 

Page 134



Lack of garages will create onstreet parking 
Wessex Water must agree to the scheme 
Bristol Water Comments needed. 
Although some improvements some plots still too tall.. 
Plot 6 only 2 car parking spaces? 
Development should incorporate geen initiatives. 
Possibility of a Strip of land being purchased so that its retention as a wildlife corridor can 
be safeguarded. 
Provision of pavement outside Yearten House linking into the site. 
Views through the site 
Retention of a Green Corridor. 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The following policies are material considerations: 
 
Saved Local Plan Policies: 
 
- SC.1 Settlement classification 
- D.2 - General design and public realm considerations 
- D.4 - Townscape Considerations 
- BH.12 Important archaeological remains 
- T.1 overarching access policy 
- T.3 Promotion of walking and use of public transport 
- T.6 Cycling Strategy: cycle parking 
- T.24 General development control and access policy 
- T.26 On-site parking and servicing provision 
- NE.1 Landscape character 
- NE.2 Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
- NE.10 Nationally important species and habitats 
- NE.11 Locally important species & habitats 
- NE.12 Natural features: retention, new provision and management 
- IMP.1 Planning obligations 
 
Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy 
 
The Bath and north East Somerset Core Strategy has now been adopted and can be 
afforded full weight in determining planning applications.  The following policies should be 
considered: 
 
- DW1 District Wide Spatial Strategy 
- RA2 - Development in Villages outside the Green Belt not meeting Policy RA1 Criteria 
- CP2 - Sustainable Construction 
- CP6 Environmental Quality 
- CP7 Green Infrastructure 
- CP9 - Affordable Housing 
- CP10 - Housing Mix 
- CP13 - Infrastructure Provision 
 
- Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document - Adopted July 2009 
- Mendip Hills AONB Management Plan 2009 -2014 

Page 135



 
The draft Placemaking Plan was submitted to the Planning Inspectorate on 12th April 
2016 for independent examination. Those policies not subject to representations at Draft 
Plan stage (or only subject of supporting representations) are considered to be capable of 
being given substantial weight. Policies still subject to outstanding/unresolved 
representations can only be given limited weight at this stage until the Inspector's Final 
Report is received.  
 
The following policies which are relevant to this application are given limited weight :  
D2 Local Character and Distinctiveness 
D4 Street and spaces 
D5 Building Design 
D6 Ameity 
 
The Chew Valley Neighbourhood Plan which has passed examination.The case officer 
has been advised that the policies within the neighbourhood plan are a material 
consideration the policies now carry significant weight as the plan has been through the 
examination and the referendum has been date has been set for 16th February 2017. The 
Plan has been modified in accordance with the examiners comments.  
 
The relevant Policies as amended by the examiner are as follows:  
 
Policy HDE2 - Settlement Build Character 
Policy HDE5a - Housing Mix 
Policy HDE6a - Sustainability - Renewable Energy 
Policy HDE8a - Parking for Domestic Dwellings 
Policy HDE8b - Parking for Domestic Dwellings 
Policy HDE9 a, b and c. Sustainable Drainage 
 
 
- National Planning Policy Framework 2012 
- National Planning Practice Guidance 2014 
 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
MAIN ISSUES TO BE CONSIDERED 
 
Principle of residential development and density of development. 
Access and parking 
Ecology and Landscape 
Design layout and impact on residential amenity 
Drainage 
Archaeology 
Other matters 
CIL, Education, Affordable housing, trees, 106 agreement.  
 
 
Principle of residential development and density of development. 
  

Page 136



In the adopted B&NES Core Strategy (2011-2029), East Harptree has been identified as a 
RA2 settlement as it has not got three key facilities and only has a limited daily public 
transport service. RA2 settlements will receive approximately 10-15 dwellings over the 
Plan period of 2011-2029.  
 
The proposed development is within the Housing Development Boundary; therefore no 
policy objection would be raised subject to the matters of urban design, landscape and 
provision of satisfactory highways access.  
 
The site has been identified in the Placemaking Plan evidence base work by the Parish 
Council as a potential housing site for between 8 and 10 dwellings.  
 
East Harptree meets the adopted Core Strategy's criteria for an RA2 settlement, which 
allows for residential development of around 10-15 dwellings, in addition to small scale 
windfall sites within the Housing Development Boundary (HBD). As this site is below 0.5ha 
(0.44ha) and for less than 10 dwellings (8 dwellings proposed), and within the current 
HDB, it counts as a small site under the GPDO definition and was originally considered to 
be a windfall site.  
 
The previous report presented to committee on the 29th July stated that because 
'the site is for 8 dwellings then this development will not contribute towards the 10-15 
dwellings required through Policy RA2 of the Core Strategy'.  
 
However, at the committee meeting members were informed that following further 
discussions officers considered that the site has constraints which have impacted on the 
possible density of the development. The main constraint being the presence of badgers 
and the need to incorporate protected undeveloped areas for them within the layout. 
Therefore, a scheme for a greater number of houses would be unlikely to be acceptable 
on this site due, in particular, to this constraint. Given these specific circumstances the 8 
units would contribute towards the 10-15 dwellings required through Policy RA2 of the 
Core Strategy. 
 
The figure of 8-10 dwellings on this site came from the proposed site allocation and 
background evidence included in the Placemaking Plan policy SR6 and supporting site 
assessment evidence base. In terms of density this is still considered to be a low density 
scheme in design terms at its current development level. The density of this development 
is 18.1 units per hectare, however this is considered to conform to the policies of the draft 
Placemaking Plan and the policies of the Neighbourhood Plan. 
 
Access and parking 
 
The highway engineer commented that the access arrangements are considered 
acceptable.  
Amended plans were submitted which indicate a swept path diagram for the turning head 
that will accommodate a 10.225m refuse vehicle. This has been tested and is acceptable.  
 
Initial comments from the highway engineer stated that no paving across the carriageway 
should be provided and a proposed access with a shared surface is acceptable with a new 
footpath being provided from the site onto Middle Street which will provide pedestrian 
access between the site and the shops and facilities in the village. The footpath to Middle 

Page 137



Street has been provided and simplified in its design which is seen as a benefit as it will 
improve permeability within the locality. The simplified design is in keeping with the 
general character and appearance of the locality. Whilst precise details of the entrance 
into the site have not been provided the entrance is relatively small and requires a section 
of the existing stone wall to be removed. It is considered acceptable for the details to be 
the subject of a condition.  
 
The access road into the site is shown as a shared surface area and this is acceptable 
and complies with the Highway Engineers requirements. The highway engineer does not 
consider that the development will impact on the highway network to any great extent 
within the vicinity of the site and the proposal is not considered to result in highway safety 
being compromised.  
 
Several residents commented that the Highway Engineer had mistakenly referred to 
footpaths but it is recognised that there are limited footpaths within the vicinity of the site. 
The scale of this development is not considered to harm the interests of highway and 
pedestrian safety in the area. 
 
The application provides one 2 bedroom house, five 3 bedroom houses which will require 
2 parking spaces and two 4 bedroom houses which will require 3 parking spaces. Plot 6 
has not been indicated as having 3 car parking spaces but the agent has confirmed that 
this will be done and there is adequate space within the plot for this to be provided. The 
level and layout of the parking as shown on the Site Layout is acceptable and conditions 
to ensure provision and retention are considered necessary relevant and reasonable. The 
reduction in the number of bedrooms proposed results in a reduction in the traffic 
generated as a result of this proposal.  
 
The section of pavement which is missing outside Yearten House and is adopted highway 
verge was never completed in the 1960s when the bungalow development was built. This 
section of pavement is considered necessary and it is proposed that its construction by 
tied in with the 106 agreement for the provision of the pedestrian footway. 
 
The proposal is seen to comply with policies T.1, T.3, T.6, T.24 and T.26 in terms of the 
provision of a footpath parking facilities and the access to the site. Also the location of the 
site is accessible to the limited facilities that exist within East Harptree. In accordance with 
Core Strategy Policy CP13 the proposal is seen to comply with the requirements to 
provide the necessary infrastructure in relation to the proposal. 
 
In conclusion the highway engineer raised no objection and considers the scheme to be 
acceptable subject to a S106 securing the S38 works and provision of the footpath link to 
Middle Street.  
 
 
Ecology and landscape 
 
A comprehensive ecological and protected species surveys was submitted with the 
application. An updated ecological report was submitted in February which sought to deal 
with the issues raised by the councils Ecologist. 
 

Page 138



The site contains an active badger sett, a low population of slow-worms. Bat surveys at 
the site show use by a high number of species including use by the light-sensitive species 
of both greater and lesser horseshoe bats. 
The original proposed layout indicated an artificial badger sett within the "communal open 
space" in a western portion of the site. The provision of open space and an artificial sett 
was very welcome, although the proposed badger sett was not considered to be in the 
best location to maximise the chance of success, and might not be required.  The further 
revision therefore removed the proposed sett from this location, based on ecological 
advice.  The provision of the north-south "badger run" and the boundary fences shown on 
the layout plans along the north-west and southern boundaries, beyond which existing 
vegetation will be retained and can be strengthened or enhanced, are also considered to 
be acceptable. 
 
Amendments to the scheme were considered beneficial to provide acceptable ecological 
mitigation which will also bring benefits for future residents. The reduction in built footprint 
enables sufficient space for habitat provision, planting and boundary vegetation to be 
provided. 
 
Dedicated vegetated exclusion zones which need to be kept dark require plans indicating 
how these areas will be protected from light spill from proposed street or domestic lighting. 
These areas should not form part of residential gardens where residents would have the 
option of removing or changing this provision.  
 
Further comments received in respect of present badger activities do not impact on the 
Councils Ecologists comments who is satisfied that conditions will ensure adequate 
protection/mitigation works to accommodate badgers on the site. 
 
Subject to conditions the councils Ecologist is satisfied that this scheme will not have an 
unacceptable detrimental impact on the interests of ecology or badgers.  Finalised details 
of badger mitigation can be secured by condition, and will need to be informed by the 
findings of update survey, with consideration to the potential need for provision of an 
artificial sett in a suitable location, if necessary. The ecologist is confident that the current 
proposal can accommodate this if required.  The landscaping and open space 
management plan will need to include the necessary habitat and ecological corridor 
provision and their future maintenance and protection in perpetuity. 
 
The proposal is therefore seen in principle to comply with the saved policy NE11 of the 
local plan and Core Strategy Policy CP6 which highlight the need and requirement to 
preserve and where possible enhance wildlife and ecological interests as part of a 
development scheme. 
 
Design and layout 
 
The principle of development on this site is supported in urban design terms. The site fits 
well into the existing grain of the village and is a proposed site for development supported 
by the Parish Council in principle and is proposed to be a site allocation within the 
Placemaking Plan options document. The original plans submitted were considered to be 
acceptable in terms of number of dwellings but there were concerns in relation to the site 
layout and the overall scale of the individual units. 
 

Page 139



In respect of connections and access the site is well located within the village and is within 
walking distance of the local facilities. This site offers a good opportunity to provide 
greater permeability within the village connecting Middle Street and Water Street and 
therefore, a well-designed, safe and overlooked pedestrian access onto Middle Street is 
seen to benefit the locality. A public right of way that accesses Middle Street adjacent to 
Malabar House is supported as it is recognised that Middle Street is narrow with no 
pavements in parts.  
 
The access should be suitably designed in order to ensure it reflects the character of this 
locality and minimizes loss of existing wall and vegetation on the site and whilst full details 
have not been submitted it is considered that these details can be the subject of a 
condition. 
 
The potential capacity of this site has been considered to be 8-10 dwellings; therefore the 
proposal complies with this density of development in principle.  
At this density the development reflects the rural character of the surrounding cottages 
along Middle Street and Orchard End It is these traditional properties that have influenced 
the design of the development rather than the modern 1950s bungalows adjacent to the 
site. In this regard the proposal is considered to also meet the requirements of the 
Neighbourhood Plan. 
 
The original scheme submitted was considered to be highways dominated and designed 
around the turning head. The new dwellings should address the street, with habitable 
rooms positioned to provide overlooking to the street. The turning head within the scheme 
is required to accommodate refuse vehicles in order to satisfy the requirements of the 
highway engineer. The shared surface however limits the visual impact of the road/turning 
head.  
 
A transition to a different surface treatment from the existing tarmacked access road 
softens the appearance of the new development and helps to maintain a rural character. 
In order to identify the entrance to this development a planter has been indicated adjacent 
to the entrance to plot number 1. 
 
The amended plans received reduced the footprint and size of the buildings which has 
reduced the 'urban' appearance of the scheme as particularly raised as a concern by 
interested parties. This reduction in built mass has improved the general appearance of 
the scheme by allowing more visual space between properties thus enabling more 
flexibility in terms of ensuring protection of features within the site.  
 
Plots 7 and 8 have been reoriented so that the footpath is overlooked providing casual 
surveillance. 
A view to the green space and trees adjoining plot 8 and beyond following the path has 
been achieved as a terminating view which maintains a green wedge into the scheme and 
visually opens up the pedestrian route to the village centre. 
 
Sections have been provided through the site to indicate the relationship and in particular 
the heights of the proposed dwellings in relation to the adjacent existing properties. 
 
In compliance with policies D4 a safe and well overlooked pedestrian route linking through 
to Middle Street which reflects the rural character of the village has been proposed. 

Page 140



Windows are proposed at first floor level in the north east and North West elevations of 
the property on plot number 8 and these provide the necessary casual surveillance.  
 
The ramped access to Middle Street which was considered to be over-engineered has 
been removed from the proposal. Whilst there is a presumption in  favour of providing 
ramped public access ways where possible the lack of footpaths along Middle Lane would 
render this link less attractive to pushchairs or wheel chair users etc. and therefore the 
ramp was felt to detract and harm the visual amenity of the locality was not considered 
justifiable. 
 
The proposed communal green space due to the realignment of the footpath and 
reoriented plot 8 now forms part of a coherent landscape design. Furthermore, it is 
overlooked and is now considered to relate well to the proposed development form. 
Initially it was considered that the open space should be located more centrally within the 
scheme with a clear role and function. The amended layout is considered acceptable 
although it is considered that the open space could have played a more significant role in 
this scheme. However, this matter would not justify refusal of this scheme. 
 
With regard to the maintenance of this area the councils open space officer has confirmed 
that the provision must be permanently maintained and managed by a management 
company, or offered to the Parish Council and a capital contribution made to cover 
maintenance for a 20 year period. This matter needs to be the subject of a 106 
agreement. The agent has agreed to the provision of a management company. 
 
Landscaping within the site has been indicated within the site layout plan. Clear 
maintenance protected run areas have been indicated along the south and North West 
boundaries in order that these areas are protected in perpetuity for both maintenance and 
ecological reasons. These areas will be incorporated into the open space management of 
the site.  
 
In relation to the impact on the amenity of the adjacent residents have particularly raised 
the issues of overlooking and loss of light. 
 
The original scheme indicated plot number 4 in close proximity to the boundary with 
Yearten House. Given the height difference and the close proximity of the two dwellings it 
was considered plot 4 would cause harm to the amenity at present enjoyed by the 
residents. The plan has been amended and number   
4 now sit over 14 m from Yearten house being 8m from the boundary. No first floor 
windows are proposed on the east elevation of number 4 and only a ground floor toilet 
window is proposed. Therefore, there is not considered to be an issue with overlooking 
between these properties. The finished floor level of number 4 is shown to be 119.75m. 
The section through the site indicates that plot 4 will sit at a height of 8m high which is 
1.75m above the maximum height of the adjacent house, Yearten House. 
 
Plot number 3 sits a minimum of 12m from the site boundary with Windrush. There are 
two windows in the gable end facing Windrush the first floor window serves the bathroom 
and should be conditioned to be glazed with obscure glass and retained as such. There is 
a small side window serving the dining area. The relationship between these residential 
units it considered acceptable and it is not considered that the new dwelling will harm the 
residential amenity at present enjoyed by this existing dwelling. 

Page 141



 
Plots 4 to 8 sit at a minimum distance of  6m from the inside edge of the mature hedge 
and are not considered to result in a loss of amenity to the adjacent dwelling and in 
particular Orchard End. The finished floor levels indicate that the new buildings will have 
an eaves height of 126m Orchard View is shown to have an eaves height of 128m and 
therefore the new dwellings is not considered to have an overbearing impact on this 
property. 
 
The reorientation of plot 8 has moved the built form away from Malabar House the 
distance between the buildings being a minimum of 16m. It is not considered therefore 
that the development would harm the setting of this traditional property through 
overlooking and or by having an overbearing impact. 
 
The submitted plans indicate levels across the site as existing and the ffl of the proposed 
dwellings. Sections through the site indicate that in principle the units will be sit 'down' in 
the site. 
 
The land rises by approximately two metres from North East to South West. The highest 
part of the site is the South Western corner. The ffl of the units are shown on the layout 
plan. 
 
Plot 8 the land here is shown to be 122.50 m AOD (above sea level) with the slab level of 
the property being set down at 121.4m. Therefore the plans indicate that the slab level of 
the property will be one metre lower than the ground level. Sections through the site 
indicate how the new units relate to the adjacent properties and the existing site levels. 
The ridgeline height of the unit on plot 8 is 1.75m higher than Malabar House.  
 
The applicant has specified the houses will be built in natural stone which is strongly 
supported in principle as a requirement for this site. However, the natural stone specified 
by the applicant (Dolomitic Breccia), is not evidenced to match the local Mendip 
character/existing natural stone which predominates within the village and its 
sourcing/origin is not specified. A condition is required to specify and approve the final 
natural stone to be used in construction to make sure that it in keeping with the local 
vernacular - in terms of colour pallet and stone size etc. Retaining walls are specified in 
natural stone, but the material is not specified, again this should be subject to condition. 
 
Other details - oak finished joinery on the doors and windows,  red tile roofs (Sandtoft 
Modula double Roman tile in Chiltern Red), alumasc heritage cast aluminium with black 
finish (as shown on the elevation plans), timber clad bin stores are propose to the 
side/rear of the properties, are supported. The proposal to provide no street lighting is also 
supported as it retains the rural character of the village and will contribute towards 
maintaining dark skies." 
 
The scheme is therefore seen to comply with saved policies D2 and D4 in terms of the 
details, mass, bulk and siting of the units on this site. The proposal is seen to respect the 
local character and appearance of the area and not to harm the amenity of adjacent 
residents to an extent that refusal would be warranted. In accordance with the 
requirements of the NPPF para 57 the scheme has recognised the need to plan positively 
for the achievement of high quality and inclusive design for the development, including 
individual buildings and public and private spaces. 

Page 142



 
The site is located within the AONB where saved policy NE2 is relevant as is the Mendip 
Hills AONB Management Plan 2009 -2014. In line with the NPPF 2012 the scheme seeks 
to protect the interests of biodiversity of the area. It also is not seen to compromise the 
intrinsic beauty or character and appearance of the area which has rendered it worthy of 
AONB status. 
 
The drainage engineer raised concerns in relation to the need for further drainage 
information. However, consideration of the further information submitted has satisfied the 
drainage engineer that the scheme is acceptable and subject to conditions no objection is 
raised to the proposal. However, the acceptance from Wessex Water as the local water 
authority has been identified as being necessary. 
 
Archaeology 
 
The council's archaeologist raised no objection subject to conditions in respect of the 
following being provided 
(1) a field evaluation of the site,  
(2) a subsequent programme of archaeological work or mitigation, and  
(3) publication of the results. The scope of conditions 2 and 3 will depend on results of the 
field evaluation (condition 1): 
 
In the light of continued concerns being expressed by interested parties the councils 
archaeologist reconsidered his original comments but concluded that his recommended 
conditions would provide adequate mitigation for any archaeological impacts caused by 
the proposed development. 
 
Other matters 
 
Purchase of land 
 
It is preferable for all corridors to form part of the landscape scheme in order that their 
detailing and retention can be ensured as part of a comprehensive scheme. However, any 
private land sales cannot be controlled by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Pavement Provision 
 
The section of pavement which is missing and is adopted highway verge was never 
completed in the 1960s when the bungalow development was built. This section of 
pavement is considered necessary and it is proposed that its construction be tied in with 
the 106 agreement for the provision of the pedestrian footway. 
 
Neighbour notification 
 
Neighbours were concerned that the application had not been adequately advertised. The 
application was advertised in accordance with the council's protocol for public 
consultation. Following the receipt of amended plans which are considered to take on 
board residents' concerns neighbours and consultees were renotified and given the 
opportunity to amend/add to their original comments. 
 

Page 143



Views 
 
There are views from some adjacent properties across the site to the lake. Whilst it is 
appreciated that these views are important to the residents the development of this site 
cannot be prohibited in order to preserve these private views. 
 
Protection of a Green corridor. 
 
Concerns have been raised in relation to an appeal on the land at the rear of Home Farm. 
This appeal was lodged following refusal of planning permission in 1995. At the time 
density of the development and retention of green space were considered important in 
relation to the site. 
The 'in principle acceptance' of development on this site and the density of such 
development  have now moved on from the position in 1995 due to changes in 
government and local legislation and advice. 
 
 
Clarification in respect of nearby appeal decisions 
 
Appeal on site nearby Middle Street 12/02266/FUL- 9 dwellings on 0.49 hectares- density 
below 30 per hectares min. as required in 2012.  (DENSITY18.3 dwellings per hectare).  
 
Site at the rear of Home Farm 1995 WC 003468/B 
 
Approval of three houses followed dismissal of an appeal for 5 houses. The appeal was 
dismissed for 5 houses as primarily they were considered to be out of character with the 
surrounding context in terms of their footprint and height (8m). The density refused was 3 
dwellings per hectare. The approved scheme was for 1.8 dwellings per hectare. 
 
Officer comments- this decision was made 20 years ago. A balance has to be made 
between the realistic acceptable density of development in line with current housing needs 
as identified in the Core strategy and the emerging Neighbourhood Plan. 
 
 
Affordable Housing 
 
At the time this report was first presented to committee and a resolution past to grant 
permission there was a requirement to provide 15% affordable housing. However, since 
that resolution the Government has amended its planning guidance so there is no longer a 
requirement to make provision for affordable housing on schemes of this size. 
Accordingly, this requirement is now no longer a requirement of the draft Section 106 
Agreement. 
 
 
CIL 
 
The threshold previously referred to was for developments of ten-units or less (and which 
have a maximum combined gross floor space of no more than 1,000 square metres). 
However this 1,000 square metres threshold relates to tariff style contributions which were 
previously required to be paid and were the subject of 106 agreements.  

Page 144



Since the introduction of CIL in April 2015 a development of this nature would be CIL 
liable. 
 
 
 
106 Agreement 
 
The agent has agreed in principle to entering into a 106 agreement in respect of the 
provision of the footpath and the maintenance and retention of the footpath and the 
landscaped areas including the buffer routes adjacent to the boundaries which are to be 
protected. 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
The proposed development is considered to be sympathetically designed the density is 
considered acceptable as is the principle of 8 houses on this site. The amendments made 
to the scheme are considered to address the concerns raised by residents and therefore, 
the scheme is considered an appropriate form of development for this location complying 
with both local and government policies and advice. 
 
It is therefore recommended that planning permission be granted but with no requirement 
for the provision of affordable housing. 
 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

Delegate to PERMIT 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 0 A)           Authorise the Head of Legal and Democratic Services to enter into a Section 
106 Agreement to secure the following :- 
 
i)         The provision and maintenance of the public footpath and the provision of a 
pavement at the front of Yearten House.  
ii)         Provision and maintenance of the public open space and ecological corridors 
iii)        Provision of a management company to ensure the maintenance and protection of 
the landscaped areas in perpetuity.. 
 
 
B)       Subject to the completion of (A) authorise the Group Manager - Development 
Management to PERMIT the development with the following conditions;- 
 
 
 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) and to avoid the accumulation of unimplemented planning permissions. 
 

Page 145



 2 The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
 3 3-The areas allocated for parking on the submitted plan shall be kept clear of 
obstruction and shall not be used other than for the parking of vehicles in connection with 
the development hereby permitted.   
 
REASON -To ensure that adequate parking provision is provided and retained within the 
development. 
 
 4 Prior to the commencement of development details to include elevations and sections 
through the means of pedestrian access to the site from Middle Lane shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the access shall be 
constructed and retained in accordance with the approved plans. 
 
Reason The applicants have chosen not to submit full details in respect of this access 
which is an intergral part of the scheme and given its location within the village its 
appearance and construction will require full consideration in the interest of ensuring that 
the access is appropriate in terms of appearance and layout. 
 
 5 The proposed roads, including footpaths and turning spaces where applicable, shall be 
constructed in such a manner as to ensure that each dwelling before it is occupied shall 
be served by a properly bound and compacted footpath and carriageway to at least base 
course level between the dwelling and existing highway. 
 
Reason To ensure that the development is served by adequate parking spaces for 
residents at all times. 
 
 6 No development shall commence until the applicant, or their agents or successors in 
title, has secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological work in 
accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has first been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The programme of archaeological work should provide a field 
evaluation of the site to determine date, extent, and significance of any archaeological 
deposits or features, and shall be carried out by a competent person and completed in 
accordance with the approved written 
scheme of investigation. 
 
Reason: The site is within an area of potential archaeological interest and the Council will 
wish to evaluate the significance and extent of any archaeological remains before work 
commences. 
 
 7 No development shall commence until the applicant, or their agents or successors in 
title, has presented the results of the archaeological field evaluation to the Local Planning 
Authority, and has secured the implementation of a subsequent programme of 
archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has first 
been agreed and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The agreed 

Page 146



programme of archaeological work shall be carried out by a competent person and 
completed in accordance with the approved written scheme of investigation. 
 
Reason: The site is within an area of potential archaeological interest and the Council will 
wish record and protect any archaeological remains. 
 
 8 The development shall not be brought into use or occupied until the applicant, or their 
agents or 
successors in title, has secured the implementation of a programme of post-excavation 
analysis in 
accordance with a publication plan which has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the 
Local Planning Authority. The programme of post-excavation analysis shall be carried out 
by a 
competent person(s) and completed in accordance with the approved publication plan, or 
as 
otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: The site may produce significant archaeological findings and the Council will wish 
to 
publish or otherwise disseminate the results. 
 
 9 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or 
without modification) no windows, roof lights or openings, other than those shown on the 
plans hereby approved, shall be formed on the dwellings shown on plots 1, 3, 4, 5, 6 and 
7 at any time unless a further planning permission has been granted.  
 
Reason: Given the proximity of the new dwellings to the existing dwellings the creation of 
additional windows, roof lights and/or openings could impact on the amenities of adjoining 
occupiers from overlooking and loss of privacy. 
 
10 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or 
without modification) no extension, external alteration or enlargement of the dwellings 
shown on plots 4, 5. 6 7 and 8 hereby approved shall be carried out unless a further 
planning permission has been granted by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: Due to the AONB location of this site and the relationship of the approved 
dwellings to adjacent existing dwellings any further extensions require detailed 
consideration by the Local Planning Authority to safeguard the amenities of the 
surrounding property and the visual amenity of the area. 
 
11 The proposed first floor windows in the west elevation of the proposed dwellings on 
plot 1 and the proposed first floor windows in the east elevation of the proposed dwellings 
on plot 3 shall be glazed with obscure glass prior to the first occupation of this dwelling 
and permanently retained as such.  
 
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjoining occupiers from overlooking and loss of 
privacy. 

Page 147



 
12 No part of the development shall be occupied or brought into use until a Scheme for 
the identification of landscaped and protected areas including the establishment of an 
exclusion zone around the sett(s) from which all building, engineering and other 
operations and personnel working on the site shall be excluded, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved Scheme or any amendment to the Scheme as approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To protect badgers and badger activity from any construction works within the 
site. 
 
13 No development shall be commenced until a hard and soft landscape scheme has 
been first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, such a 
scheme shall include details of all walls, fences, trees, hedgerows and other planting 
which are to be retained; details of all new walls, fences and other boundary treatment 
and finished ground levels; a planting specification to include numbers, density, size, 
species and positions of all new trees and shrubs; details of the surface treatment of the 
open parts of the site; and a programme of implementation.  
 
Reason: To ensure the provision of an appropriate landscape setting to the development. 
 
14 No site works or clearance shall be commenced until protective fences which conform 
to British Standard 5837:2005 have been erected around any existing trees and other 
existing or proposed landscape areas in positions which have previously been approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Until the development has been completed these 
fences shall not be removed and the protected areas are to be kept clear of any building, 
plant, material, debris and trenching, with the existing ground levels maintained, and there 
shall be no entry to those areas except for approved arboricultural or landscape works. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the areas to be landscaped and the existing trees and planting to 
be retained within the site. 
 
15 Prior to the commencement of development, a detailed drainage strategy must be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The drainage strategy should 
include the following items: 
 Agreement of points of connection and 'in principal' adoption of proposed surface 
water sewer with the Water Company (Wessex Water). This should be provided in writing. 
 Runoff volume estimates for the 1in100 year 6 hour event for both greenfield and post 
development conditions. The difference in these volumes to be held  in long term storage 
and released at a rate that is the greater of QBAR or 2l/s/ha. 
 Simulations demonstrating that there will be no flooding of any part of site for the 
critical 1in30 rainfall event. These simulations should be submitted as an electronic Micro 
Drainage file (.mdx file). 
Simulations demonstrating that there will be no flooding of any building or utility plant for 
the 1in100+climate change rainfall event. These simulations can be submitted as an 
electronic Micro Drainage file (.mdx file). 
 an indication of exceedance routes for any flood flows above the critical event 
 a detailed design drawing of the drainage network including flow control and 
attenuation structures 

Page 148



 a drawing showing the proposed outfall structure 
 details of the long-term ownership of the drainage system together with any long-term 
maintenance requirements.  
This strategy must indicate who will be responsible for the on-going maintenance of the 
permeable paving for the main access road. A maintenance regime for the permeable 
paving and any other important flow control (Hydrobrake chamber) or attenuation 
structures should be provided.  
 
Reason: The information does not provide adequate details in relation to the above 
matters and therefore these will require full consideration prior to the development 
commencing to ensure there will not be any drainage problems within the locality as a 
result of this proposal. 
 
 
16 Prior to the commencement of development, details of a Scheme to mitigate and 
compensate for impacts on badgers and on the badger sett at the site, and to prevent 
harm to badgers during works, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. This shall include: 
i. findings of the most recent update survey and assessment, carried out during the active 
season 
ii. provision of all necessary mitigation measures, to include, as applicable, mapped 
habitat areas, orchard planting and badger runs; provision of an artificial sett, if applicable; 
all measures to be in accordance with the recommendations of the approved ecological 
reports and findings of further survey. 
iii. All measures to be incorporated into the scheme and shown on all relevant plans and 
drawings including the layout plan and landscape design iv. Full method statement and 
proposed timing of works for sett closure as applicable and copy of licence application as 
applicable; 
v. full details of all necessary measures, exclusion zones and protective fencing as 
applicable to prevent harm to badgers during site clearance and construction 
vi. proposed long term management objectives, prescriptions and provision for all retained 
/ new mitigation features The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved Scheme or any amendment to the Scheme as approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
 
17 No new lighting shall be installed without full details to demonstrate that these corridors 
shall not be lit, and full details of proposed lighting design being first submitted and 
approved in writing by the LPA; details to include: 
i. a plan showing mapped proposed dark corridors, and mapped details to demonstrate 
predicted light levels of 0 lux within the dark corridors and 1 lux adjacent to the dark 
corridors 
ii. lamp specifications, positions, numbers and heights; 
iii. details of all measures that shall be used to limit use of lights when not required and to 
prevent light spill onto dark corridors, vegetation and adjacent land  
 
Reason: to avoid harm to bats and other wildlife 
 
 

Page 149



18 No development shall take place until full details of a Wildlife Protection, Management 
and Enhancement Scheme have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. These details shall include: 
(i) Final reptile mitigation strategy 
(ii) Full details of protection of retained habitats to include specifications and scale plans 
showing fenced exclusion zones 
(iii) Full details of all other wildlife mitigation and enhancement measures, with 
specifications, numbers and positions to be shown on plans and drawings as applicable 
for example on details of soft landscape design 
All works within the scheme shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details, 
unless otherwise approved in writing by the local planning authority. The works shall be 
carried out prior to the occupation of any part of the development. 
 
Reason: to avoid harm to wildlife and to mitigation for impacts on wildlife 
 
 
19 No development shall be commenced until a hard and soft landscape scheme has 
been first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, such a 
scheme shall include details of all walls, fences, trees, 
hedgerows and other planting which are to be retained; details of all new walls, fences 
and other boundary treatment and finished ground levels; a planting specification to 
include numbers, density, size, species and positions of all new trees and shrubs, to 
include mapped areas of, orchard planting, and habitat creation with exclusively native 
species planting, incorporating necessary mitigation for reptiles and badger, and details of 
long term conservation management prescriptions; details of the surface treatment of the 
open parts of the site; and a programme of implementation. 
 
Reason: To ensure the provision of an appropriate landscape setting and wildlife 
mitigation to the development. 
 
20 Prior to the commencement of the development, a construction management plan shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority which shall 
include a strategy for the means of removal of soil from the site and methods and timing of 
wheel washing and road cleaning as necessary during the duration of the construction 
period. 
The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved method 
statement/operational statement.  
 
Reason: To ensure the safe operation of the highway and in the interests of limiting the 
disturbance and inconvenience caused to adjacent residents during the construction 
period. 
 
 
21 The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with the plans 
and in particular the finished floor levels as indicated on the approved plans in relation to 
the existing ground levels shall be strictly adhered to. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the dwellings are constructed in accordance with the plans and 
with  slab levels that ensure that the development will not have a detrimental impact on 
the visual and residential amenity of the locality. 

Page 150



 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
CA/14048/P1                      Existing Site Layout 
CA/14048/P2A                   Proposed House Type A Plans and Elevations 
CA/14048/P3A                   Proposed House Type B and C Plans and Elevations 
CA/14048/P4A                   Proposed Details 
CA/14048/P5                      Site Location Plan 
CA/14048/P6C                   Site Layout (and sections xx and yy) 
CA/14048/P7                      Proposed House Type D Plans and Elevations (note: this one, 
dated March 15, is incorrectly labelled P6 on the actual drawing, but the plan title is 
correct and should be referred to as P7) 
 
14013/01                              Topographical Survey  
 
SP01A Swept Path Analysis for a large refuse vehicle 
 
 
The applicant is advised of the need to submit plans, sections and specifications of the 
proposed structural works for the steps to Middle Street for the approval of the Highway 
Authority. The applicant should be aware that this process can take in the region of 6 
weeks to conclude and will incur an additional fee. 
 
The applicant is advised of the need to consult the Area Highways Manager on 01225 
394337 before access works commence. 
 
The applicant is advised that the proposed estate roads, footways, footpaths, verges, 
street lighting, sewers, drains, retaining walls, service routes, surface water outfall, vehicle 
overhang margins, embankments, visibility splays, accesses, carriageway gradients, drive 
gradients, car parking and street furniture will be required for adoption under S38 
Highways Act. For this purpose, plans and sections, indicating as appropriate, the design, 
layout, levels, gradients, materials and method of construction shall be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority in writing for approval before their construction begins. Advance 
Payment Code will apply as appropriate 
 
 
The applicant is advised that Bath and North East Somerset Council will not adopt any 
drainage features. 
 
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. For the reasons 
given, and expanded upon in a related case officer's report, a positive view of the 
submitted proposals was taken and consent was granted. 
 
 
 

Item No:   06 

Application No: 16/05256/FUL 

Page 151



Site Location: Avalon House Fosseway Dunkerton Bath Bath And North East 
Somerset 

 
 

Ward: Bathavon West  Parish: Dunkerton & Tunley Parish Council 
 LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor David Veale  

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Erection of wall and feather edged panelling fence between pillars 
following removal of old fence (Retrospective) (Resubmission) 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Coal - Standing Advice 
Area, Contaminated Land, Forest of Avon, Greenbelt, SSSI - Impact 
Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Mr Nathan McKenna 

Expiry Date:  18th January 2017 

Case Officer: Robert Warren 

 
REPORT 
This application to the property Avalon House, the property is located within the green belt 
on the Fosseway at Dunkerton. This application is a resubmission of a previous 
application to seek retrospective planning permission for the erection of a part rendered 
blockwork wall and part wooden fence to the front of the property on the boundary with the 
main road. 
 
Relevant Planning History: 
 
11/01252/FUL - Erection of a first floor extension to existing garage, two storey rear 
extension, new garage to rear and conversion of existing garage to kitchen - Withdrawn - 
15/06/2011 
 
DC - 16/01674/FUL - PERMIT - 21 July 2016 - Erection of wall and feather edged 
panelling fence between pillars following removal of old fence (Retrospective). 

Page 152



 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Dunkerton & Tunley Parish Council: 
 
Support 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The Core Strategy now forms part of the statutory Development Plan 
and will be given full weight in the determination of planning applications. The Council's 
Development Plan now comprises: 
o Core Strategy 
o Saved Policies in the B&NES Local Plan (2007)* 
o Joint Waste Core Strategy 
 
The B&NES Local Plan policies that are replaced by policies in the Core Strategy are 
outlined in Appendix 1 of the Core Strategy. Those B&NES Local Plan policies that are not 
replaced and remain saved are listed in Appendix 2 of the Core Strategy 
 
Relevant Local Plan Policies: 
o D2 - General design and public realm considerations 
o D4 - Townscape considerations 
o T24 - General development control and access policy 
o T26 - Parking 
 
Relevant Core Strategy Policies: 
o CP6 - Environmental Quality 
 
The placemaking plan is at an advanced stage (albeit still at Examination) and policies not 
subject to representations at Draft Plan stage (or only subject of supporting 
representations) are considered to be capable of being given substantial weight. This also 
assumes that the Inspector will not raise further issues on any policies not subject to 
objections as the hearings are now closed. Policies still subject to outstanding/unresolved 
representations can only be given limited weight at this stage until the Inspector's Final 
Report is received. 
 
The following policies are given limited weight 
 
D.1 General urban design principles 
D.2 - Local character and distinctiveness 
D.6 - Amenity 
 
LEGAL FRAMEWORK 
Town and Country Planning Act, 1990 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK 
The NPPF has been considered in light of this application but does not raise any issues 
that conflict with the aforementioned local policies which remain extant. 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING PRACTICE GUIDANCE, 2014 

Page 153



Due consideration has been given to the recently published NPPG, March 2014 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
This application is a resubmission of a retrospective planning permission for a new 
rendered blockwork and panel wall to the front garden of Avalon House and a 1.8m 
wooden close boarded fence to the lower part of the front garden. The blockwork wall and 
wooden fence are split by an entrance gateway into the garden and run adjacent to the 
main road. Both wooden fence and blockwork wall sit at garden level which is 
approximately 1100mm above the pavement level. A 19th century stone retaining wall 
forms the boundary between the pavement and garden.  
 
The height of the wall and fence from the pavement level ranges from approximately 
2450mm closest to the house to 3300mm at the far end of the site. Whist the garden level 
of the property is above the street level the height of the fence and wall from pavement 
level averages around 3m and has an overbearing effect on the street scene. The 
rendered blockwork wall is not sympathetic to the 19th century house or stone boundary 
wall and the new boundary creates a large unobstructed elevation.  
 
In determining the previous application revised drawings were submitted which reduced 
the height of the wooden close boarded fence to the lower part of the front garden to 1m 
above garden height and reducing the blockwork wall next to the house to 1.35m and 
cladding it in wooden panelling to match the lower fence. 
 
The reduced level of the fencing had a lesser impact on the street scene and the use of 
the same material throughout gave a more uniform finish. The application was therefore 
granted permission on condition that the wall and fence were amended to be in 
accordance with the approved plans within 3 months. 
 
This resubmission seeks approval for the original proposals and therefore the original 
concerns remain. The height of the wall and fence at its highest point is 3300mm above 
the level of the pavement with an average height of 3m and has an overbearing effect on 
the street scene. The height of the fence is out of context with the character and 
appearance of the surrounding area.  
 
The use of rendered blockwork is not sympathetic to the 19th Century property or the 
existing boundary wall nor does it maintain the character and appearance of the local area 
which is predominantly characterised by low stone walls and hedges. 
 
The proposal by reason of its design, siting, scale, massing, layout and materials is not 
acceptable and neither contributes or responds to the local context and character and 
appearance of the surrounding area.  
 
On the basis of the above assessment it is recommended that this application is refused 
permission. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

REFUSE 
 
REASON(S) FOR REFUSAL 
 

Page 154



 1 The height and scale of the fence has an overbearing impact on the street scene and 
the materials are out of context with the character and appearance of the surrounding 
area. The proposed development is therefore considered to be contrary to saved policies 
D.2 and D4 of the Bath and North East Local Plan, 2007 and contrary to policies D.1, D.2 
and D.6 of the Draft Placemaking Plan, 2015. 
 
 2 The fence and wall by reason of its siting, scale and appearance does not respect or 
complement the existing dwelling to the detriment of visual amenity. The development is 
therefore contrary to saved policies D.2, D.4 of the Bath and North East Local Plan, 2007 
and contrary to Policies D.1 and D.2 of the Draft Placemaking Plan, 2015. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
This decision relates to drawings, Fence Elevations, Footpath/Road Level Elevations and 
Site Location Plan received on the 25th October 2016. 
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. Notwithstanding 
informal advice offered by the Local Planning Authority the submitted application was 
unacceptable for the stated reasons and the applicant was advised that the application 
was to be recommended for refusal. Despite this the applicant chose not to withdraw the 
application and having regard to the need to avoid unnecessary delay the Local Planning 
Authority moved forward and issued its decision. In considering whether to prepare a 
further application the applicant's attention is drawn to the original discussion/negotiation. 
 
 
 

Item No:   07 

Application No: 16/04535/FUL 

Site Location: 33 Parklands High Littleton Bristol Bath And North East Somerset 
BS39 6LB 

 
 

Page 155



Ward: High Littleton  Parish: High Littleton  LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor L J Kew  

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Erection of a dwelling following demolition of the outbuilding 

Constraints: Affordable Housing, Airport Safeguarding Zones, Agric Land Class 
1,2,3a, Coal - Standing Advice Area, Forest of Avon, Greenbelt, 
Housing Development Boundary, SSSI - Impact Risk Zones,  

Applicant:  Mr Tiley 

Expiry Date:  20th January 2017 

Case Officer: Samantha Mason 

 
REPORT 
Reasons for referring application to committee: 
 
The application is being referred to the committee as the parish council have objected to 
the application contrary to the case officer recommendation to permit the application. 
 
The application has been referred to the chair of the committee who has agreed that the 
application should be considered by the committee. 
 
Site Description and proposal: 
 
33 Parklands is a two storey semi-detached, 3 bed dwelling located on the northern edge 
of High Littleton. Parklands is a cul-de-sac with number 33 being located at the head. The 
site is within but forms the edge of High Littleton housing development boundary and is 
bound by development to either side of the property. The proposal site has fields to the 
rear and is adjacent to the Bath and Bristol Green Belt.  
 
Number 33 has garden land to the rear and eastern side of the property, a double garage 
is currently located to the side of the property. The application proposes to demolish the 
existing double garage and erect a 4 bed dwelling within the garden of number 33. A 
double garage will form part of the development; one garage will be for number 33 and 
one for the proposed dwelling, a further two parking spaces are proposed to the front of 
the proposed dwelling.   
 
Relevant Planning History: 
 
No relevant planning history.  
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Consultation Responses:  
 
High Littleton Parish Council:   OBJECT 
 
'Object in Principle to the above planning application due to overdevelopment.'  
 
Farmborough Parish Council: OBJECT 
 

Page 156



'1. The Parish Council considers the proposed building an over development of the site. 
2. It is not possible from the application to determine the exact size of the proposed 
building. 
3. The Parish Council considers the elevation of the proposed building and its outbuildings 
above the neighbouring property to provide an over bearing impact (Policy D2).' 
 
Highways: No Objection. The revised plan now shows both garages to be of dimensions 
3m by 6m, which would allow room for both parking a car and some domestic storage. 
There is also a parking space in front of each garage, and an additional space for the new 
dwelling on the shared driveway.  
 
The site is located at a turning head, and this would be used to facilitate turning 
movements out of the driveway.  
 
Having regard to the level of parking now proposed, I would have no objections subject to 
the following condition being attached to any permission granted:-  
 
The areas allocated for parking and turning on the submitted plan shall be kept clear of 
obstruction and shall not be used other than for the parking of vehicles in connection with 
the development hereby permitted. 
 
Reason: To ensure sufficient parking and turning areas are retained at all times in the 
interests of amenity and highways safety in accordance with Policy T.24 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
Bristol Water: No response  
 
Representations Received:   
 
Seven representations have been received from neighbours in objection to the 
development. A summary of the responses are as follows: 
- The proposal will result in overdevelopment of the site 
- The proposal will cause loss of light to neighbours at number 26 
- The location of the bin store is in close proximity to number 26 which is considered 
to effect their amenity.  
- The properties in the road have experienced drainage issues and therefore this 
development could cause further issues.  
- Local schools are full and a further family will not be able to get school places  
- The development will result in overlooking of neighbouring properties and the street 
- Parking is a problem along the street and the development will impact on highways 
safety, for example as children play in the road and emergency services will find it more 
difficult to access the street.  
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
The Core Strategy for Bath and North East Somerset was formally adopted by the Council 
on 10th July 2014. The Core Strategy now forms part of the statutory Development Plan 
and will be given full weight in the determination of planning applications. The Council's 
Development Plan now comprises: 
 
- Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy (July 2014) 

Page 157



- Saved policies from the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan (2007) 
- West of England Joint Waste Core Strategy (2011) 
 
Core Strategy: 
 
The B&NES Local Plan policies that are replaced by policies in the Core Strategy are 
outlined in Appendix 1 of the Core Strategy. Those B&NES Local Plan policies that are not 
replaced and remain saved are listed in Appendix 2 of the Core Strategy 
 
The following policies of the Core Strategy are relevant to the determination of this 
application: 
 
SD1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
DW1: District Wide Spatial Strategy 
CP6: Environmental quality  
CP8: Green Belt 
CP10: Housing Mix 
 
Local Plan:  
 
The following saved policies of the Bath and North East Local Plan, including minerals and 
waste policies, adopted October 2007 are also relevant to the determination of this 
application. 
 
D.2: General design and public realm considerations 
D.4: Townscape considerations 
SC.1: Settlement Classification  
HG.6: Residential development in the R.3 settlements  
GB.2: Visual amenities of the Green Belt  
T.24: General development and control and access policy  
T.26: On-site parking and servicing provision  
 
Placemaking Plan: 
 
The draft Placemaking Plan was submitted to the Planning Inspectorate on 12th April 
2016 for independent examination. Those policies not subject to representations at Draft 
Plan stage (or only subject of supporting representations) are considered to be capable of 
being given substantial weight. Policies still subject to outstanding/unresolved 
representations can only be given limited weight at this stage until the Inspector's Final 
Report is received. 
 
The following policies are relevant for this application and have limited weight: 
 
D1: General Urban Design Principles 
D2: Local Character and Distinctiveness 
D3: Urban Fabric 
D5: Building design 
D6: Amenity 
D.7 Infill and Backland Development  
ST.1: Promoting Sustainable Travel  

Page 158



 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in March 2012 and is a 
material consideration. Due consideration has been given to the provisions of the National 
Planning 
Practice Guidance (NPPG). 
 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
This application is seeking permission for the erection of a dwelling in the garden of 
number 33 following the demolition of an existing outbuilding.  
 
33 Parklands is a two storey, semidetached, 3 bedroom dwelling, constructed around the 
1970's.  
 
The property is located at the end of a cul-de-sac. The housing estate consists of mainly 3 
or 4 bed semi-detached and detached housing, together with a recent development of 
bungalows to the east of the site.  
 
Principle of Development: 
 
Core Strategy Policy RA1 explains that residential development with RA1 villages can be 
acceptable if it is within the housing development boundary and is of an appropriate scale 
and character and appearance.  
 
High Littleton is defined as an RA1 village. The site is located within the housing 
development boundary of High Littleton and as such residential development is 
considered to be acceptable in principle, subject to other material considerations. In this 
case the main considerations now are the character and appearance of the development, 
the impact on residential amenity and highways safety.  
 
Character and Appearance: 
 
Saved Local Plan policy D.4 states that, development will only be permitted where it 
responds to the local context in terms of appearance, materials, siting, spacing and layout.  
 
Parklands is a residential cul-de-sac defined by semi-detached 1970's buildings, a newer 
development of bungalows has more recently been constructed off of the turning circle of 
the cul-de-sac. Properties on the western side of the street are set at a slightly higher level 
than the properties on the eastern side due to the topography and the bungalows are set 
down slightly further again.  
 
Number 33 Parklands is set at the head of the turning circle of the cul-de-sac and the 
proposal will be built in place of the current detached garages to the east of number 33. 
Although the site will also be adjacent to the bungalow at number 26, due to the set down 
nature of this property and the other bungalows the proposal will have a greater 
relationship with the semi-detached dwellings and therefore has been designed to reflect 
this.  
 
Number 33 is set in one of the most spacious plots on the street with the detached 
garages and large portion of the garden being set to the side of the property. It is 

Page 159



considered that the division of this plot into two will be in keeping with the plot sizes of the 
majority of the semi-detached properties in the street. It is therefore not considered to 
constitute overdevelopment of the site.  
 
Furthermore the original pattern of properties and detached garages has been interrupted, 
with some properties being extended to the side or garages being removed. As well as 
this some of the semi-detached properties have been altered with front porches and 
extensions so that there is no longer an identical street frontage along Parklands.  
 
The proposal has been designed with the local vernacular in mind as well as residential 
amenity, therefore the front door is on the side of the property with the main windows 
being located on the front and rear elevation. As the street frontage is no longer entirely 
consistent it is not considered that the appearance of the front elevation of the property 
will significantly harm the character of the street.  
 
After discussions with the agent the use of materials has been altered to properly reflect 
that of the street scene in order to allow for successful integration of the proposed 
dwelling. Therefore stone is now proposed to the front and side elevations with rendered 
panelling to the lower front elevation, this is consistent with the street scene. Stone is used 
for the lower half of the rear elevation and render to the top half; this is considered 
acceptable and will not be visible from the street scene. Roof materials will match those at 
number 33.  
 
The proposal has been stepped back slightly from the front elevation of number 33, and is 
slightly forward of the front elevation of number 26, this is consider to give some visual 
relief and it is also noted that the existing building line of the street does vary. The siting of 
the proposal allows for a good amount of amenity space around the plot and maintains an 
acceptable separation distance from the bungalow at number 26.  
 
The new garages proposed for number 33 and for the new dwelling will be attached and 
have been designed to match that of the existing double garages on the plot in terms of 
size and roof pitch; proposed materials are again stone and tiles to match the existing.   
 
Although due to the topography the proposed dwelling will sit slightly lower than number 
33 the proposal is of a similar height to number 33 at around 8m, albeit it will be slightly 
larger in width and length, however it is considered to fit on the plot comfortably and the 
size is therefore acceptable.  
 
Overall therefore, due to the appropriate siting, scale and design of the proposed 
development and the existing situation, the development is not considered to result in any 
harm to the character and appearance of the locality in line with Saved Policy D.4. It is 
also considered that the proposal satisfies the policies of the draft Placemaking Plan that 
seek to protect the character of the area.  
 
Residential Amenity: 
 
Saved Local Plan policy D.2 states that development should not cause significant harm to 
the amenities of existing or proposed occupiers, by reason of loss of light, or increased 
overlooking, noise, smell, traffic or other disturbance. This is also reflected in Policy D.6 of 
the Placemaking Plan.  

Page 160



 
The proposal is situated between 33 Parklands and 26 Parklands at the head of the 
turning circle, the front of the property will look out to the road and slightly towards number 
24 due to the angle of the street and the rear of the property looks out across fields. 
Therefore these three properties are considered to be the main properties that could 
potentially be affected by the proposal. 
 
Two garages are proposed, one for number 33 and one for the new dwelling, the garages 
provided some distance between number 33 and the proposed property and therefore it is 
not considered that the proposal will have an overbearing or overshadowing impact on 
number 33 and a level of parking is retained for both properties, again limiting any effect 
on residential amenity. One side window is proposed that will face towards number 33, 
however this will provided limited opportunities for overlooking, and as there are no side 
windows at number 33 will not look into the property.  
 
The proposed dwelling has been set away from neighbours at the bungalow, number 26. 
A gap of 4m is maintained between the front elevation of the proposed dwelling and the 
bungalow and these increases to a gap of approximately 8m between the rear elevation of 
the proposed and number 26. The proposal does not extend beyond the rear elevation of 
number 26. Therefore it is not considered that there will be a significant level of 
overshadowing due to the separation gap.  
 
Any additional overshadowing that may occur will fall across the existing property which 
already experiences some overshadowing on the western side as it is set down into the 
land and has a high hedge to the side, the closest element of number 26 to the proposed 
property being the garage.  
This, along with the sloping roof side facing number 26 instead of the gable end, will mean 
there is not an overbearing effect on number 26.  
 
Again one small side window is proposed in the side elevation facing towards number 26 
which is not considered to present an opportunity for significant increased overlooking.  
 
The proposed property will look towards the road and is angled slightly towards number 
24, it is accepted that a level of overlooking already exists in residential areas and can be 
expected at the front of properties and this will not be increased significantly by the 
proposal.  
 
Overall the proposal is not considered to have a detrimental impact on the amenity of the 
adjoining occupiers in terms of loss of privacy, a significant sense of enclosure or 
overshadowing of neighbouring properties that would warrant refusal. The proposal 
therefore satisfies saved policy D.4 of the Local Plan and Policy D.6 of the draft 
Placemaking Plan. 
 
Highways and Parking: 
 
The Highways Development Control Officer was consulted in October 2016 and requested 
further information on dimensions of the garages and level or parking to be provided. 
Following these comments the agent submitted revised plans and the Highways team 
were consulted.  
 

Page 161



The revised plan now shows both garages to be of dimensions 3m by 6m, which would 
allow room for both parking a car and some domestic storage. There is also a parking 
space in front of each garage, and an additional space for the new dwelling on the shared 
driveway.  
 
The site is located at a turning head, and this would be used to facilitate turning 
movements out of the driveway.  
 
Having regard to the level of parking now proposed, Highways DC would have no 
objections subject to a condition being attached to any permission granted that would see 
the parking and turning area being kept clear of obstruction and that it is only used for the 
parking of vehicles in connection with the development.  
 
Drainage: 
 
One objection was received stating that the street had previously experience drainage 
issues. However the site is not located within a critical drainage area and there is no 
reasons to believe that an additional dwelling will not be able to be accommodated in 
terms of drainage. Furthermore no objections have been received from Bristol Waters or 
Wessex Waters. Appropriate conditions will be attached to a decision that will ensure 
adequate drainage is achieved.  
 
Conclusion:  
 
The proposals accord with the above listed relevant policies of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Core Strategy, the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan and the emerging 
Bath and North East Somerset Placemaking Plan and it is therefore recommended that 
permission be granted.  
 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

PERMIT 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 1 Standard Time Limit (Compliance) 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) and to avoid the accumulation of unimplemented planning permission 
 
 2 Materials - Submission of Schedule and Samples (Bespoke Trigger) 
No construction of the external walls of the development shall commence until a schedule 
of materials and finishes, and samples of the materials to be used in the construction of 
the external surfaces, including roofs, have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried out only in 
accordance with the approved details. 
 

Page 162



Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area 
in accordance with Policies D.2 and D.4 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan 
and Policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy. 
 
 3 Ridge Height (Compliance) 
The ridge line of the dwelling shall be a minimum of 1m below the ridge height of number 
33 Parklands.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area, 
and the residential amenity of neighbours in accordance with Policies D.2 and D.4 of the 
Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan and Policy CP6 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Core Strategy 
 
 4 Parking (Compliance) 
The areas allocated for parking and turning on the submitted plan shall be kept clear of 
obstruction and shall not be used other than for the parking of vehicles in connection with 
the development hereby permitted. 
 
Reason: To ensure sufficient parking and turning areas are retained at all times in the 
interests of amenity and highways safety in accordance with Policy T.24 of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
 5 Garages (Compliance) 
The garage hereby approved shall be retained for the garaging of private motor vehicles 
associated with the dwelling and ancillary domestic storage and for no other purpose. 
 
Reason: To ensure adequate off-street parking provision is retained in accordance with 
Policy T.26 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
 6 Removal of Permitted Development Rights - No Windows (Compliance) 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or 
without modification) no windows, roof lights or openings, other than those shown on the 
plans hereby approved, shall be installed at the dwelling hereby permitted at any time 
unless a further planning permission has been granted. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjoining occupiers from overlooking and loss of 
privacy in accordance with Policy D.2 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan. 
 
 7 Removal of Permitted Development Rights - No roof extensions/enlargements 
(Compliance) 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or 
without modification) no extension, external alteration or enlargement of any part of any 
roof of the dwelling(s) or other buildings hereby approved shall be carried out unless a 
further planning permission has been granted by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area 
in accordance with Policies D.2 and D.4 of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan 
and Policy CP6 of the Bath and North East Somerset Core Strategy. 

Page 163



 
 8 Plans List (Compliance) 
The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 This decision relates to the following plans:  
 
14 Sep 2016  Site Location Plan  
18 Nov 2016  001 A Proposed Dwelling  
 
 Condition Categories 
The heading of each condition gives an indication of the type of condition and what is 
required by it. There are 4 broad categories: 
 
Compliance - The condition specifies matters to which you must comply. These conditions 
do not require the submission of additional details and do not need to be discharged. 
 
Pre-commencement - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before any work begins on the approved development. 
The condition will list any specific works which are exempted from this restriction, e.g. 
ground investigations, remediation works, etc. 
 
Pre-occupation - The condition requires the submission and approval of further 
information, drawings or details before occupation of all or part of the approved 
development.  
 
Bespoke Trigger - The condition contains a bespoke trigger which requires the submission 
and approval of further information, drawings or details before a specific action occurs.  
 
Please note all conditions should be read fully as these headings are intended as a guide 
only. 
 
Where approval of further information is required you will need to submit a conditions 
application and pay the relevant fee, details of the fee can be found on the "what happens 
after permission" pages of the Council's Website.  You can submit your conditions 
application via the Planning Portal at www.planningportal.co.uk or send it direct to 
planning_registration@bathnes.gov.uk.  Alternatively this can be sent by post to The 
Planning Registration Team, Planning Services, Lewis House, Manvers Street, Bath, BA1 
1JG. 
 
 
 

Page 164



 

 

 
 

APPEALS LODGED 
 
App. Ref:  16/01813/FUL 
Location:  Mandalay Cottage Timsbury Road Farmborough Bath  
Proposal:  Conversion of outbuilding to single residential unit 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 29 June 2016 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 23 November 2016 

 
App. Ref:  16/02246/FUL 
Location: Site Of Demolished Canal Cottages Tow Path Kennet And Avon 

Canal Bathwick Bath  
Proposal: Erection of 1 no, detached dwelling with associated works. 

(Resubmission of 14/05823/FUL) 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 21 July 2016 
Decision Level: Chair Referral - Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 23 November 2016 

 
App. Ref:  16/03742/FUL 
Location:  12 Corfe Crescent Keynsham Bristol BS31 1AQ 
Proposal:  Erection of a two storey dwelling in the garden of 12 Corfe crescent 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 19 September 2016 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 29 November 2016 
 

Bath & North East Somerset Council 

MEETING: Development Control Committee  

AGENDA 
ITEM 
NUMBER 

MEETING 
DATE: 

 

RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER: 

Mark Reynolds, Group Manager, Development 
Management (Telephone: 01225 477079) 

 

TITLE: NEW PLANNING APPEALS, DECISIONS RECEIVED AND DATES OF 
FORTHCOMING HEARINGS/INQUIRIES    

WARD: ALL 

BACKGROUND PAPERS: None 

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

 

Page 165

Agenda Item 11



 

 

App. Ref:  16/02658/REM 
Location: Rockery Tea Gardens Vacant Premises North Road Combe Down 

Bath  
Proposal: Removal of condition 11 on application 13/01733/FUL, allowed on 

appeal 15th May 2015,(Erection of a detached single storey 
dwelling (revised proposal). 

Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 21 October 2016 
Decision Level: Planning Committee 
Appeal Lodged: 13 December 2016 

 
 

APPEALS DECIDED 
 
App. Ref:  16/01001/AGRA 
Location:  The Nursery Folly Lane Stowey Bristol BS39 4DW 
Proposal: Erection of agricultural building (following application 

16/00086/AGRN) 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 3 March 2016 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 12 September 2016 
 
Appeal Decision: Dismissed 25.11.2016 
 
Click here to view the Appeal Decision. 
________________________________________ 
 
App. Ref:  14/01379/FUL 
Location: Rough Ground And Buildings Queen Charlton Lane Queen 

Charlton Bristol  
Proposal: Change of use of land to private gypsy and traveller caravan site 

(Retrospective) (Resubmission of  13/02781/FUL) 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 3 September 2015 
Decision Level: Planning Committee 
Appeal Lodged: 7 March 2016 
 
Appeal Decision: Allowed 05.12.2016 
 
Click here to view the Appeal Decision. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 166

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/WAM/doc/Appeal%20Decision-1122034.pdf?extension=.pdf&id=1122034&location=VOLUME3&contentType=application/pdf&pageCount=1&appid=1001
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/WAM/doc/Appeal%20Decision-1125628.pdf?extension=.pdf&id=1125628&location=VOLUME3&contentType=application/pdf&pageCount=1&appid=1001


 

 

App. Ref:  16/01226/FUL 
Location:  Tonedale 1 Meadow View Radstock BA3 3QT 
Proposal:  Erection of 1no. two storey detached dwelling 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 6 June 2016 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 22 September 2016 
 
Appeal Decision: Dismissed 08.12.2016 
 
Click here to view the Appeal Decision. 
 
________________________________________ 
 
 
App. Ref:  16/03269/AR 
Location:  Lavazza 11 Southgate Place Bath BA1 1AP  
Proposal: Display of 1.no internally illuminated fascia sign and 1.no externally 

illuminated projection sign. 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 1 September 2016 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 11 November 2016 
 
Appeal Decision: Dismissed 08.12.2016 
 
Click here to view the Appeal Decision. 
 
________________________________________ 
 
App. Ref:  16/03287/FUL 
Location:  14 Gladstone Road Combe Down BA2 5HJ 
Proposal: Provision of timber cladding and render to dwelling to replace 

existing original exterior 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 30 August 2016 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 11 November 2016 
 
Appeal Decision: Split decision 08.12.2016 
 
Click here to view the Appeal Decision. 
 
________________________________________ 
 
 

Page 167

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/WAM/doc/Appeal%20Decision-1126838.pdf?extension=.pdf&id=1126838&location=VOLUME3&contentType=application/pdf&pageCount=1&appid=1001
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/WAM/doc/Appeal%20Decision-1127392.pdf?extension=.pdf&id=1127392&location=VOLUME3&contentType=application/pdf&pageCount=1&appid=1001
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/WAM/doc/Appeal%20Decision-1127284.pdf?extension=.pdf&id=1127284&location=VOLUME3&contentType=application/pdf&pageCount=1&appid=1001


 

 

App. Ref:  16/03301/FUL 
Location:  57 Stirtingale Road Southdown Bath BA2 2NG 
Proposal: Excavation into the front garden and construction of a retaining wall 

to create three parking spaces. 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 26 August 2016 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 11 November 2016 
 
Appeal Decision: Dismissed 08.12.2016 
 
Click here to view the Appeal Decision. 
 
________________________________________ 
 
App. Ref:  15/05125/FUL 
Location: Englishcombe House Residential Home  33 Englishcombe Lane 

Southdown Bath BA2 2EE 
Proposal:  Change of use from C2 to Sui-Generis (Large HMO). 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 19 January 2016 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 19 September 2016 
 
Appeal Decision: Dismissed 09.12.2016 
 
Click here to view the Appeal Decision. 
 
________________________________________ 
 
App. Ref:  16/01525/FUL 
Location:  53 Hansford Square Combe Down Bath Somerset BA2 5LJ 
Proposal: Erection of 1 no. detached dwelling and proposed access from 

Hansford Square 
Decision:  REFUSE 
Decision Date: 3 June 2016 
Decision Level: Delegated 
Appeal Lodged: 7 September 2016 
 
Appeal Decision: Dismissed 09.12.2016 
 
Click here to view the Appeal Decision. 
 
________________________________________ 

Page 168

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/WAM/doc/Appeal%20Decision-1127333.pdf?extension=.pdf&id=1127333&location=VOLUME3&contentType=application/pdf&pageCount=1&appid=1001
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/WAM/doc/Appeal%20Decision-1127773.pdf?extension=.pdf&id=1127773&location=VOLUME3&contentType=application/pdf&pageCount=1&appid=1001
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/WAM/doc/Appeal%20Decision-1127459.pdf?extension=.pdf&id=1127459&location=VOLUME3&contentType=application/pdf&pageCount=1&appid=1001

	Agenda
	8 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	Update Report
	List of Speakers
	Main Agenda Decisions 14 December 2016 - Appendix 3

	9 Site Visit List - Applications for Planning Permission Etc for Determination by the Committee
	10 Main Plans List - Applications for Planning Permission Etc for Determination by the Committee
	11 New Planning Appeals Lodged, Decisions Received and Dates of Forthcoming Hearings/Inquiries

